Treatment of Antiviral Drugs in Wastewater Using Advanced Oxidation Processes – Ozonation of Oseltamivir Phosphate

By Shawn Jansen van Beek

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in

Environmental Science

Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering

University of Alberta

© Shawn Jansen van Beek, 2021

Abstract

While wastewater treatment facilities are designed to remove contaminants from water before it returns to the environment, unfortunately, not all of these facilities are effective in the removal of micropollutants (MPs). Antiviral drugs are a class of MPs that have become an area of concern due to their increased use and potential for negative impacts on the environment. An extensive literature review was undertaken to analyze the treatment methods, detection methods, and environmental fate of antiviral drugs to provide information on areas requiring further research. Treatment processes such as filtration, sedimentation, aerobic biological treatment, and anaerobic biological treatment were found to be generally unsuccessful for the removal of antiviral drugs. Advanced oxidation processes (AOPs) such as ozonation, UV/persulfate, and electro-oxidation processes showed significantly more promising results in the removal of antiviral drugs in water. However, there is a lack of some crucial information on AOPs treatment of antiviral drugs which including the disinfection byproducts (DBPs) that are produced which have the potential to possess toxic qualities as well. The environmental fate of antiviral drugs and their DBPs is under-researched with little information known on their properties such as adsorption, infiltration, or solubility, leaving a potential for accumulation that is not well understood. The effects of antiviral drugs on a variety of species is also unknown, with very few studies examining even the most directly affected aquatic wildlife.

Bench-scale studies examined the treatment of oseltamivir phosphate (OSP) using ozone (O₃) as the oxidant. Batch experiments were done to determine the first and second-order rate constants of the reaction between O₃ and OSP and ozone was found to be effective for the removal of OSP in buffered water (H₂O) with >99% removal of OSP. The impact of pH and various ionic species commonly found in wastewater were examined for effects on the rate of

degradation, both of which resulted in either minor or no change to the reaction rate. The ozonation of OSP in secondary effluent (SE) was required to prove effectiveness of the ozonation in real-life matrices and was able to remove >99% of the oseltamivir within 30 seconds with a 10:1 molar ratio of O_3 to OSP. Thirteen DBPs resulting from the ozonation of OSP were monitored with respect to time and structures were predicted, these were characterized into categories of increasing concentration with respect to ozone exposure, decreasing concentration, and unchanging concentration. Finally, the acute toxicity towards *V. fischeri* and the genotoxicity of both treated and untreated OSP samples were monitored; these tests showed that both ozonated and non-ozonated OSP samples in buffered and real wastewater matrices did not result in an increase in toxicity. This study overall suggests that ozonation has the potential to be a significant improvement for the treatment of OSP in sewage treatment plants.

Preface

The research described in this thesis is an original work by Shawn Jansen van Beek. The thesis was written and performed under the supervision of Dr. Mohamed Gamal El-Din in the Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering at the University of Alberta. The thesis is designed as a paper-format with the chapters 2 & 3 representing stand-alone papers that have been or will be submitted for publication. I conducted the experimental work and prepared the manuscript with the help of research assistants and post-doctoral fellows in our research group.

Dedication

To those who showed me the value of our world

To those who emphasized its frailty

To those who taught me to do my part

And those who will live here after me

Acknowledgements

All of the work presented in this thesis was done under the supervision of Dr. Mohamed Gamal El-Din to whom I am forever grateful. I would like to emphasize his guidance, willingness to pass on knowledge, and ability to improve others by constantly challenging and motivating me. I am also immensely grateful to Dr. Pamela Chelme-Ayala who was always there for me to discuss findings, question my assumptions, and plan my work during a time of much uncertainty. I would like to sincerely thank Dr. Zuo Tong How and Dr. Pamela Chelme-Ayala for lending me their insight in both assisting me with data analysis as well as reviewing and commenting on multiple edits of this thesis and the multitude of presentations throughout my research. I would also like to thank Miss Jia Li, Dr. Lingling Yang, and Dr. Mirna Alameddine for their contributions to the toxicity analysis and guidance on working with ozone. I would also like to acknowledge the financial support received from the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC) Collaborative Research and Development (CRD) Program and EPCOR Water Services.

I would also like to take that time to acknowledge those who gave me strength from outside the university setting. I would like to thank my family for simultaneously motivating me while keeping me grounded to the world outside of research. I want to acknowledge my friends who provided me with a setting to talk about my work and guide me through periods of doubt in a time where gatherings were incredibly difficult. And I would like to thank my partner for giving me strength in my lowest times, listening to my rambling, and pushing me to complete one of the most challenging tasks life has thrown my way. I sincerely thank and acknowledge that all of this work couldn't have happened without all of their loving support.

Table of Contents

| Chapter 1: Introduction and Research Objectives | 1 |
|---|----|
| 1.1 Background | 1 |
| 1.2 Research Scope and Hypothesis | 3 |
| 1.3 Research Objectives | 4 |
| 1.4 Thesis Outline | 4 |
| References | 5 |
| Chapter 2: Literature Review | 8 |
| 2.1 Abstract | 8 |
| 2.2 Introduction | 9 |
| 2.3 Types of Antiviral Drugs and Associated Health Risks1 | .4 |
| 2.3 Analytical Methods for Antiviral Drug Determination and Quantification1 | .9 |
| 2.4 Wastewater Treatment of Antiviral Drugs 2 | 2 |
| 2.4.1 Full-Scale Wastewater Treatment Plant2 | 23 |
| 2.4.2 Biological Treatment | 3 |
| 2.4.3 Advanced Oxidation Processes | 6 |
| 2.5 Environmental Fate of Antiviral Drugs 4 | 1 |
| 2.6 Environmental Toxicological Effects of Antivirals4 | 5 |
| 2.7 Future Research Directions | 7 |
| 2.8 Conclusion | 0 |
| References | 0 |
| Chapter 3: Removal of the Antiviral Drug Oseltamivir by Ozonation and Analysis of | |
| Contributing Factors | 2 |
| 3.1 Introduction | 52 |
| 3.2 Materials & Methods | 64 |
| 3.2.1 Chemicals and Reagents | 64 |
| 3.2.2 Experimental Setup | 5 |
| 3.2.2.1 Photodegradation Experiments6 | 55 |

| 3.2.2.2 Ozonation Experiments | 66 |
|---|-----|
| 3.2.2.3 Toxicity Experiments | 67 |
| 3.2.3 Analytical Method | 69 |
| 3.3 Results & Discussion | 69 |
| 3.3.1 Photodegradation | 69 |
| 3.3.2 Ozone Kinetics | 71 |
| 3.3.2.1 Overall Rate Constant Determination | 71 |
| 3.3.2.2 Effect of pH on Oseltamivir Degradation | 74 |
| 3.3.2.3 Matrix Effects on Oseltamivir Degradation | 75 |
| 3.3.2.4 Oseltamivir Degradation in Wastewater | 77 |
| 3.3.2.5 Molecular Ozone and Hydroxyl Radical Kinetics | 79 |
| 3.3.3 Byproducts of Oseltamivir Degradation | 81 |
| 3.3.4 Toxicity Analysis | 85 |
| 3.3.4.1 Acute Toxicity Analysis via Bioluminescence Inhibition Test (V. fischeri) | 85 |
| 3.3.4.2 Genotoxicity in Escherichia Coli (Mutagenicity) | 88 |
| 3.4 Conclusion | 89 |
| References | 89 |
| Chapter 4: Conclusions and Recommendations | |
| 4.1 Thesis Overview | 95 |
| 4.2 Conclusions | |
| 4.3 Recommendations | 97 |
| Bibliography | 100 |
| Appendix | 116 |
| Supplementary Figures | 116 |

List of Tables

| Table 2. 1 Antiviral Drugs and Their Chemical Properties (*Data obtained from literature, | |
|--|------|
| National Library of Medicine, https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/) | . 11 |
| Table 2. 2 Analytical Methods and Limits of Detection or Quantification for Analytical Drugs | s. |
| | . 21 |
| Table 2. 3 Treatment Processes for Antivirals and Relevant Findings. | . 29 |
| Table 2. 4 Concentrations of Antiviral Drugs Found in Natural Water Systems | . 42 |

Table of Figures

| Figure 2.1 Graphical abstract | 9 |
|---|-----|
| Figure 2. 2 Removal Efficiencies of Antiviral Drugs via Conventional Treatment with Stand | ard |
| Deviations | 24 |
| Figure 2. 3 Pathway of Antivirals into Aquatic Environment from Varying Sources | 42 |

Figure 3. 1 Pseudo-first order photodegradation of OSP via collimated medium pressure radiation as a function of UV fluence (Source: 100W medium pressure columnated UV lamp, pH = 7.50, Irradiance = 3.41 mW cm^{-2} , OSP concentration = $4.1 \text{ mg } \text{L}^{-1}$, PO₄ buffer concentration = Figure 3. 2 Degradation of OSP via O_3 batch treatment at varying O_3 :OSP ratios (OSP = 1.0 μ M, O₃ = 1.0 - 20.0 μ M, PO₄ buffer = 0.1 mM, Na₂S₂O₃ = 0.015 - 0.30 mM, pH = 6.9 - 7.1, Figure 3. 3 Ct method of second-order rate constant determination for [A] 10:1 O₃:OSP molar ratio and [B] 5:1 O₃:OSP molar ratio ([A] OSP = 1.0μ M, O₃ = 10.0μ M, PO₄ buffer = 0.1μ M, $Na_2S_2O_3 = 0.15 \text{ mM}, \text{pH} = 7.1, \text{Temp.} = 21.1 - 21.4^{\circ}\text{C}; \text{[B] OSP} = 1.0 \mu\text{M}, \text{O}_3 = 5.0 \mu\text{M}, \text{PO}_4$ Figure 3. 4 Effect of pH on the pseudo-first order degradation of OSP via O₃ batch treatment $(OSP = 1.0 \ \mu M, O_3 = 10.0 \ \mu M, PO_4 \ buffer = 0.1 \ mM, Na_2S_2O_3 = 0.15 \ mM, Temp. = 21.8 - 1.0 \ \mu M, O_4 = 10.0 \ \mu M, O_4 =$ Figure 3. 5 Matrix effects of various anions and cations via ionic salts on the pseudo-first order degradation of OSP via O_3 batch treatment ([NaCl] = 7.05 mM, [KCl] = 7.05 mM, [CaCl₂] = $3.53 \text{ mM}, [MgCl_2] = 3.53 \text{ mM}, [NH_4Cl] = 7.05 \text{ mM}, [NaNO_3] = 36.0 \mu M, [NaBr] = 25.0 \mu M,$ $[Na_2SO_4] = 1.04 \text{ mM}, [O_3] = 10 \mu \text{M}$, reaction time = 30 s, Temp. = 21.7 - 22.4 °C, pH = $6.9 - 10 \mu \text{M}$ Figure 3. 6 Ozonation of OSP in secondary effluent showing changing concentrations of OSP, O_3 , and DOC over time (OSP = 1.0 μ M, $O_3 = 0.0 - 5.0 \mu$ M, PO_4 buffer = 0.1 mM, $Na_2S_2O_3 =$ Figure 3. 7 Pseudo-first order rate constant values for OSP degradation with and without TBA scavenger at pH 7.0, 8.5 and 10.0 (OSP = $1.0 \ \mu M$, $O_3 = 10.0 \ \mu M$, PO_4 buffer = $0.1 \ mM$, $Na_2S_2O_3$

| Figure 3.8 Changing byproducts concentrations from ozonation of OSP with ozone exposure |
|--|
| times ranging from $0 - 30$ seconds. (OSP = 1.0 μ M, O ₃ = 10.0 μ M, PO ₄ buffer = 0.1 mM, |
| $Na_2S_2O_3 = 0.15 \text{ mM}$) |
| Figure 3.9 Mass spectrum of ozonated OSP solution outlining byproducts of ozonation with |
| structures and formulas of byproducts. Byproducts with structures and formulas not reported are |
| m/z 349, m/z 367, m/z 309, and m/z 245 |
| Figure 3. 10 Proposed pathway for the degradation of oseltamivir and production of degradation |
| products via ozonation |
| Figure 3. 11 Percent inhibition of acute toxicity samples A) Pure ODFW, B) Buffered ODFW |
| with sodium thiosulfate, C) OSP control, D) ozonated OSP sample, E) Secondary effluent, F) |
| Ozonated secondary effluent, G) OSP spiked ozonated secondary effluent (negative effect |
| indicates no acute toxicity) |
| Figure 3. 12 Induction factors of genotoxicity samples A) Pure ODFW, B) Buffered ODFW |
| with sodium thiosulfate, C) OSP control, D) ozonated OSP sample, E) Secondary effluent, F) |
| Ozonated secondary effluent, G) OSP spiked ozonated secondary effluent |

Abbreviations

| ACV | Acyclovir |
|-------|--|
| AOP | Advanced oxidation processes |
| COD | Chemical oxygen demand |
| COFA | $N\mbox{-}(4\mbox{-}carbamoyl\mbox{-}2\mbox{-}imino\mbox{-}5\mbox{-}oxoimidazolidin)\mbox{-}formamido\mbox{-}N\mbox{-}methoxyacetic$ |
| | acid |
| DNA | Deoxyribonucleic acid |
| DOC | Dissolved organic carbon |
| DBP | Disinfection byproduct |
| EDC | Endocrine disruptor compound |
| ESI | Electrospray ionization |
| FVP | Favipiravir |
| G | Growth factor |
| HBV | Hepatitis B virus |
| HCQ | Hydroxychloroquine |
| HESI | Heated electrospray ionization |
| HIV | Human immunodeficiency virus |
| HPLC | High performance liquid chromatography |
| HRMS | High-resolution mass spectrometry |
| HRT | Hydraulic retention time |
| IBF | Ibuprofen |
| IF | Induction factor |
| LC | Liquid chromatography |
| LOQ | Limit of quantification |
| MAD | Mesophilic anaerobic digestion |
| MFC | Microbial fuel cell |
| MP | Micropollutant |
| MS | Mass spectrometry |
| NNRTI | Non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor |
| NPX | Naproxen |

| OC | Oseltamivir carboxylate |
|---------|--|
| OD | Optical density |
| ODFW | Ozone demand-free water |
| OSP | Oseltamivir phosphate |
| PAC | Powdered activated carbon |
| РСР | Personal care product |
| RNA | Ribonucleic acid |
| SAF-MBR | Staged anaerobic fluidized membrane bioreactor |
| SE | Secondary effluent |
| SPE | Solid phase extraction |
| SPME | Solid phase microextraction |
| SRT | Solid retention time |
| TAD | Thermophilic anaerobic digestion |
| TBA | Tert-butyl alcohol |
| TCS | Triclosan |
| TDS | Total dissolved solids |
| TOC | Total organic carbon |
| TOF | Time of flight |
| TSS | Total suspended solids |
| UPLC | Ultra-high performance liquid chromatography |
| UV | Ultraviolet |
| WWTP | Wastewater treatment plant |

Chapter 1: Introduction and Research Objectives

1.1 Background

Nearly a third of people on Earth do not have access to safely managed drinking water and only two fifths have access to safely managed sanitation services, resulting in billions of people who are left without their right to enjoy clean water, sanitation, and other related benefits (WWAP, 2019). The lack of clean water access is being aggravated by drastic population growth causing greater demand and thus greater competition in densely populated areas (Teklehaimanot et al., 2015; Vatankhah et al., 2019). The long-term effects of chemical pollution are largely unknown with respect to aquatic life or human health (Schwarzenbach et al., 2006). It should therefore come as no surprise that properly managed water treatment facilities are vital for successful society.

Micropollutants (MPs) are pollutants which are either natural or anthropogenic in nature that are present in trace concentrations in the environment. A steady increase in chemical pollution due to increasing use of chemical products by society has created a concern due to unknown effects on human and aquatic life (Margot et al., 2015). Types of micropollutants include pharmaceuticals, endocrine disruptor compounds (EDC), surfactants, personal care products (PCP), artificial hormones, industrial chemicals, steroids, pesticides, and many more (Sackaria et al., 2020). Micropollutants have been shown to bioaccumulate and thus have the potential to create health concern; EDCs are a category of MPs which have been linked to pancreatic effects such as decreased glucose levels and increased plasma insulin, affecting the ability for adult rodents to perform lactation or organogenesis, and impacting estrogen and androgen induction in the brain (Rubin, 2011). The removal of MPs via wastewater treatment processes has also proven to be highly variable depending on the physico-chemical properties of the MPs, the treatment conditions, and the methods of treatment applied by the treatment plant (Luo et al. 2014).

Among the classes of MPs resides antiviral drugs, a class of compounds used for the treatment of viruses by aiding your body to fight against them. Antivirals are a broad classification of drugs which act in many different methods against viruses, these classifications include nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors, nucleotide reverse transcriptase inhibitors, non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors, protease inhibitors, and viral entry inhibitors (De Clercq, 2004). There are also many viruses that antiviral compounds are currently being used to treat including hepatitis C virus, human cytomegalovirus, herpes simplex virus, influenza, DNA virus infections, RNA virus infections, and arenavirus (De Clercq, 2013). Antiviral drugs have been shown to produce toxic effects on aquatic life; data suggests that the antiviral drug efavirenz may lead to increased risk of liver damage, functional organ loss, and declines in overall fish health in *Oreochromis Mossambicus* (Robson et al., 2017). Studies have also shown that byproducts produced from the degradation of antiviral drugs can be toxic, with a metabolite of the drug acyclovir showing toxicity towards algae and *Vibrio fischeri* (Schutler-Vorberg et al., 2015; Prasse et al., 2012).

Oseltamivir phosphate is the commercially available pill for the drug oseltamivir, a commonly used and stockpiled drug that is used as treatment for seasonal and pandemic influenza internationally (Jefferson et al., 2014). Oseltamivir has been detected in natural waters at relatively high concentrations, ranging from 100 - 159 ng L⁻¹ (Goncalves et al., 2011; Soderstrom et al., 2009; Takanami et al., 2012). Studies have also suggested that oseltamivir may cause toxicological effects towards aquatic life; scientific results have shown the development of

resistant variants of viruses in mallard ducks due to oseltamivir exposure which has the potential to circulate through other wild birds (Gillman, 2016; Gillman et al., 2015, Järhult, 2012).

Ozonation is a treatment method that is commonly used to disinfect wastewater and effectively remove organic compounds. Ozone as a treatment method for wastewater has increased in popularity due to two main reasons: decreased costs associated with ozone production, and environmental advantages over chlorine disinfection (Rekhate et al., 2020). The powerful oxidation potential of ozone (2.07 V) allows it to degrade pollutants via two mechanisms (i) direct oxidation involving attack by molecular ozone; (ii) indirect oxidation which utilizes hydroxyl radicals ('OH) generated during decomposition or reactions with other species (Rekhate et al., 2020).

1.2 Research Scope and Hypothesis

The purpose of this thesis is to pursue the advancement of knowledge in relation to antiviral drugs present in wastewater treatment. The research within seeks to develop insight on three different factors associated with this issue: ozonation treatment processes to remove the drugs, byproducts associated with degradation, and the results from the treatment processes. The experiments were performed at bench scale levels using both buffered water and real wastewater matrices to determine the effectiveness of the treatment methods and how they may operate in real world scenarios. The following hypotheses laid a framework for this research and provided direction for the studies:

 Ozonation as a tertiary treatment process for the removal of oseltamivir from water and wastewater can effectively remove the pollutant efficiently.

- 2) The ability for ozone to degrade oseltamivir will differ depending on the conditions of the solute present, this includes how much of the oseltamivir will remain and the kinetics of the reaction.
- 3) The ozonation of oseltamivir will produce a set of byproducts, these will need to be further analyzed to determine potential risks associated with their formation.

1.3 Research Objectives

This thesis sought to understand and improve upon the removal of antiviral drugs from wastewater systems via ozone treatment processes. The initial goal was to identify and critically review gaps in knowledge related to the treatment of antivirals. Secondly, the research and experimentation discussed throughout was conducted to aid in solving the problem related to the release and abundance of the antiviral drug oseltamivir in the environment. Bench-scale studies were conducted to analyze the treatment and outcomes from treatment of the ozonation of oseltamivir.

- 1) Ozonation of oseltamivir in bench-scale systems with the goal of determining the effectiveness of ozone treatment and the kinetic data related to the reaction.
- The effects of changing wastewater properties that impact the ozone degradation kinetics of oseltamivir
- The analysis of disinfection byproducts (DBP) produced during ozonation of oseltamivir and examination of toxicological consequences related to the formation of said byproducts.

1.4 Thesis Outline

This thesis has been set into four chapters which were organized logically based on stages of research required to progress into the subsequent chapter.

4

- Chapter 1 is used as a general background on the environmental health issues related with the release of insufficiently treated water in relation to micropollutants and where antiviral drugs fit into this problem. It outlines the growing problem of antiviral drugs due to increased usage and insufficient treatment, as well as issues related to their release. The first chapter also describes the research objectives, hypotheses, and organization of the thesis.
- Chapter 2 is an extensive literature looking into antiviral drugs in relation to environmental health and wastewater treatment. The review goes into detail towards methods of detection, methods of wastewater treatment, environmental presence, and toxic effects of the drugs towards marine life.
- Chapter 3 explores the treatment of the antiviral drug oseltamivir via ozonation. The study examines the kinetics of the reaction between ozone and oseltamivir phosphate as well as factors that may affect the degradation in aqueous environments. The research advances to explore the disinfection products produced during the ozonation process and investigates potential risks associated with their formation.
- Chapter 4 summarizes the major findings and conclusions discovered during these works. It also provides recommendations for future work in this area based on the findings and limitations of current research.

References

- Clercq, E. D. (2013). Highlights in antiviral drug research: antivirals at the horizon. *Medicinal Research Reviews*, 33(6), 1215-1248.
- De Clercq, E. (2004). Antiviral drugs in current clinical use. *Journal of Clinical Virology*, 30(2), 115-133.
- Gillman, A. (2016). Risk of resistant avian influenza A virus in wild waterfowl as a result of environmental release of oseltamivir. *Infection Ecology & Epidemiology*, 6(1), 32870.

- Gillman, A., Nykvist, M., Muradrasoli, S., Söderström, H., Wille, M., Daggfeldt, A., Bröjer, C., Waldenström, J., Olsen, B., Järhult, J. D. (2015). Influenza A (H7N9) virus acquires resistance-related neuraminidase I222T substitution when infected mallards are exposed to low levels of oseltamivir in water. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 59(9), 5196-5202.
- Gonçalves, C., Perez, S., Osorio, V., Petrovic, M., Alpendurada, M., & Barcelo, D. (2011). Photofate of oseltamivir (Tamiflu) and oseltamivir carboxylate under natural and simulated solar irradiation: kinetics, identification of the transformation products, and environmental occurrence. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 45(10), 4307-4314.
- Jefferson, T., Jones, M., Doshi, P., Spencer, E. A., Onakpoya, I., & Heneghan, C. J. (2014). Oseltamivir for influenza in adults and children: systematic review of clinical study reports and summary of regulatory comments. *BMJ*, *348*.
- Luo, Y., Guo, W., Ngo, H. H., Nghiem, L. D., Hai, F. I., Zhang, J., Zhang, J., Wang, X. C. (2014). A review on the occurrence of micropollutants in the aquatic environment and their fate and removal during wastewater treatment. *Science of the Total Environment*, 473, 619-641.
- Margot, J., Rossi, L., Barry, D. A., & Holliger, C. (2015). A review of the fate of micropollutants in wastewater treatment plants. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Water*, 2(5), 457-487.
- Prasse, C., Wagner, M., Schulz, R., & Ternes, T. A. (2012). Oxidation of the antiviral drug acyclovir and its biodegradation product carboxy-acyclovir with ozone: kinetics and identification of oxidation products. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 46(4), 2169-2178.
- Rekhate, C. V., & Srivastava, J. (2020). Recent advances in ozone-based advanced oxidation processes for treatment of wastewater-A review. *Chemical Engineering Journal Advances*, 100031.
- Robson, L., Barnhoorn, I., & Wagenaar, G. (2017). The potential effects of efavirenz on Oreochromis mossambicus after acute exposure. *Environmental toxicology and pharmacology*, *56*, 225-232.
- Rubin, B. S. (2011). Bisphenol A: an endocrine disruptor with widespread exposure and multiple effects. *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, 127(1-2), 27-34.
- Sackaria, M., & Elango, L. (2020a). Organic micropollutants in groundwater of India—A review. *Water Environment Research*, 92(4), 504-523.
- Sackaria, M., & Elango, L. (2020b). Organic micropollutants in groundwater of India—A review. *Water Environment Research*, 92(4), 504-523.

- Schlüter-Vorberg, L., Prasse, C., Ternes, T. A., Mückter, H., & Coors, A. (2015). Toxification by transformation in conventional and advanced wastewater treatment: the antiviral drug acyclovir. *Environmental Science & Technology Letters*, 2(12), 342-346.
- Schwarzenbach, R. P., Escher, B. I., Fenner, K., Hofstetter, T. B., Johnson, C. A., Von Gunten, U., & Wehrli, B. (2006). The challenge of micropollutants in aquatic systems. *Science*, 313(5790), 1072-1077.
- Söderström, H., Järhult, J. D., Olsen, B., Lindberg, R. H., Tanaka, H., & Fick, J. (2009a). Detection of the antiviral drug oseltamivir in aquatic environments. *PloS one*, *4*(6), e6064.
- Söderström, H., Järhult, J. D., Olsen, B., Lindberg, R. H., Tanaka, H., & Fick, J. (2009b). Detection of the antiviral drug oseltamivir in aquatic environments. *PloS one*, 4(6), e6064.
- Takanami, R., Ozaki, H., Giri, R. R., Taniguchi, S., & Hayashi, S. (2012). Antiviral drugs zanamivir and oseltamivir found in wastewater and surface water in Osaka, Japan. Journal of Water and Environment Technology, 10(1), 57-68.
- Teklehaimanot, G. Z., Kamika, I., Coetzee, M. A., & Momba, M. (2015). Population growth and its impact on the design capacity and performance of the wastewater treatment plants in Sedibeng and Soshanguve, South Africa. *Environmental Management*, 56(4), 984-997.
- Vatankhah, H., Riley, S. M., Murray, C., Quiñones, O., Steirer, K. X., Dickenson, E. R., & Bellona, C. (2019). Simultaneous ozone and granular activated carbon for advanced treatment of micropollutants in municipal wastewater effluent. *Chemosphere*, 234, 845-854.
- WWAP (UNESCO World Water Assessment Programme). 2019. The United Nations World Water Development Report 2019: Leaving No One Behind. Paris, UNESCO

Chapter 2: Literature Review

2.1 Abstract

Antiviral drugs have emerged as pollutants of environmental concern due to their resistance to degradation and potential impacts on the environment. Antivirals specifically are of interest due to high consumption rates as a result of high prescription rates, influenza outbreak causing high peak emissions, and spatial diversity due to areas which report high human immunodeficiency virus risk. These pollutants enter water systems through excretion from humans, pharmaceutical industry waste, and domestic waste. Many antivirals have been detected in natural bodies of water around the world, often correlating with countries or areas with higher viral infection rates. Antiviral drugs have proven to be difficult to degrade via conventional wastewater treatment processes and are resistant to natural biodegradation, making them a highrisk category of pollutants. Treatments via advanced oxidation processes such as ozone are proving to be effective options for the removal of persistent pollutants, making this area of research promising. There is a critical lack of information on the removal methods and potential toxicological effects of antiviral drugs which require further research to develop a more complete understanding of the issues being faced. The objective of this review is to provide information and critical discourse on the current issues surrounding scientific practices related to the water treatment of antiviral drugs. This review analyzed the effectiveness of wastewater treatment methods towards antiviral drugs, and discovered shortcomings. Figure 2.1 presents an overview of antiviral drug removal and occurrence in the environment.



Figure 2. 1 Overview of antiviral drug removal, detection methods, and occurrence in the environment. The blue column highlights the sections surrounding analytical detection, the brown column highlights wastewater treatment, and the green column highlights environmental hazards

2.2 Introduction

Antiviral drugs have become an area of scientific interest due to the increased global usage and detection of many drugs in natural bodies of water (Prasse et al., 2010). Antiviral drugs are used to treat viruses worldwide, some of the most common are influenza, hepatitis A and B, and human immunodeficiency virus (HIV). The increase in antiviral use can be linked to increases in both treatment and occurrence of viruses. HIV specifically has become a global pandemic, with an estimated 38,000,000 people living with HIV, and 68% of adults receiving lifelong antiretroviral therapy, and 1,700,000 new cases in 2019 alone (UNESCO, 2019). The fact that many of these drugs being taken are entering natural water supplies creates concerns for both environmental and human health.

Antiviral drugs taken by patients are often not completely metabolized, and thus when the compounds are excreted, they enter water systems via sewer lines (Prasse et al., 2010). Many of these drugs are either partially removed or not removed at all during the conventional wastewater

treatment, and thus they are discharged and allowed to enter the environment (Prasse et al., 2010). Concentrations of antiviral drugs in natural water bodies have been documented worldwide and are suggested to be persistent in some cases (Jain et al., 2013). The persistence of these drugs in the environment and their responses to various environmental conditions are not well studied, making their potential impacts on the environment relatively unknown.

Environmental toxicity studies are under-researched for antiviral drugs, however, studies that have been done show significant toxic potential. Laboratory scale studies have shown toxic effects of antiviral drugs towards fish, mice, bacteria, daphnia, and L. sativa, suggesting possible toxic effects at elevated concentrations (Durjava et al., 2013; Oliveira et al., 2014; Prasse et al., 2012; Schutler-Vorberg et al., 2015; Feliciano et al., 2020). In addition to toxicological effects, the development of drug resistance is a constant fight in the medical industry, and exposure of antiviral drugs is believed to cause development of resistant genes (Jarhult et al., 2011).

There is a vast variety of antiviral drugs as they are used to treat different viruses and have different mechanisms for inactivation. As a result of the large variety, antiviral drugs all react differently to treatment methods for their removal, however, a trend among many of them is an overall resistance to degradation by conventional treatments such as biological treatment, screening filtration, and adsorption (Prasse et al., 2010). Conventional treatments have shown highly varying results between drugs, with many persisting or even accumulating throughout the treatment process (Abafe et al., 2018; Prasse et al., 2010). On the other hand, advanced oxidation processes have proven to be significantly more successful in the degradation of antivirals, but detailed information on mechanisms and byproducts formation is lacking (Ternes et al., 2017).

Research examining the removal of antiviral drugs from wastewater is lacking in many areas, the antiviral drugs examined in this review are outlined in Table 2.1. The goal of this

review is to provide the reader with sufficient background information on the available scientific literature around antivirals in natural and wastewater systems. Discussing the detection methods of detection, environmental fate, removal method, and toxicological effects of antiviral drugs will allow for a critical discourse on the potential impact of antiviral drugs.

Table 2. 1 Antiviral Drugs and Their Chemical Properties (*Data obtained from literature, National Library of Medicine, https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/).

| CAS no. | Name & Chemical Formula | Chemical Structure | Solubility* (25 °C) | pKa* | Density* (g/cm ³) |
|------------------|---|---|-------------------------------------|----------------------|----------------------------------|
| 118-42-3 | Hydroxychloroquine C ₁₈ H ₂₆ ClN ₃ O | | 0.0261 mg/mL (ALOGPS est.) | 9.67 | 1.2 |
| 259793-96- 9 | Favipiravir C5H4FN3O2 | $F \xrightarrow{N} \underbrace{V}_{N} \underbrace{V}_{O} \xrightarrow{OH}_{NH_2}$ | slightly soluble | 5.1 | 1.6 |
| 1809249- 37-3 | Remdesivir C ₂₇ H ₃₅ N ₆ O ₈ P | | 0.339 mg/mL (ALOGPS est.) | 10.23 and 0.65 | 1.5 |



| CAS no. | Name & Chemical Formula | Chemical Structure | Solubility* (25 °C) | pKa* | Density* (g/cm ³) |
|-----------------|---|--------------------|--------------------------------------|----------------------|----------------------------------|
| 154598-52- 4 | Efavirenz C ₁₄ H9ClF3NO2 | | .008855 mg/mL (ALOGPS est.) | 12.52 and -1.5 | 1.5 |
| 129618-40- 2 | Nevirapine C ₁₅ H ₁₄ N ₄ O | | 0.0007046 mg/mL | 10.37 and 5.06 | 1.4 |
| 198904-31- 3 | Atazanavir C ₃₈ H ₅₂ N ₆ O ₇ | | slightly soluble | 11.92 and 4.42 | 1.2 |
| 155213-67- 5 | Ritonavir $C_{37}H_{48}N_6O_5S_2$ | | insoluble | 13.68 and 2.84 | 1.2 |



2.3 Types of Antiviral Drugs and Associated Health Risks

Antiviral drugs are used to treat many different types of viruses and work differently depending on the type of virus to be treated. As of 2016, 90 antiviral drugs which are categorized into 13 functional groups have been approved for the treatment of infectious disease, and thousands have been proposed in literature (De Clercq and Li, 2016). The drugs discussed here were chosen based on of how commonly they are used and information availability when relating to wastewater treatment.

Hydroxychloroquine (HCQ) is used to treat multiple types of diseases including both viruses such as HIV and malaria, and autoimmune diseases including rheumatoid arthritis, Sjörgen syndrome, and systemic lupus erythematosus (Van Loosdregt, 2013). The antiviral mechanism of action for HCQ is believed to be the alkalinization of lysosomes and other intracellular acidic compartments, this inhibits the growth of intracellular pathogens (Plantone and Koudriavtseva, 2018). HCQ has shown good tolerability even during pregnancy, but some adverse effects have been reported including gastrointestinal and cutaneous manifestations and retinal, neuromuscular, and cardiac toxicities (Plantone and Koudriavtseva, 2018). An early clinical trial conducted on COVID-19 patients showed the drug has a significant effect on both clinical outcomes and viral clearance when compared to control groups (Gao, 2020).

Favipiravir (FVP) functions as a ribonucleic acid (RNA) polymerase inhibitor preventing the replication of several RNA viruses including arenaviruses, phleboviruses, hantaviruses, flaviviruses, enteroviruses, alphavirus, western equine encephalitis virus, paramyxovirus, respiratory syncytial virus, and noroviruses (Furuta et al., 2013). Favipiravir is introduced to cells where it is converted to an active phosphoribosylated form which is recognized as a substrate by viral RNA polymerase where it inhibits activity (Vafaei et al., 2019). The adverse effects of favipiravir have been shown to be relatively minor, with adverse reactions seen in roughly 20% of patients. The adverse effects included hyperuricemia, diarrhea, reduced neutrophil count, and transaminitis (Agrawal et al., 2020). Clinical trials have been initiated for the use of Favipiravir against the 2019 coronavirus which has pushed the drug into the academic spotlight (Dong et al., 2020).

Acyclovir (ACV) is an antiviral drug which works as an inhibitor for herpesvirus deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) polymerase, this is accomplished by competing with deoxyguanosine triphosphate as a substrate for RNA polymerase, effectively stopping replication (Gnann et al., 1983). Acyclovir therapy has been associated with few adverse effects, however, renal disfunction, nephrotoxicity, agitation, hallucinations, disorientation, tremors, and

myoclonus have been reported in individuals (Gnann et al., 1992). Neurotoxicity has also been reported in patients as a side effect of intravenous acyclovir use with renal impairment (Chowdhury et al., 2016). Herpes simplex virus has also been shown to develop resistance to acyclovir through mutations in viral gene encoding of thymidine kinase. These acyclovir-resistant isolates have been shown to cause pneumonia, encephalitis, esophagitis, and mucocutaneous infections in immunocompromised patients (Gnann et al., 1992).

Remdesivir is an adenosine analog antiviral drug which was developed for the treatment of the Ebola virus infection. The antiviral drug has been applied against RNA virus families including filoviridae, paramyxoviridae, pneomoviridae, Ebola virus, respiratory syncytial virus, Hendra virus, and coronaviruses as an RNA polymerase inhibitor (Vafaei et al., 2019). Both SARS-CoV-1 and SARS CoV-2 have developed resistance to the antiviral drug remdesivir, two different mutations have cause 2.4-fold and 5-fold reduced susceptibility to remdesivir (Jorgensen et al., 2020). Adverse effects have been shown in users of remdesivir, including phlebitis, constipation, headache, ecchymosis, nausea, and extremity pain; some less common side effects include hypertension and transaminase elevations (Jorgensen et al., 2020). Remdesivir has shown promise in studies for COVID-19 treatment showing potent blocking of virus infection at low concentrations and high specificity towards coronavirus cells with no apparent side effects (Wang et al., 2020).

Ribavirin is a guanosine analog which works against RNA and DNA viruses like hepatitis C and E by inhibiting RNA synthesis via depletion of guanosine triphosphate pools in monophosphate form (Vafaei et al., 2019). Ribavirin has shown clinical efficacy against both influenza A and B viruses, respiratory syncytial virus, parainfluenza infections, and Lassa fever (Gilbert and Knight, 1986). Adverse effects have been shown in patients include decreased hemoglobin levels, hypoxemia, psoriasis, eczema, and alopecia (Mistry et al., 2009; Chiou et al., 2005). Several viruses have developed resistance to ribavirin, including poliovirus, coronavirus, and influenza A, resulting in lower fidelity and higher specificity (Beaucourt and Vignuzzi, 2014). Due to ribavirin's effectiveness when applied synergistically with other treatment against SARS-CoV, it is believed that there is potential effectiveness against COVID-19, however, there is currently no data to support this claim (Zeng et al., 2020).

Oseltamivir is a prodrug of oseltamivir carboxylate which acts as a neuraminidase inhibitor, inhibiting the neuraminidase glycoprotein essential for replication of influenza A and B (McCellan & Perry, 2001). Studies have shown that oseltamivir follows a dose-dependant relationship for influenza patients and that five-day treatment periods demonstrated significant benefit in influenza patients (Arabi et al. 2020). Some adverse effects of oseltamivir that have been reported in humans are nausea, vomiting, diarrhea, abdominal pain, rash, swelling of the face or tongue, hypersensitivity, hepatitis, arrhythmia, dizziness, insomnia, vertigo, seizures confusion, delusions, diabetes, and fatigue (Tullu, 2009). Viral resistance to oseltamivir is rare due to the neuraminidase active site being highly conserved, allowing replication, however, an exception of this was the H1N1 virus which carried a resistant mutation in its genetic sequence.

Amantadine is a neuraminidase inhibitor which works by interfering with viral uncoating inside of the cell and blocking the M2 channel, preventing replication (Moscona, 2005). Originally, amantadine was developed as a treatment for influenza A, however, it was also adopted for treatment of Parkinson's disease (Hosenbocus and Chanal, 2013). Many countries now discourage the use of amantadine for seasonal influenza viruses due to development of high viral resistance, poor tolerability, and low effectiveness (Lehnert et al., 2016; Jefferson et al., 2006)

Efavirenz is a non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor (NNRTI) which is used to mainly treat the HIV-1 virus (Adkins & Noble, 1998). Efavirenz either by itself or in cooperation with other synergistic drugs is commonly prescribed for HIV-1 treatment. This has led to the drug being seen commonly in countries like South Africa (Nannou et al., 2020). While efavirenz is generally considered safe, it displays adverse effects including cutaneous reactions, elevated plasma levels of liver transaminases, central nervous system symptoms, and erythema multiforme (Apostolova et al., 2017). Multiple mutations in HIV have been studied that cause resistance to efavirenz and other NNRTI's, these have been specifically located at the codons K101E and K103N as well as others (Parienti et al., 2004).

Nevirapine is a NNRTI of HIV-1 which is used often in combination therapy to treat HIV-1 infected individuals (Mirochnick et al. 2000). Studies have shown nevirapine is effective as both monotherapy and in combination with nucleoside analogues (Murphy and Montaner, 1996). Adverse effects that have been associated with nevirapine include hepatotoxicity, Johnson syndrome, and most commonly incidence of rash (Shubber et al., 2013). Similar to efavirenz, nevirapine suffers from mutations that cause resistance to NNRTI's, these mutations have been widely studied and multiple different mutations have been documented (Parienti et al., 2004).

Atazanavir is an azapeptide protease inhibitor which is most commonly used for the treatment of HIV-1 due to its specificity for HIV-1 protease (Goldsmith and Perry, 2003). It is often administered daily in combination with other HIV-1 treatment medications to boost effectiveness (Croom et al., 2009). Adverse effects associated with atazanavir treatment are most commonly nausea, jaundice, diarrhoea, and elevated total bilirubin (Croom et al., 2009). Resistance to atazanavir has been documented in both genotypic resistance and cross-resistance as a result of other protease inhibitor usage (Bentué-Ferrer et al., 2009).

Ritonavir is an artificial HIV protease inhibitor that has been used extensively in the treatment of HIV-1 for the last couple of decades (Hsu et al., 1998). Ritonavir can be taken by itself or in combination with other HIV-1 treatments and is often taken either daily or twice daily (Hsu et al., 1998). The most common side effects associated with ritonavir treatment are gastrointestinal effects such as diarrhea, nausea, and vomiting, with other more serious side effects such as pancreatitis, elevated transaminase levels, hypertriglyceridemia, and hypercholesterolemia (Chandwani and Shuter, 2008). Studies have suggested that ritonavir possess a high barrier to the development of resistance, and there has been no significant data that shows resistance mutations (Croxtall and Perry, 2010; Chandwani and Shuter, 2009).

Lamivudine is a deoxycytidine analog which works against hepatitis B virus (HBV). It has been shown to suppress HBV replication in chronic patients (Jarvis and Faulds 1999). Adverse effects associated with lamivudine are extremely limited, with no significant effects being noted in multiple studies examining immunosuppressed patients (Ehrhardt et al., 2015; Loomba et al., 2008; Katz et al., 2008). Lamivudine resistance in hepatitis B is significant, with a resistance rate of 24% after 1 year, and approximately 70% after 5 years; this can also lead to hepatitis flare ups (Sheng et al., 2011)

2.3 Analytical Methods for Antiviral Drug Determination and Quantification

The analytical determination of antiviral drugs in both natural and wastewater settings is a difficult process due to the large number of matrix interference effects and the extremely low (ng L^{-1}) concentration of the analytes. The analytical method should also be optimized to monitor metabolites and chemical transition products. The development of sample preparation and detection methods is a difficult and time-consuming task that requires extensive validation and calibration to ensure sufficient accuracy of the method. The selection of the analytical process will depend on the target of the experiment, whether it be specific analyte detection or screening of many unknown analytes. However, most methods follow two main steps: samples clean-up and extraction in order to improve detection limits followed by analyte identification and quantification.

Sample preparation is a required step in the analyses of antiviral drugs in wastewater or natural water matrix due to significant matrix effects interfering with detection of the antiviral drugs. The most common sample preparation method is solid phase extraction (SPE) for isolation of pollutants and samples clean-up when looking at natural waters (Abafe et al., 2018; Aminot et al., 2015; Mosekiemang et al., 2019; Osunmakinde et al., 2013; Tong et al., 2011; Azuma et al., 2017; Prasse et al., 2010). Solid phase microextraction (SPME) is also a valid method of sample preparation for pharmaceuticals with advantages over SPE including lower sample volume requirement, no solvent requirement, higher enrichment factors, and ease of automation (Osunmakinde et al., 2013). Basic glass-fibre filtration is also used to prepare samples for analysis by removing large particulate matter (Azuma et al., 2017; Kovalova et al., 2012; Helbling et al., 2010).

Detection and quantification are conducted almost exclusively via Liquid chromatography coupled with mass spectrometry (LC-MS) with an electrospray ionization (ESI) source. This method allows for efficient separation of organic compounds via liquid chromatography providing more accurate quantification and detection of trace pharmaceuticals. A common mass spectrometric detection type is triple quadrupole which allows for detection of both parent and daughter ions, providing more information on the structure of the compound detected (Abafe et al., 2018; Aminot et al., 2015; Mosekiemang et al., 2019; Kovalova et al., 2012). Other mass spectrometric types include ion trap-Orbitrap (Helbling et al., 2010) and time of flight (TOF) which can provide higher levels of precision compared to quadrupole instruments.

Accurate quantification of metabolites of many common pharmaceuticals and their degradation products can be difficult to quantify due to the lack of analytical standards. Common transformation products of antiviral drugs such as oseltamivir carboxylate and carboxy-acyclovir can be formed in humans during metabolism or during biological treatment processes. In some cases, these drugs can be directly acquired or synthesized in laboratory settings allowing them to be directly analyzed (Kovalova et al., 2012; Funke et al., 2016). When these products are not available, bench scale biotransformation systems such as activated sludge can be used to convert the drugs before testing (Helbling et al., 2010). Table 2.2 presents a summary of the analytical methods and detection limits for antiviral drugs.

| Antiviral | Detection Method | Limit of | Limit of | Dro Trootmont | Matrix | Source |
|--------------|------------------|-----------|--------------|--------------------------------|----------------|------------------------------|
| Oseltamivir | HPLC-ESI-MS | Detection | | N/A | | Helpling et al. (2010) |
| Oscitaniivii | | | 1 µ6/ L | | 1975 | |
| | HPLC-MS/MS | | 5 ng/L | Filtration, SPE | Natural water | Kovalova et al. (2013) |
| | HPLC-ESI-MS/MS | | 0.2 - 1 ng/L | Filtration, Acidification, SPE | Natural water | Prasse et al. (2010) |
| | LC-ESI-MS/MS | | 0.3 ng/L | Filtration, SPE | Natural water | Azuma et al. (2017) |
| | HPLC-ESI-HRMS | | 10 ng/L | SPE | Wastewater | Singer et al. (2016) |
| Oseltamivir | HPLC-MS/MS | • | 25 ng/L | Filtration, SPE | Nanopure water | Kovalova et al. (2013) |
| carboxylate | HPLC-ESI-MS/MS | | 0.2 - 1 ng/L | Filtration, Acidification, SPE | Natural water | Prasse et al. (2010) |
| | LC-ESI-MS/MS | | 0.6 ng/L | Filtration, SPE | Natural water | Azuma et al. (2017) |
| | HPLC-ESI-HRMS | | 10 ng/L | SPE | Wastewater | Singer et al. (2016) |
| | UPLC-ESI-MS/MS | | 4 - 6 ng/L | Filtration, Acidification, SPE | Wastewater | Ghosh et al. (2010) |
| Ritonavir | HPLC-MS/MS | • | 1 ng/L | Filtration, SPE | Nanopure water | Kovalova et al. (2013) |
| | UPLC-ESI-MS/MS | | 0.787 ng/mL | SPE | Natural water | Mosekiemang et al. (2019) |
| | HPLC-ESI-MS/MS | 3.0 ng/L | | Filtration, Acidification, SPE | Natural water | Aminot et al. (2015) |
| | LC-HESI-MS/MS | 5 ng/L | 16 ng/L | SPE | Natural water | Abafe et al. (2018) |
| | UPLC-ESI-MS/MS | 20 ng/L | | Filtration, Acidification, SPE | Wastewater | Margot et al. (2013) |
| | UHPLC-HESI-MS | 98 ng/L | 297 ng/L | SPE | Natural water | Mhuka et al. (2020) |
| | HPLC-ESI-HRMS | | 50 ng/L | SPE | Wastewater | Singer et al. (2016) |
| Abacavir | HPLC-ESI-MS/MS | <u>.</u> | 0.2 - 1 ng/L | Filtration, Acidification, SPE | Natural water | Prasse et al. (2010) |

Table 2. 2 Analytical Methods and Limits of Detection or Quantification for Analytical Drugs.

| | HPLC-ESI-MS/MS | 0.2 ng/L | | Filtration, Acidification, SPE | Natural water | Aminot et al. (2015) |
|---------------|----------------|-----------|---------------|--------------------------------|----------------------------|------------------------------|
| | LC-HESI-MS/MS | 4 ng/L | 15 ng/L | SPE | Natural water | Abafe et al. (2018) |
| | LC-ESI-MS/MS | | 5 - 20 ng/L | Filtration | Surface and drinking water | Funke et al. (2016) |
| Acyclovir | HPLC-MS/MS | - | 1 - 5 ng/L | Filtration, Acidification, SPE | Natural water | Prasse et al. (2010) |
| | LC-ESI-MS/MS | | 5 - 20 ng/L | Filtration | Surface and drinking water | Funke et al. (2016) |
| Lamivudine | HPLC-ESI-MS/MS | | 10 - 100 ng/L | Filtration, Acidification, SPE | Natural water | Prasse et al. (2010) |
| | UPLC-ESI-MS/MS | | 0.661 ng/mL | SPE (for surface water) | Natural water | Mosekiemang et al. (2019) |
| | HPLC-ESI-MS/MS | 0.2 ng/L | | Filtration, Acidification, SPE | Natural water | Aminot et al. (2015) |
| | LC-HESI-MS/MS | 20 ng/L | 65 ng/L | SPE | Natural water | Abafe et al. (2018) |
| | UHPLC-HESI-MS | 4.91 μg/L | 14.9 μg/L | SPE | Natural water | Mhuka et al. (2020) |
| | LC-ESI-MS/MS | | 5 - 50 ng/L | Filtration | Surface and drinking water | Funke et al. (2016) |
| Nevirapine | HPLC-ESI-MS/MS | | 1 - 5 ng/L | Filtration, Acidification, SPE | Natural water | Prasse et al. (2010) |
| | UPLC-ESI-MS/MS | | 0.425 ng/mL | SPE (for surface water) | Natural water | Mosekiemang et al. (2019) |
| | HPLC-ESI-MS/MS | 0.3 ng/L | | Filtration, Acidification, SPE | Natural water | Aminot et al. (2015) |
| | LC-HESI-MS/MS | 6 ng/L | 20 ng/L | SPE | Natural water | Abafe et al. (2018) |
| | UHPLC-HESI-MS | 11 ng/L | 33 ng/L | SPE | Natural water | Mhuka et al. (2020) |
| | GC-TOFMS | 1.8 ng/L | 6 ng/L | SPE | Wastewater | Schoeman et al. (2017) |
| Ribavirin | HPLC-ESI-MS/MS | | 4 - 20 ng/L | Filtration, Acidification, SPE | Natural water | Prasse et al. (2010) |
| | HPLC-ESI-HRMS | | >1000 ng/L | SPE | Wastewater | Singer et al. (2016) |
| Amantadine | LC-ESI-MS/MS | | 0.2 ng/L | Filtration, SPE | Natural water | Azuma et al. (2017) |
| | UPLC-ESI-MS/MS | | 4 - 6 ng/L | Filtration, Acidification, SPE | Wastewater | Ghosh et al. (2010) |
| Favipiravir | LC-MS/MS | | 0.4 ng/L | Filtration, SPE | Natural water | Azuma et al. (2017) |
| Efavirenz | UPLC-ESI-MS/MS | | 0.596 ng/mL | SPE (for surface water) | Natural water | Mosekiemang et al. (2019) |
| | LC-HESI-MS/MS | 9 ng/L | 31 ng/L | SPE | Natural water | Abafe et al. (2018) |
| | UHPLC-HESI-MS | 59 ng/L | 179 ng/L | SPE | Natural water | Mhuka et al. (2020) |
| | GC-TOFMS | 7.8 ng/L | 25.9 ng/L | SPE | Wastewater | Schoeman et al. (2017) |
| Emtricitabine | UPLC-ESI-MS/MS | | 0.919 ng/mL | SPE (for surface water) | Natural water | Mosekiemang et al. (2019) |
| | LC-ESI-MS/MS | | 20 - 50 ng/L | Filtration | Surface and drinking water | Funke et al. (2016) |
| Atazanavir | LC-HESI-MS/MS | 2 ng/L | 12 ng/L | SPE | Natural water | Abafe et al. (2018) |
| | UHPLC-HESI-MS | 95 ng/L | 289 ng/L | SPE | Natural water | Mhuka et al. (2020) |

2.4 Wastewater Treatment of Antiviral Drugs

The presence of antiviral drugs in wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs) globally depends on several factors, including location of the WWTP, medical requirements of the local population, the standard of living, and the government approval of certain pharmaceuticals. The removal of antiviral drugs from human wastewater is a matter of extreme importance and is often overlooked during the testing and approval process of new drugs. The rigorous testing process of new pharmaceuticals fails to consider the potential effects of both the drug and its metabolites on other potentially effected species including aquatic and plant life. This lack of testing leaves the burden of testing on other researchers to ensure these new drugs have minimized environmental impact.

WWTP processes have many steps relating to the removal of contaminants often including aerobic biological digestion, anaerobic biological digestion, disinfection, and filtration, all of which contribute to the removal of organic compounds. It is important to understand the effectiveness of each process individually to effectively target and eliminate pollutants.

2.4.1 Full-Scale Wastewater Treatment Plant

The removal of antiviral from full-scale WWTPs is important because they are the barriers preventing the spread of these compounds to the environment (Luo et al., 2014). WWTPs generally follow four major steps in their process which include preliminary, primary, secondary, and tertiary treatment (Ranjit et al., 2021). Preliminary treatment methods are generally used to remove floating debris, while primary treatment is used to remove small inorganic matter as well as large settleable organic matter. Secondary or biological treatments are used to remove suspended solids and organic matterial, and tertiary treatment is employed to remove the total suspended solids (TSS), total dissolved solids (TDS), organic and inorganic matter, nutrients, and killing pathogens found in secondary effluent (Ranjit et al., 2021). Figure 2.2 summarizes the removal efficiencies of antiviral drug via conventional treatment. Conventional treatment here defined as processes trains that do not include advanced treatments such as ozone, peroxide, UV irradiation, and membrane filtration.


Figure 2. 2 Removal Efficiencies of Antiviral Drugs via Conventional Treatment with Standard Deviations (Gago-Ferrero et al., 2020; Schoeman et al., 2017; Funke et al., 2016; Mhuka et al., 2020; Abafe et al., 2018; Prasse et al., 2010; Kovalova et al., 2013; K'oreje et al., 2016).

The antiviral drug ribavirin was only discussed in one study examining the removal efficiency of two conventional WWTPs with aerobic chemical oxygen demand (COD) removal and combined anerobic denitrification and aerobic nitrification (Prasse et al., 2010). Because the ribavirin concentrations in the influent and effluent were below the LOQ of 4 ng L⁻¹ in both separate locations, the removal efficiency could not be reported.

The removal of acyclovir was monitored in treatment plants consisting of mechanical treatment, biological nitrification/denitrification, and chemical phosphorus. The studies found removal efficiencies of 97 - 98% with an initial concentration of 1800 ng L⁻¹ (Prasse et al., 2010)

and 91% with an initial concentration of 750 ng L^{-1} (Funke et al., 2016) in wastewater treatment plants. These results suggest that acyclovir is removed effectively by conventional treatment.

Removal of lamivudine was examined in treatment plants consisting of combined processes of primary treatment, biological treatment, and chlorination. One study examining the removal of lamivudine using aerobic treatment, anaerobic digestion, and chlorination found influents ranged in concentration from 840 - 2200 ng L⁻¹ and effluents <130 ng L⁻¹ suggesting efficient removal (Abafe et al., 2018). A study examining the removal of two treatment plants consisting of screening, grit removal tank, primary clarifier, and biological nitrification and denitrification found lamivudine was removed at >93% with influents ranging from 210 - 720 ng L⁻¹ (Prasse et al., 2010). A study examining the Daspoort Wastewater Treatment Works found an influent concentration of 267 ng L⁻¹ and an effluent of 28.08 ng L⁻¹ for lamivudine, a roughly 90% removal rate. A study examining multiple different treatment processes found that conventional treatment consisting of mechanical treatment, biological nitrification and denitrification, and chemical phosphate removal only transformed lamivudine to its carboxylate form, while ozonated effluent was able to remove this carboxylate entirely (Funke et al., 2016). These studies suggest that lamivudine may not be properly eliminated through biological and mechanical treatment but transformed to the carboxylate salt, requiring further treatment such as ozonation to be removed (Prasse et al., 2010; Funke et al., 2016; Abafe et al., 2018; Mhuka et al., 2020).

Treatment plants consisting of primary mechanical treatment with secondary biological treatment were examined for removal of abacavir. A study examining the removal of abacavir in wastewater treatment plants consisting of aerobic treatment, anaerobic digestion, and chlorination found influent concentrations ranging from 3500 - 14000 ng L⁻¹ with >99% removal

efficiency (Abafe et al., 2018). A European study examined the removal of abacavir from two treatment plants consisting of screening, grit removal tank, primary clarifier, and biological nitrification and denitrification found influent concentrations ranging from 21 - 81 ng L⁻¹ with >99% removal efficiencies (Prasse et al., 2010). A study examining multiple wastewater treatment plants on abacavir removal found that conventional treatment consisting of mechanical treatment, biological nitrification and denitrification, and chemical phosphorus removal was only able to convert lamivudine to the carboxylate salt, but that further ozonation of the effluent was able to remove that carboxylate. These studies suggest that biological and mechanical treatment can transform abacavir to the carboxylate salt but are not sufficient to full breakdown the drug (Prasse et al., 2010; Funke et al., 2016; Abafe et al., 2018).

Conventional treatment methods were found to be ineffective in the removal of nevirapine . Treatment involving facilities running activated sludge and chlorine processes found very little removal ranging from 0 - 50% with influent concentrations ranging from 9 - 2800 ng L⁻¹ (Abafe et al., 2018; Mhuka et al., 2020). Accumulation of nevirapine during treatment, with influent concentrations ranging from 5 - 200 ng L⁻¹ and effluent concentrations ranging from 7 - 500 ng L⁻¹ have also been reported in facilities consisting of biological and chlorine treatment, suggesting that conventional treatment is ineffective for removal of nevirapine and that these pollutants may bioaccumulate in sludge and sediment (Prasse et al., 2010; Schoeman et al., 2017). The authors state that it is unclear where this accumulation of nevirapine comes from, but it can be concluded that it is resistant to degradation by activated sludge and chlorine.

The removal of oseltamivir was assessed using conventional treatment, including mechanical treatment, activated sludge, and chemical phosphorus removal (Prasse et al., 2010; Kovalova et al., 2012). Both studies reported an accumulation of oseltamivir in the final effluent,

with influent concentrations ranging from <0.2 - 25 ng L⁻¹ suggesting the resistance of oseltamivir to biological degradation and adsorbance; neither study probided a significant explanation for the cause of this increase. Oseltamivir carboxylate treatment was examined in two treatment facilities consisting of grit removal, primary clarification and biological nitrification/denitrification found an average 59% removal with influent concentrations ranging from 29 - 42 ng L⁻¹ and effluent concentrations ranging from 12 - 17 ng L⁻¹ (Prasse et al., 2010). Treatment of oseltamivir was also examined in two other facilities with primary and secondary treatment noting removal efficiency between 20 - 40%, another facility which used a tertiary ozone treatment and showed >90% removal (Ghosh et al., 2010). These studies suggest while oseltamivir carboxylate is resistant to biological treatment, however, advanced oxidation processes may be effective for degradation.

Amantadine was examined in three studies, all of which examined treatment plants consisting of processes including mechanical and activated sludge treatment; one study found amantadine in WWTP effluent ranging from 22 - 100 ng L⁻¹, another reported an influent concentration of 60 ng L⁻¹ and an effluent of 40 ng L⁻¹ in a treatment plant with primary sedimentation, activated sludge, biological nitrogen and phosphorus removal, and secondary sedimentation (Singer et al., 2016; Gago-Ferrero et al., 2020). Another which examined multiple treatment plants which reported roughly 10% removal during primary treatment consisting of aerobic and anaerobic biological nutrient removal, and >90% removal using ozonation as a tertiary treatment (Ghosh et al., 2010). These studies suggest that mechanical and biological treatment are insufficient for removing amantadine from wastewater.

Removal of emtricitabine was examined in treatment plants with process trains including mechanical primary treatment, activated sludge, and phosphorus removal; the study found moderate removal, with influent concentration of 0.33 μ g L⁻¹ and effluent 0.15 μ g L⁻¹ (Gago-Ferrero et al., 2020). Another study found emtricitabine was only partially removed and mostly converted to the carboxylate salt via mechanical treatment, biological nitrification and denitrification, and chemical phosphorus removal; however, ozonation and powdered activated carbon (PAC) treatment of effluent was able to effectively remove all of the emtricitabine and carboxylate salt (Funke et al., 2016). These studies indicate biological treatment is likely insufficient for complete removal and further tertiary treatment may be required.

Four studies examined the removal of atazanavir, all of which examining conventional processes with primary and secondary treatment and no chlorination. Atazanavir was detected in the effluent of wastewater treatment plants with concentrations ranging from 150 - 770 ng L⁻¹ (Singer et al., 2016; Ibáñez et al., 2017). The removal of atazanavir was monitored in treatment facilities involving primary sedimentation, activated sludge treatment, biological nitrification and phosphorus removal, and secondary sedimentation showed removal efficiencies ranging from -25 - 50% with influent concentrations ranging from 20 - 1400 ng L⁻¹ (Gago-Ferrero et al., 2020; Abafe et al., 2018). This suggests that atazanavir is inefficiently removed via conventional treatment processes.

Treatment of ritonavir in plants consisting of primary sedimentation, activated sludge process, and biological nitrification and phosphorus removal reported removal efficiencies ranging from 25 - 30% with influent concentrations ranging from 25 - 110 ng L⁻¹ and effluent concentrations ranging from 15 - 90 ng L⁻¹ (Margot et al., 2013; Gago-Ferrero et al., 2020). Treatment plants consisting of aerobic activated sludge nutrient removal, anaerobic digestion,

and chlorination found removal efficiencies ranging from 40 - 70% with influent concentrations ranging from 1600 - 3200 ng L⁻¹ and effluent concentrations ranging from 460 - 1500 ng L⁻¹ (Abafe et al., 2018). Based on this information, it is likely that ritonavir is removed partially by both biological and chlorination treatment, but further tertiary treatment is likely required for complete removal.

Efavirenz treatment was examined in three different studies, all of which reported quite different levels of removal. A study by Schoeman et al. (2017) found removal efficiencies ranging from 20 - 70% with influent concentrations ranging from 5000 - 14000 ng L⁻¹, however final effluent concentration remained constant. The study by Abafe et al. (2018) reported removal efficiencies ranging from roughly -50 - 50% with influent concentrations ranging from 24000 - 34000 ng L⁻¹ and effluent concentrations ranging from 20000 - 34000 ng L⁻¹, providing no clear conclusion on removal. Both the Schoeman and Abafe study examined treatment plants consisting of activated sludge and chlorination process trains, the results however provide little information on what the mechanism of removal may be. The study by Mhuka et al. (2020) reported an influent concentration of 1171 ng L⁻¹ and an effluent concentration of 1036 ng L⁻¹, however, did not report the process train used in the Daspoort Wastewater Treatment Works leaving a gap in required information. These studies leave a lot of research to be conducted to determine the removal mechanism of efavirenz and how effective conventional treatment is. Table 2. 3 summatizes the treatment processes for antivirals and relevant findings.

Table 2. 3 Treatment Processes for Antivirals and Relevant Findings.

| Antiviral | Region | Treatment Process | Relevant Findings | Reference |
|-----------|---------|------------------------|--------------------------|----------------------|
| Abacavir | Germany | Conventional treatment | >99% removal | Prasse et al. (2010) |

| | n/a | Electrochemical oxidation with Ti/SnO2-Sb anode | >97% removal in 10 minutes | Zhou et al. (2019) |
|------------|---------------------|---|--|---|
| | Germany | Conventional treatment | >99% removal | Funke et al. (2016) |
| | n/a South Africa | Ozone treatment Conventional treatment | 92% removal 75 - 100% removal | Ternes et al. (2017) Abafe et al. (2018) |
| | South Korea | Staged anaerobic fluidized membrane bioreactor | 62 - 100% removal | McCurry et al. (2014) |
| Acyclovir | Germany | Conventional treatment | 97% removal | Prasse et al. (2010) |
| | Germany | Conventional treatment | 91% removal | Funke et al. (2016) |
| | n/a | Ozone treatment | 99% removal | Ternes et al. (2017) |
| | South Korea | Staged anaerobic fluidized membrane bioreactor | 94 - 96% removal | McCurry et al. (2014) |
| | n/a | Ozone treatment | carboxy-acyclovir complete degradation, COFA formed | Schluter-Vorberg et al. (2015) |
| | n/a | Activated Sludge | $\begin{array}{ll}Biodegradation & half\\life 5.3 h, degradation\\rate constant 4.9 \pm 0.1\\L/gSS*d\end{array}$ | Prasse et al. (2011) |
| | n/a | Ozone treatment | rate with molecular ozone 1.8x104 M-1s- 1 for neutral form and 3.4x106 M-1s-1 | Prasse et al. (2012) |
| | n/a | UV/H2O2 | Rate constant (1.23±0.07)x109 M-1s-1 | Russo et al. (2017) |
| | n/a | Membrane bioreactor + ozone | 99% removal via MBR, further 99% removal via ozone | Mascolo et al. (2010) |
| Atazanavir | South Africa | Conventional treatment | -25 - 50% removal | Abafe et al. (2018) |
| | Switzerland | Conventional treatment | Detected in 5 of 6 samples at 150 - 770 ng/L | Singer et al. (2016) |
| | Athens | Conventional treatment | Detected in 7 of 7 effluent samples | Ibanez et al. (2017 |

| | Athens | Conventional treatment | No removal | Gago-Ferrero et al. (2020) |
|--------------------|--------------------|--|---|---|
| Amantadine | Japan | Conventional treatment | 7 - 13% removal primary treatment, 20 - 39% removal secondary treatment, 93% removal tertiary | Ghosh et al. (2010) |
| | Switzerland | Conventional treatment | Detected in 5 out of 6 samples from 22 - 100 ng/L | Singer et al. (2016) |
| | Athens | Conventional treatment | 33% removal | Gago-Ferrero et al. (2020) |
| | n/a | Fenton + ultrasonic process | 17.1% removal via fenton process, 30.5% removal via ultrasonic/H2O2, 65.6% removal combined | Zeng et al. (2015) |
| | n/a | Photocatalytic degradation | $\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$ | An et al. (2015) |
| Favipiravir | Japan | Photodegradation and biodegradation | 99% removla via photodegradation, persistent against biodegradation | Azuma et al. (2017) |
| Efavirenz | South Africa | Conventional treatment | -50 - 50% removal | Abafe et al. (2018) |
| | Germany | Conventional treatment | 70% removal | Schoeman et al. (2017) |
| | Pretoria | Conventional treatment | 12% removal | Mhuka et al. (2020) |
| Emtricitabine | Germany | Conventional treatment | 74% removal | Funke et al. (2016) |
| | n/a South Korea | Ozone treatment Staged anaerobic fluidized membrane bioreactor | 97% removal -63 - 83% removal | Ternes et al. (2017) McCurry et al. (2014) |
| | Athens | Conventional treatment | 54% removal | Gago-Ferrero et al. (2020) |
| Hydroxychloroquine | n/a | Electrochemical oxidation + UV/Sonication | Complete removal, improved efficiency when combined with UV and sonication | Bensalah et al. (2020) |

| | n/a | Photodegradation | Half life of 2.9 h | Dabic et al. (2019) |
|-------------|--------------|---|--|-------------------------|
| Lamivudine | Germany | Conventional treatment | >76 - >93% removal | Prasse et al. (2010) |
| | Germany | Conventional treatment | 93% removal | Funke et al. (2016) |
| | n/a | Ozone treatment | 94% removal | Ternes et al. (2017) |
| | South Africa | Conventional treatment | 90 - 100% removal | Abafe et al. (2018) |
| | South Korea | Staged anaerobic fluidized membrane bioreactor | 90 - 100% removal | McCurry et al. (2014) |
| | Pretoria | Conventional treatment | 90% removal | Mhuka et al. (2020) |
| | n/a | Photocatalytic degradation with TiO2 catalyst | Degradation rate of 0.542 min ^{-1,} complete degradation in 60 minutes | An et al. (2011) |
| | n/a | electrochemical oxidation with Ti/SnO2-Sb/Ce- PbO2 anode | Reaction rate ranging from $0.129 - 0.144$ min ⁻¹ , removal rate ranging from $91.4 - 96.0\%$ | Wang et al. (2019) |
| | n/a | UV/H2O2 | 95.56% removal | Feliciano et al. (2020) |
| Nevirapine | South Africa | Conventional treatment | 0 - 50% removal | Abafe et al. (2018) |
| | Germany | Conventional treatment | Accumulation through process | Schoeman et al. (2017) |
| | South Africa | Chlorine treatment | Ineffective for removal | Wood et al. (2016) |
| | n/a | Photocatalytic degradation | 68.5% removal maximum | Bhembe et al. (2020) |
| | Pretoria | Conventional treatment | Accumulation through process | Mhuka et al. (2020) |
| Oseltamivir | Germany | Conventional treatment | No removal | Prasse et al. (2010) |
| | Switzerland | Membrane bioreactor | $-42 \pm 149\%$ removal | Kovalova et al. (2012) |
| | Switzerland | PAC, ozone, UV | >63% removal via PACm 40% removal via UV | Kovalova et al. (2013) |

| Oseltamivir carboxylate | n/a | biodegradation via bioplastic formulation | Persistence against biodegradation with >50% removal in 30 days | Accinelli et al. (2010) |
|----------------------------|--------------|---|---|----------------------------|
| | Switzerland | Ozone and hydroxyl radical | 50% removal | Mestankova et al. (2012) |
| | Germany | Conventional treatment | 59% removal | Prasse et al. (2010) |
| | Switzerland | Membrane bioreactor | $18 \pm 62\%$ removal | Kovalova et al. (2012) |
| | Switzerland | PAC, ozone, UV | >36% removal via PAC, -2% removal via UV | Kovalova et al. (2013) |
| | Japan | Conventional treatment | >10% removal in primary treatment, 15 - 37% removal in secondary, 90% removal in tertiary | Ghosh et al. (2010) |
| Remdesivir | n/a | Photodegradation | No removal | Avataneo et al. (2020) |
| Ritonavir | Switzerland | Membrane bioreactor | $78 \pm 16\%$ removal | Kovalova et al. (2012) |
| | Switzerland | PAC, ozone, UV | >87% removal via PAC | Kovalova et al. (2013) |
| | South Africa | Conventional treatment | 40 - 70% removal | Abafe et al. (2018) |
| | Pretoria | Conventional treatment | -76% removal | Mhuka et al. (2020) |
| | Athens | Conventional treatment | 16% removal | Gago-Ferrero et al. (2020) |
| | Switzerland | Conventional treatment, ozone, PAC-UV | WWTP removal 25%, ozone removal >78%, PAC-UF removal >56% | Margot et al. (2013) |

2.4.2 Biological Treatment

Biological treatment is a common method of wastewater treatment due to its low cost, ease of application, and the abundance of pre-existing knowledge around its use. Biological treatment encompasses many types of treatment, such as maturation ponds and activated sludge, that all revolve around the use of microbial communities to remove contaminants from water. Many biological treatment processes such as activated sludge also incorporate the physical process of adsorption which can work to remove micropollutants (Akhtar et al., 2016). These processes are often combined with other physical and chemical processes to improve their efficiency. Several different treatment methods can be classified as biological including activated sludge, anaerobic digestion, biological nitrification/denitrification, and others. Biological treatment is an essential process of wastewater micropollutant removal, however, critical information is still lacking such as the main drivers of biological removal and critical parameters such required retention times, nutrient requirements, and temperature, that affect degradation efficiency (Falas et al., 2016; Kanaujiya et al., 2019). This lack of critical information has resulted in a gap in knowledge of the overall effectiveness of biological treatment towards antiviral drugs.

Anaerobic digestion is an area of wastewater treatment that is gaining interest in academics due to its potential for energy production and storage via microbial fuel cell (MFC) technology (Wee Seow et al., 2016). Research examining the removal efficiency of certain abundant micropollutants via anaerobic digestion has accompanied MFC research, however, research examining antivirals specifically is severely lacking. A staged anaerobic fluidized membrane bioreactor (SAF-MBR) was used to assess the removal of four antiviral drugs, including acyclovir, abacavir, emtricitabine, and lamivudine (McCurry et al., 2014). The study found that acyclovir, abacavir, and lamivudine were efficiently removed while emtricitabine showed moderate removal when operated with a hydraulic retention time (HRT) of 6.8 h and a sludge/solid retention time (SRT) of 36 days. Although the results are promising, staged anaerobic fluidized bed membrane bioreactor (SAF-MBR) is a new technology which is not widely commercially available (Yoo et al., 2012) and may not be representative of standard anaerobic digestion. Research that has been performed examining the efficacy of anaerobic

digestion on the removal of micropollutants is inconsistent. As an illustration, the removal efficiencies of mesophilic anaerobic digestion (MAD) and thermophilic anaerobic digestion (TAD) on common micropollutants were found to be significant different for the removals of Ibuprofen (IBF), Naproxen (NPX), and Triclosan (TCS) (Gonzalez-Gil et al., 2016; Samaras et al., 2014). IBF removal efficiencies ranged from 20 - 30% to 90 - 100%, NPX ranged from 80 - 90% to 90 - 100%, and TCS ranged from 15 - 25% to 60 - 80%. Other common micropollutants such as estrone and Estradiol showed more consistency with no degradation found during the anerobic process (Congiloski et al., 2020; Gonzalez-Gil et al., 2016). The failure of consistent results makes it difficult to determine if anaerobic digestion can be an effective agent for the removal of antivirals making further research necessary before any claims can be made.

Activated sludge treatment is a common aerobic method for the treatment of municipal sewage. The main process involved in activated sludge is the ability of the aerobic microorganisms to digest organic matter and form flocs, allowing them to settle out and be easily removed (Ranjit et al., 2021). The effectiveness of activated sludge varied greatly depending on the antiviral being examined. The degradation of the antiviral drugs abacavir, emtricitabine, and lamivudine was examined via activated sludge using both bench-scale experiments and full-scale processes (Funke et al., 2016; McCurry et al., 2014). The degradation of abacavir was studied in both a benchtop scale which found a half life ($t_{1/2}$) of 0.44 ± 0.003 h and a k_{biol} of 55.8 ± 1.8 L d⁻¹ g_{ss} ⁻¹ and in a full-scale treatment plant which found high removal (70 – 80%) in a WWTP with an HRT of 9.9 – 11.4 h and a SRT of 24.2 – 27.7 days (Funke et al., 2016; McCurry et al., 2014). The same studies examined emtricitabine which had $t_{1/2} = 12.8 \pm 0.07$ h and a k_{biol} of 1.95 ± 0.05 L d⁻¹ g_{ss} ⁻¹ and only minimal removal (40 – 60%) in full-scale treatment. These studies also looked at lamivudine which possessed a $t_{1/2} = 8.7 \pm 0.06$ h and a k_{biol} of 2.88 ± 0.05 L d⁻¹ g_{ss} ⁻¹

and high removal (70 - 80%) in full scale treatment. The research agrees that abacavir and lamivudine are removed efficiently via activated sludge, however, emtricitabine showed significantly lower removal in the full-scale process. Nevirapine and efavirenz removal in WWTPs resulted in neither drug experienced any significant change in concentration through two aeration tanks in a facility in Gauteng, South Africa (Schoeman et al., 2017). This suggests that nevirapine and efavirenz are resistant to biodegradation in the activated sludge process. A bench scale study determined the half life of acyclovir of 5.3 h and the degradation rate constant $4.9 \pm 0.1 \text{ L g}_{ss}^{-1} \text{ d}^{-1}$ with complete conversion in 24 h (Prasse et al., 2011); a full-scale study found a removal efficiency of between 60 - 70% for an HRT of 9.9 - 11.4 h and a SRT of 24.2 - 10.4 h and a SRT of 24.2 - 10.27.7 days (McCurry et al., 2014). Based on this information, acyclovir is likely not completely removed in conventional activated sludge treatment. Oseltamivir carboxylate was found to have minimal removal via activated sludge process, with only 20 - 40% removal in a 30-day incubation period, this degradation however increased to >50% removal upon the addition of a Phanerochaete chrysosporium granular bioplastic (Accinelli et al., 2010). This suggests that oseltamivir carboxylate is not removed significantly from conventional activated sludge treatment.

2.4.3 Advanced Oxidation Processes

Advanced oxidation processes (AOPs) are other, less common methods of organic removal due to them being relatively new compared to biological and mechanical treatment methods, and often expensive. Advanced oxidation processes involve the *in-situ* generation of the hydroxyl radical, a very strong oxidant which is used to accelerate the oxidation process (Bolton et al., 2001). Many organic compounds are resistant to conventional biological degradation processes, or may be toxic to the microbial process, thus the use of AOPs to

mineralize them or convert them to biodegradable compounds is vital (Stasinakis, 2008). The use of AOPs has proven to be a strong option for the attenuation of organic micropollutants (Miklos et al., 2018). AOPs can be categorized into ozone-based, UV-based, electrochemical, and catalytic processes (Miklos et al., 2018). These processes have been briefly examined with respect to antiviral drugs, but significantly more work needs to be done to fully understand the processes.

Ozone treatment is commonly used due to its high oxidizing capacity and the removal of halogenated compounds from effluent that arise from chlorine treatment. The process, however, comes at a higher cost due to the requirement to produce the ozone directly on site (Rice, 1997). Ozone, which has an oxidation potential of 2.07 V (relative to H₂ electrode) has a higher potential than other common disinfectants such as chlorine (Ikehata et al., 2005). Ozonation of the antiviral metabolite oseltamivir carboxylate was examined by a few studies; a bench scale study found an ozone degradation rate of 1.7 (± 0.1) x 10⁵ M⁻¹s⁻¹ at pH 7 with ozone doses ranging from $0.05 - 0.5 \text{ mg O}_3 \cdot \text{mg}^{-1}$ DOC (dissolved organic carbon) (Mestankova et al., 2012), and a full-scale study in Kyoto found a removal rate of >90% in ozone tertiary treatment (Ghosh et al., 2010). This data suggests that ozone is effective for the removal of oseltamivir carboxylate but fails to examine the effectiveness on the parent drug oseltamivir phosphate. Two studies examined the ozonation of the antiviral drugs abacavir, emtricitabine, and lamivudine. A pilot scale study found that ozonation was able to reduce the concentration of abacavir, emtricitabine, and lamivudine including their carboxy-transition products to below the limit of quantification when treated with an ozone dose of 0.83 ± 0.15 g O₃ · g⁻¹ DOC and an HRT of 20 min (Funke et al., 2016). Another pilot scale study noted removal rates of 92%, 97%, and 94% for carboxyabacavir, carboxy-emtricitabine, and carboxy-lamivudine, respectively with an ozone

consumption of 0.98 ± 0.24 g O₃ · g⁻¹ DOC and an HRT of 17 ± 3 min (Ternes et al., 2017). These studies on abacavir, emtricitabine, and lamivudine suggest efficient removal via ozonation. A study examining the removal efficiency of amantadine by ozonation found a removal efficiency of >90% in a full-scale treatment plant in Kyoto throughout the whole process (Ghosh et al., 2010) suggesting effective removal. Several studies have examined the ozonation of acyclovir and carboxy-acyclovir; Ternes et al., (2017) found elimination of 99% for carboxy-acyclovir with an ozone consumption of 0.98 ± 0.24 g O₃ · g⁻¹ DOC and a HRT of 17 ± 3 min; Prasse et al. (2012) found oxidation rate constants for molecular ozone to be 1.8×10^4 M⁻¹s⁻¹ for the neutral form and 3.4×10^6 M⁻¹s⁻¹ for the deprotonated form of carboxy-acyclovir using a large excess of O₃ and sampling at intervals of 10 - 15 s. These studies suggest that ozone is effective for the removal of many resilient antivirals however there is little information on the mechanism or resulting byproducts from this method, leaving room for continual research.

Photochemical advanced oxidation processes work to produce hydroxyl radicals via reaction of species such as H_2O_2 and O_3 with UV light, this process can be catalyzed to speed up the process using Fe²⁺ ions (Fenton process) or via heterogeneous catalysis using species such as TiO₂ (Litter & Quici, 2010). A pilot-scale study examining the effectiveness of tertiary treatment of micropollutants tested photocatalyzed 254 nm UV/TiO₂ processes and found oseltamivir removal of $3 \pm 4\%$, $19 \pm 1\%$, and $40 \pm 0\%$ with an influent concentration of 36 ng L⁻¹ and oseltamivir carboxylate removal of 3%, 6%, and -2% with an influent concentration of 124 ng L⁻¹ for UV dosages of 800, 2400, and 7200 J·m⁻² respectively with an HRT of 18 s (Kovalova et al., 2013). Another study examining the effects of AOPs on oseltamivir carboxylate found hydroxyl radicals produced by photolysis of H₂O₂ at a bench-scale produced a rate constant of 4.7 (±0.2) x 10^9 M⁻¹s⁻¹ with a H₂O₂ concentration of 10 mM (Mestankova et al., 2012). There is

significant deviation in the findings of these studies, potentially due to the scale of the experiments or due to the presence of H_2O_2 . A bench-scale study examining the effectiveness of photochemical AOPs for the removal of acyclovir found a rate constant of $1.23 \pm 0.07 \text{ x} 10^9 \text{ M}^-$ ¹s⁻¹ for UV₂₅₄/H₂O₂ with an average fluorescence rate of 4.7 mW cm⁻², suggesting effective removal via this process (Russo et al., 2017). Two studies examined the efficacy of photochemical degradation for the antiviral drug lamivudine; a study by Feliciano et al. (2020) found degradation up to 95.6% with 5 and 10 mg L⁻¹ lamivudine solutions after 120 minutes using a UV/H₂O₂ process with 250 mg L^{-1} H₂O₂ and UV-C radiation. A study by An et al. (2011) found a degradation rate constant up to 0.0542 min⁻¹ using TiO₂ catalyzed photodegradation with a 365 nm mercury lamp with a light intensity of 0.38 mW cm⁻². These studies suggest removal of lamivudine is possible but very slow under photochemical conditions; potential further research into this antiviral is likely necessary to improve efficiency. Amantadine was examined in two separate catalyzed photochemical studies; Zeng et al. (2015) found a removal efficiency of only 17.1% after 60 minutes via the Fenton process, and a study by An et al. (2015) using TiO₂ catalyzed photodegradation found rate constants of 0.076 min⁻¹ and 0.084 min⁻¹ for 1-amantadine and 2-amantadine, respectively. These studies suggest that photochemical oxidation is insufficient for the removal of amantadine. Significantly, more research needs to be placed into photochemical AOPs, as there is a lack of information on the removal mechanisms and best catalytic practices for treatment of antiviral drugs and their metabolites.

Electrochemical oxidation has been found to be an effective and environmental conscious way to mineralize non-biodegradable organic matter, allowing it to be easily removed during treatment processes (Anglada et al., 2009). The process can be categorized into two types of oxidations: direct oxidation involves the diffusion of pollutants onto the anode surface where

they are oxidized, and indirect oxidation involves the generation of a strong oxidizing agent at the surface of the anode (Garcia-Segura et al., 2018). The process has a few design considerations that need to be examined when designing the process, these include choice of an electrode material that effects selectivity and efficacy of the process, cell configuration which is needed to maintain high mass transfer rates, and operating conditions such as current density and temperature (Angalada et al., 2009). A study examining the degradation of hydroxychloroquine via electrochemical oxidation with a boron-doped diamond anode found a rate constant of 0.0226 min⁻¹ for direct electrochemical oxidation, 0.0402 min⁻¹ for combined sonication, and 0.0842 min⁻¹ for combined UV radiation with HCQ concentration of 250 mg L⁻¹ and current intensity of 20 mA cm⁻² (Bensalah et al., 2020). This data showed the complete removal of hydroxychloroquine from aqueous solution suggesting strong a capacity for degradation. Zhou et al. (2019) examined the removal of abacavir using a porous Ti/SnO₂-Sb tipped anode where a degradation efficiency of 97% was found in 10 minutes with a current density of 0.2 mA cm⁻² and a corresponding rate constant of 0.36 min⁻¹. This study proposes high efficiency for the removal of abacavir but also states a low TOC removal of 3.7% in 10 minutes, suggesting the possibility of high selectivity in the process. The removal of lamivudine was examined using a Ti/ SnO₂-Sb/Ce-PbO₂ anode electrochemical process using bicarbonate as an enhancement was able to achieve degradation rate constants ranging from $0.129 - 0.144 \text{ min}^{-1}$ and corresponding removal efficiencies from 91.4 – 96.0% (Wang et al., 2019). The same study found increasing HCO₃⁻ resulted in increasing rate constant up to 14.53 min⁻¹ and decreasing energy consumption from 28.97 to 0.58 Wh L⁻¹ at 50 mM, which they attribute to the formation of CO_3 . Electrochemical AOPs are promising technologies that, with further research into methods and catalysts, may prove to be effective methods for treatment of resilient antivirals.

2.5 Environmental Fate of Antiviral Drugs

Antiviral drugs, like other pharmaceuticals, could enter water systems due to incomplete metabolization in patients and further urinary excretion (Prasse et al., 2010). Wastewater treatment plants are unable to remove all these drugs from the wastewater, resulting in significant quantities being discharged from the facilities (Prasse et al., 2010). An overview of how antiviral drugs enter ground and surface waters is shown in Figure 2.3. There is a lack of information regarding the specific modes of transport in the natural environment, however, data from other drugs suggest that the hydrogeological conditions, dissolved organic matter, and physical conditions of the aquatic environment may affect the movement of antivirals (Kumar et al., 2020). The concentrations of many antiviral drugs have been documented in natural waters such as rivers, lakes, and groundwaters and have been proven to be persistent in some cases as seen in Table 2.4 (Jain et al., 2013). Factors affecting the persistence of antiviral drugs include photodegradation, adsorption, and biodegradation.



Figure 2. 3 Pathway of Antivirals into Aquatic Environment from Various Sources.

| Antiviral Drug | Highest Reported Concentration | Location | Reference |
|-------------------------|------------------------------------|--------------|-------------------------|
| Oseltamivir | 165.9 ng L ⁻¹ | Japan | Takanami et al., 2012 |
| Oseltamivir Carboxylate | 556.9 ng L ⁻¹ | Japan | Takanami et al., 2012 |
| | 58 μg L ⁻¹ | Japan | Söderström et al., 2009 |
| Abacavir | $< 43.1 \text{ ng } \text{L}^{-1}$ | South Africa | Wood et al., 2015 |
| | 92 ng L ⁻¹ | Germany | Funke et al., 2016 |
| | 220 ng L ⁻¹ | Germany | Prasse et al., 2010 |
| emtricitabine | $< 33 \text{ ng } \text{L}^{-1}$ | South Africa | Mlunguza et al., 2020 |
| | 280 ng L ⁻¹ | Germany | Funke et al., 2016 |
| Efavirenz | < 519.0 ng L ⁻¹ | South Africa | Wood et al., 2015 |
| | < 380 ng L ⁻¹ | South Africa | Mlunguza et al., 2020 |
| | 148 ng L ⁻¹ | South Africa | Wooding et al., 2017 |
| Nevirapine | 1480 ng L ⁻¹ | South Africa | Wood et al., 2015 |
| | 227 ng L ⁻¹ | South Africa | Wooding et al., 2017 |
| | $< 410 \text{ ng } \text{L}^{-1}$ | South Africa | Ngumba et al., 2020 |
| | 6 μg L ⁻¹ | Kenya | K'oreje et al., 2016 |
| Ritonavir | < 156.6 ng L ⁻¹ | South Africa | Wood et al., 2015 |
| | 489 ng L ⁻¹ | South Africa | Wood et al., 2017 |
| Acyclovir | 750 ng L ⁻¹ | Germany | Funke et al., 2016 |
| | 1800 ng L ⁻¹ | Germany | Prasse et al., 2010 |
| Lamivudine | 230 ng L ⁻¹ | Germany | Funke et al., 2016 |
| | 720 ng L ⁻¹ | Germany | Prasse et al., 2010 |
| | 167 μg L ⁻¹ | Kenya | K'oreje et al., 2016 |

Table 2. 4 Concentrations of Antiviral Drugs Found in Natural Water Systems

Photolysis is a process which involves the absorption of light energy to promote an electron into an excited state; this excited state allows the molecule to undergo chemical reactions which cannot take place in ground state conditions (Jordaan and Shapi, 2017). The photolysis transformation pathway is important for many organic pollutants as it predicts the outcome of these molecules in surface waters (Zhou et al., 2015). Direct photolysis of antivirals

is generally ineffective. Studies have shown that the drugs remdesivir, nevirapine, lamivudine, acyclovir, oseltamivir, oseltamivir carboxylate, abacavir, emtricitabine, ritonavir, and amantadine are resistant to direct photolysis (Avataneo et al., 2020; Bhembe et al., 2020; Zhou et al., 2015; Bartels and von Tümpling, 2008; Vukkum et al., 2012; Hamarapurkar and Parate, 2013; Nageswara Rao et al., 2010; Azuma et al., 2017). Indirect photolysis is transformation due to reaction with intermediates formed via photolysis of other compounds, has been shown to be more effective against acyclovir, lamivudine, and oseltamivir carboxylate (Bartels and von Tümpling, 2008; Zhou et al., 2015). Studies have suggested that direct photolysis is however effective for the transformation of hydroxychloroquine and favipiravir, suggesting their environmental persistence is limited (Azuma et al., 2017; Dabić et al., 2019). Many studies have examined photodegradation of antivirals, however, few of them examined these processes in real water matrices, leaving the environmental fate of many compounds' unknown.

Adsorption is another pathway in which antiviral drugs move in a natural water system, this pathway involves the antiviral drugs adhering onto sediments in the water, losing mobility. Natural adsorption is not a method of removal or degradation of antivirals but a change in mobility. Non-polar organic micropollutants such as some antivirals which adsorb to sediments have low bioavailability to marine animals, but also result in bioaccumulation (Neff et al., 1984). This bioaccumulation may result in a less wide-spread issue but may cause more significant negative effects in certain locations. Antiviral drugs which have a higher value of solubility directly correlate to a higher level of bioavailability (Neff et al., 1984); higher solubility correlates with a greater range of potential contamination as well as exposure to a greater variety of species. Little information is available regarding the natural sorption of antivirals in natural waters, and thus it is unclear how many of these pollutants behave. A study of Sorption of

antiviral drugs found that coefficients of sorption to river sediment (log K_d) values fell in the range of 0.1 - 0.14, which is approximately 3 - 4 orders of magnitude less than those reported by many other pharmaceuticals (Azuma et al., 2017). Among the drugs tested were amantadine, favipiravir, oseltamivir, and oseltamivir carboxylate; the study suggests that the extent of adsorption onto river sediments for these antivirals is negligibly small.

Biodegradation of antivirals in the environment is a method of determining how long these drugs will remain in their current form. Microorganisms present in natural waters have the potential to breakdown organic materials and use them as an energy source, however some organic compounds are more susceptible to this process than others. Research on the natural biodegradation of antivirals is very limited, however it is believed that the majority of antiviral drugs are resistant to these processes. A study by Azuma et al. (2017) determined that the biodegradability of oseltamivir was high, but biodegradability of amantadine, favipiravir, and oseltamivir carboxylate were very limited in river water. A study found that oseltamivir carboxylate had a half life of around 18 days but failed to determine if the main factor was biodegradation or indirect photolysis (Bartels and von Tümpling, 2008). Research by Vanková (2010) determined the percent biodegradability for nevirapine and lamivudine to be 3% and -3% respectively. These studies reinforce the assumption that natural biodegradation of antivirals is very limited.

The fate of antivirals in natural waters is lacking information, and this lack of research is limiting our ability to fully understand the scale of the problem. Currently, there is significantly more research looking into preventing the release of these pollutants, but more focus needs to be made to determine the repercussions of treatment. It is vital to understand the the potential hazardous effects of antiviral drugs in the environment to provide information on which drugs are the highest concern. An understanding of which drugs are present in local wastewaters and which drugs cause the most potential harm will allow researchers and plant operators to focus their attention on the most pressing issues.

2.6 Environmental Toxicological Effects of Antivirals

Antiviral drugs create a serious potential issue due to their toxicological effects in the environment. Environmental issues related to the toxicology of antivirals are complex and may be present in different ways. Effects that these drugs may have on the environment include drinking water contamination, toxic effects towards marine organisms, and development of resistance (Schwarzenbach et al., 2006). The antiviral drugs themselves are not the only cause of toxicological concern, studies have suggested that the metabolites, photoproducts, and oxidation products may be equally so or more toxic than the parent compounds (Prasse et al., 2012; Dabic et al., 2019). Therefore, it is vital to have a complete understanding of the potential effects of these drugs so that policy- and lawmakers can make informed decisions regarding which pollutants must be treated and removed.

Environmental toxicological effects are vitally important to understand, exposure to these drugs can cause issues such as genotoxicity and endocrine disruption, making it a significant environmental problem (Feliciano et al., 2020). The ecotoxicity of antiviral drugs is poorly understood and under-studied, with only a small portion of them having any relevant information. One study examining the environmental effect of triazoles found Ribavirin had no significant toxicological effect on zebrafish embryo or *Daphnia Magna*, suggesting that its potential impact is relatively low (Durjava et al., 2013). The toxicological effects of oseltamivir were studied on both fish and daphnia, both of which did not show any effect at concentrations as high as 1 mg L⁻¹, suggesting low ecotoxic potential (Straub, 2009). Efavirenz is expected to be

environmentally hazardous due to its environmental persistence, a study found that dosing the fish *O. Mossambicus* with as low as 10.3 ng/L efavirenz may lead to increased risk of developing liver damage, functional organ loss, and declines in fish health (Robson et al., 2017). Nevirapine has shown mixed results in toxicological testing. Oliveira et al. (2014) found that nevirapine dosing did not lead to any acute toxicity or DNA damage in mice; however, Wood et al. (2016) found an average Inhibitory concentration-50 (IC₅₀) of 0.03 ug/L for 293T cells, suggesting significant toxic effects.

The toxicological impact of some antivirals does not come from the parent drug, but instead from the degradation byproducts produced during treatment. In the case of lamivudine, a study examined the toxicity of pre- and post-treatment lamivudine solution on L. *Sativa* which found an average seed germination decrease from 8.33 for control, to 5 for untreated solution, to 3 for photo-Fenton treated solution, suggesting that toxicity of lamivudine increases as byproducts are formed (Feliciano et al., 2020). A drug of significant interest recently is acyclovir, which has been shown to have a particularly toxic disinfection byproduct N-(4-carbamoyl-2-imino-5-oxoimidazolidin) – formamido-N-methoxyacetic acid (COFA). Acyclovir was shown to be non-toxic to both D. rerio and D. Magna suggesting that the drug has low toxicity (Schutler-Vorberg et al., 2015). Carboxy-acyclovir, the metabolite of acyclovir, was found a significant increase in toxicity towards D. magna (Schutler-Vorberg et al., 2015) but no bacterial toxicity was observed for V. *fischeri* (Prasse et al., 2012). COFA however was found to be toxic toward algae and V. *fischeri*, significantly decreasing growth rate in both species (Schutler-Vorberg et al., 2015; Prasse et al., 2012).

Development of drug resistance in environmental communities is especially underresearched for antiviral drugs, and very little is known about the mechanisms or possibility of resistance development. A study found that treating mallard ducks infected with influenza A and H1N1 with oseltamivir caused the mutation H274Y in the neuraminidase gene, causing resistance to the drug (Jarhult et al., 2011). This development was found by exposing the ducks to just 1 μ g L⁻¹ oseltamivir carboxylate for 5 days in their water, suggesting that even very low oseltamivir concentrations can cause significant effects

Toxicology of antivirals requires significant further research, as many antivirals have not seen any data towards their potential toxicological effects. Testing more drugs, their byproducts, and testing against a greater variety of species would be a strong first step in improving out knowledge of environmental toxicology.

2.7 Future Research Directions

Information in this literature review discussing the types, occurrence, detection methods, treatment methods, environmental fate, and toxicological effects of antiviral drugs, shows that there are gaps in our current knowledge. This paper describes the lack of removal of many antiviral drugs such as oseltamivir, emtricitabine, efavirenz, nevirapine, atazanavir, ritonavir, and amantadine by conventional wastewater treatment systems such as mechanical and biological treatments. Advanced oxidation processes such as ozone treatment and UV/H₂O₂ processes have been shown to improve degradation for antiviral drugs including ritonavir, oseltamivir, and emtricitabine. The analytical methods as well as their limits of detection in various water matrices are also shown in the paper. It was found that HPLC-MS used with an SPE sample preparation is the most common way for quantification of antiviral drugs. The antiviral drugs efavirenz and nevirapine were found to have potentially toxic environmental effects while lamivudine and acyclovir were found to have toxic disinfection byproducts.

Biological treatment is a very important aspect of treatment plants worldwide, however many studies have shown that it is ineffective for the removal of antiviral drugs. Anaerobic digestion has only been lightly researched on its ability to remove antiviral drugs, and within this research there has been significant variability between studies. Further research needs to be done both for examining a greater variety of antiviral drugs and more studies attempting to replicate previous results to ensure the results being produced are accurate. Aerobic biological treatments have had significantly more research done however information is still lacking for many antiviral drugs and often the kinetics or mechanisms of removal are not discussed in detail. Further research needs to be done in bench scale studies examining mechanisms, kinetics, and factors affecting each to establish a better overall understanding of the overall process.

Advanced oxidation processes such as ozone, photochemical, and electrochemical disinfection have shown a lot of promise towards the removal of antiviral drugs however there are many information gaps that still need to be filled. For many antivirals, there has been little to no information regarding how effective the removal is, and even fewer studies discussing the reaction mechanisms, leaving many unanswered questions about how effective these processes really are. Another issue surrounding advanced oxidation processes is the shortage of studies examining full scale systems, determining if the processes are as effective in full- or pilot-scale as they are in bench-scale experiments is vital to introducing the new processes on a global scale. Ozonation has been shown to be effective for the removal of many resilient antivirals, and it has been argued that it has a lower risk of producing toxic disinfection byproducts due to halogens not being introduced, however it has been shown that even ozone disinfection can lead to production of toxic products (Prasse et al., 2012). Further studies need to be done examining the toxicity of antiviral solutions before and after disinfection, this will help to identify possible

issues stemming from these treatment methods. Photocatalytic processes have been shown to improve degradation efficiency compared to traditional photochemical degradation, suggesting that further research into different methods or materials for catalysis may prove to be very useful when looking at especially resilient antivirals.

One significant area of research that is currently lacking is the knowledge of byproducts, intermediates, or disinfection products. Knowledge of these potential pollutants being created from treatment is vital, as it has been reported in the literature they can be just as or more dangerous as the parent compounds. Increased knowledge in this area first needs to come from monitoring pathways of degradation from multiple processes, and the quantity of these species being formed. Further research needs to be conducted to determine the toxicity and environmental fate of treatment byproducts, this will help us determine which antiviral drugs and which treatment methods generate the largest risk of dangerous byproduct production. Increased knowledge around these byproducts will also create the requirement for further research to be conducted on the capability of various treatment options to remove these byproducts, and methods for detection of the potentially huge number of products being produced in both wastewater and natural water. Disinfection byproducts of antivirals seems to be an area that has been relatively ignored by much of the scientific community, with few articles focussing on the potential damage these products may have.

The environmental fate of antivirals is an area which has seen minimal research which could prove detrimental to some ecosystems. Information on where antiviral drugs accumulate, depending on their adsorption, infiltration, or solubility, is relatively unknown. Further information on how antiviral drugs act in their environment is important to predict whether drugs may end up accumulating in lakes, groundwaters, or adsorbed on to sediments. The time for which antivirals persist in the environment is also lacking information, drugs that tend to be persistent may have a higher prevalence in biological communities increasing the potential for development of resistance and toxic effects. Finally, the toxic effects of both the antiviral drugs and their byproducts needs to be examined to a greater extent. Studies must focus on greater varieties of compounds and on more diverse species, every species will react differently to exposure, thus it is unrealistic to assume that a lack of toxicity in one species will prove to be equivalent in others.

2.8 Conclusion

Given the lack of information on the use and consequences of advanced oxidation processes for the removal of antiviral drugs, it's clear that there is a current need for further research into this area. Complete removal of antiviral drugs from wastewater treatment plants should be a necessity for modern facilities. Furthermore, understanding the consequences of our treatment including how non-degraded substances impact local ecosystems and the byproducts that are produced during treatment need to be better understood. Among the possibilities for antiviral removal, ozonation and electrochemical processes appear to be promising effective methods for especially difficult pollutants. Research into optimization of conditions will be required to achieve the most efficient treatment of antiviral drugs in order to provide the highest possible quality effluent.

References

- Abafe, O. A., Späth, J., Fick, J., Jansson, S., Buckley, C., Stark, A., Pietruschka, B., Martincigh, B. S. (2018). LC-MS/MS determination of antiretroviral drugs in influents and effluents from wastewater treatment plants in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. *Chemosphere*, 200, 660-670.
- Accinelli, C., Saccà, M. L., Batisson, I., Fick, J., Mencarelli, M., & Grabic, R. (2010). Removal of oseltamivir (Tamiflu) and other selected pharmaceuticals from wastewater using a

granular bioplastic formulation entrapping propagules of Phanerochaete chrysosporium. *Chemosphere*, *81*(3), 436-443.

Adkins, J. C., & Noble, S. (1998). Efavirenz. Drugs, 56(6), 1055-1064.

- Agrawal, U., Raju, R., & Udwadia, Z. F. (2020). Favipiravir: A new and emerging antiviral option in COVID-19. *Medical Journal Armed Forces India*.
- Akhtar, M. F., Ashraf, M., Javeed, A., Anjum, A. A., Sharif, A., Saleem, A., Akhtar, B., Khan, A. M., Altaf, I. (2016). Toxicity appraisal of untreated dyeing industry wastewater based on chemical characterization and short term bioassays. *Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, 96(4), 502-507.
- Aminot, Y., Litrico, X., Chambolle, M., Arnaud, C., Pardon, P., & Budzindki, H. (2015). Development and application of a multi-residue method for the determination of 53 pharmaceuticals in water, sediment, and suspended solids using liquid chromatographytandem mass spectrometry. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, 407(28), 8585-8604.
- An, J., Li, G., An, T., Song, W., Feng, H., & Lu, Y. (2015). Photocatalytic degradation of three amantadine antiviral drugs as well as their eco-toxicity evolution. *Catalysis Today*, 258, 602-609.
- An, T., An, J., Yang, H., Li, G., Feng, H., & Nie, X. (2011). Photocatalytic degradation kinetics and mechanism of antivirus drug-lamivudine in TiO2 dispersion. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 197, 229-236.
- Anglada, A., Urtiaga, A., & Ortiz, I. (2009). Contributions of electrochemical oxidation to waste-water treatment: fundamentals and review of applications. *Journal of Chemical Technology & Biotechnology*, 84(12), 1747-1755.
- Apostolova, N., Blas-Garcia, A., Galindo, M. J., & Esplugues, J. V. (2017). Efavirenz: what is known about the cellular mechanisms responsible for its adverse effects. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 812, 163-173.
- Arabi, Y. M., Fowler, R., & Hayden, F. G. (2020). Critical care management of adults with community-acquired severe respiratory viral infection. *Intensive Care Medicine*, 46(2), 315-328.
- Avataneo, V., De Nicolò, A., Cusato, J., Antonucci, M., Manca, A., Palermiti, A., Waitt, C., Walimbwa, S., Lamorde, M., Di Perri, G. (2020). Development and validation of a UHPLC-MS/MS method for quantification of the prodrug remdesivir and its metabolite GS-441524: a tool for clinical pharmacokinetics of SARS-CoV-2/COVID-19 and Ebola virus disease. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 75(7), 1772-1777.

- Azuma, T., Ishida, M., Hisamatsu, K., Yunoki, A., Otomo, K., Kunitou, M., Shimizu, M., Hosomaru, K., Mikata, S., Mino, Y. (2017). Fate of new three anti-influenza drugs and one prodrug in the water environment. *Chemosphere*, 169, 550-557.
- Bartels, P., & von Tümpling Jr, W. (2008). The environmental fate of the antiviral drug oseltamivir carboxylate in different waters. *Science of the Total Environment*, 405(1-3), 215-225.
- Beaucourt, S., & Vignuzzi, M. (2014). Ribavirin: a drug active against many viruses with multiple effects on virus replication and propagation. Molecular basis of ribavirin resistance. *Current Opinion in Virology*, *8*, 10-15.
- Bensalah, N., Midassi, S., Ahmad, M. I., & Bedoui, A. (2020). Degradation of hydroxychloroquine by electrochemical advanced oxidation processes. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 402, 126279.
- Bentué-Ferrer, D., Arvieux, C., Tribut, O., Ruffault, A., & Bellissant, E. (2009). Clinical pharmacology, efficacy and safety of atazanavir: a review. *Expert Opinion on Drug Metabolism & Toxicology*, 5(11), 1455-1468.
- Bhembe, Y. A., Lukhele, L. P., Hlekelele, L., Ray, S. S., Sharma, A., Vo, D.-V. N., & Dlamini, L. N. (2020). Photocatalytic degradation of nevirapine with a heterostructure of fewlayer black phosphorus coupled with niobium (V) oxide nanoflowers (FL-BP@ Nb2O5). *Chemosphere*, 261, 128159.
- Bolton, J. R., Bircher, K. G., Tumas, W., & Tolman, C. A. (2001). Figures-of-merit for the technical development and application of advanced oxidation technologies for both electric-and solar-driven systems (IUPAC Technical Report). *Pure and Applied Chemistry*, 73(4), 627-637.
- Chandwani, A., & Shuter, J. (2008). Lopinavir/ritonavir in the treatment of HIV-1 infection: a review. *Therapeutics and Clinical Risk Management*, 4(5), 1023.
- Chiou, H.-E., Liu, C.-L., Buttrey, M. J., Kuo, H.-P., Liu, H.-W., Kuo, H.-T., & Lu, Y.-T. (2005). Adverse effects of ribavirin and outcome in severe acute respiratory syndrome: experience in two medical centers. *Chest*, *128*(1), 263-272.
- Chowdhury, M. A., Derar, N., Hasan, S., Hinch, B., Ratnam, S., & Assaly, R. (2016). Acyclovir-induced neurotoxicity: a case report and review of literature. *American Journal of Therapeutics*, 23(3), e941-e943.
- Congilosi, J. L., & Aga, D. S. (2021). Review on the fate of antimicrobials, antimicrobial resistance genes, and other micropollutants in manure during enhanced anaerobic digestion and composting. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 405, 123634.

Croom, K. F., Dhillon, S., & Keam, S. J. (2009). Atazanavir. Drugs, 69(8), 1107-1140.

Croxtall, J. D., & Perry, C. M. (2010). Lopinavir/ritonavir. Drugs, 70(14), 1885-1915.

- De Clercq, E., & Li, G. (2016). Approved antiviral drugs over the past 50 years. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 29(3), 695-747.
- de Oliveira, H. M., Damiani, A. P., de Oliveira Dias, R., Romão, P. R., & Andrade, V. M. (2014). Effect of antiretroviral drugs on the DNA damage in mice. *Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 37(1), 390-395.
- Dong, L., Hu, S., & Gao, J. (2020). Discovering drugs to treat coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). Drug Discoveries & Therapeutics, 14(1), 58-60.
- Durjava, M. K., Kolar, B., Arnus, L., Papa, E., Kovarich, S., Sahlin, U., & Peijnenburg, W. (2013a). Experimental assessment of the environmental fate and effects of triazoles and benzotriazole. *Alternatives to Laboratory Animals*, 41(1), 65-75.
- Durjava, M. K., Kolar, B., Arnus, L., Papa, E., Kovarich, S., Sahlin, U., & Peijnenburg, W. (2013b). Experimental assessment of the environmental fate and effects of triazoles and benzotriazole. *Alternatives to Laboratory Animals*, 41(1), 65-75.
- Ehrhardt, S., Xie, C., Guo, N., Nelson, K., & Thio, C. L. (2015). Breastfeeding while taking lamivudine or tenofovir disoproxil fumarate: a review of the evidence. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 60(2), 275-278.
- Falås, P., Wick, A., Castronovo, S., Habermacher, J., Ternes, T. A., & Joss, A. (2016). Tracing the limits of organic micropollutant removal in biological wastewater treatment. *Water Research*, 95, 240-249.
- Feliciano, A. R. S., Andrade de Lucena, A. L., da Rocha Santana, R. M., Zaidan, L. E. M. C., Michelle da Silva, P., Napoleão, T. H., Duarte, M. M. M. B., Napoleão, D. C. (2020a). Advanced oxidation processes employment for the degradation of lamivudine: kinetic assessment, toxicity study and mathematical modeling. *Water Quality Research Journal*, 55(3), 249-260.
- Feliciano, A. R. S., Andrade de Lucena, A. L., da Rocha Santana, R. M., Zaidan, L. E. M. C., Michelle da Silva, P., Napoleão, T. H., Duarte, M. M. M. B., Napoleão, D. C. (2020b). Advanced oxidation processes employment for the degradation of lamivudine: kinetic assessment, toxicity study and mathematical modeling. *Water Quality Research Journal*, 55(3), 249-260.
- Funke, J., Prasse, C., & Ternes, T. A. (2016a). Identification of transformation products of antiviral drugs formed during biological wastewater treatment and their occurrence in the urban water cycle. *Water Research*, 98, 75-83.

- Funke, J., Prasse, C., & Ternes, T. A. (2016b). Identification of transformation products of antiviral drugs formed during biological wastewater treatment and their occurrence in the urban water cycle. *Water Research*, 98, 75-83.
- Furuta, Y., Gowen, B. B., Takahashi, K., Shiraki, K., Smee, D. F., & Barnard, D. L. (2013). Favipiravir (T-705), a novel viral RNA polymerase inhibitor. *Antiviral Research*, 100(2), 446-454.
- Gago-Ferrero, P., Bletsou, A. A., Damalas, D. E., Aalizadeh, R., Alygizakis, N. A., Singer, H. P., Hollender, J., Thomaidis, N. S. (2020). Wide-scope target screening of> 2000 emerging contaminants in wastewater samples with UPLC-Q-ToF-HRMS/MS and smart evaluation of its performance through the validation of 195 selected representative analytes. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 387, 121712.
- Gao, J., & Hu, S. (2020). Update on use of chloroquine/hydroxychloroquine to treat coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). *Bioscience Trends*.
- Garcia-Segura, S., Ocon, J. D., & Chong, M. N. (2018). Electrochemical oxidation remediation of real wastewater effluents—a review. *Process Safety and Environmental Protection*, 113, 48-67.
- Ghosh, P., Samanta, A., & Ray, S. (2010). COD reduction of petrochemical industry wastewater using Fenton's oxidation. *The Canadian Journal of Chemical Engineering*, 88(6), 1021-1026.
- Gilbert, B. E., & Knight, V. (1986). Biochemistry and clinical applications of ribavirin. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, *30*(2), 201-205.
- Gnann Jr, J. W., Barton, N. H., & Whitley, R. J. (1983). Acyclovir: mechanism of action, pharmacokinetics, safety and clinical applications. *Pharmacotherapy: The Journal of Human Pharmacology and Drug Therapy*, 3(5), 275-283.

Goldsmith, D. R., & Perry, C. M. (2003). Atazanavir. Drugs, 63(16), 1679-1693.

- Gonzalez-Gil, L., Papa, M., Feretti, D., Ceretti, E., Mazzoleni, G., Steimberg, N., Pedrazzani, R., Bertanza, G., Lema, J. M., Carballa, M. (2016). Is anaerobic digestion effective for the removal of organic micropollutants and biological activities from sewage sludge? *Water Research*, 102, 211-220.
- Hamarapurkar, P., & Parate, A. N. (2013). HPLC method for the determination of emtricitabine and related degradation substances. *Journal of chromatographic science*, *51*(5), 419-424.
- Helbling, D. E., Hollender, J., Kohler, H.-p. E., Singer, H., & Fenner, K. (2010). Highthroughput identification of microbial transformation products of organic micropollutants. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 44(17), 6621-6627.

- Hosenbocus, S., & Chahal, R. (2013). Amantadine: a review of use in child and adolescent psychiatry. *Journal of the Canadian Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 22(1), 55.
- Hsu, A., Granneman, G. R., & Bertz, R. J. (1998). Ritonavir. *Clinical pharmacokinetics*, 35(4), 275-291.
- I Litter, M., & Quici, N. (2010). Photochemical advanced oxidation processes for water and wastewater treatment. *Recent Patents on Engineering*, 4(3), 217-241.
- Ibáñez, M., Borova, V., Boix, C., Aalizadeh, R., Bade, R., Thomaidis, N., & Hernandez, F. (2017). UHPLC-QTOF MS screening of pharmaceuticals and their metabolites in treated wastewater samples from Athens. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 323, 26-35.
- Ikehata, K., & Gamal El-Din, M. (2005). Aqueous pesticide degradation by ozonation and ozone-based advanced oxidation processes: a review (Part I). Ozone: Science and Engineering, 27(2), 83-114.
- Jain, S., Kumar, P., Vyas, R. K., Pandit, P., & Dalai, A. K. (2013). Occurrence and removal of antiviral drugs in environment: a review. *Water, Air, & Soil Pollution, 224*(2), 1-19.
- Jarvis, B., & Faulds, D. (1999). Lamivudine. Drugs, 58(1), 101-141.
- Jefferson, T., Demicheli, V., Rivetti, D., Jones, M., Di Pietrantonj, C., & Rivetti, A. (2006). Antivirals for influenza in healthy adults: systematic review. *The Lancet*, *367*(9507), 303-313.
- Jordaan, M. A., & Shapi, M. (2017). Investigation of the solvent-dependent photolysis of a nonnucleoside reverse-transcriptase inhibitor, antiviral agent efavirenz. *Antiviral Chemistry and Chemotherapy*, 25(3), 94-104.
- Jorgensen, S. C., Kebriaei, R., & Dresser, L. D. (2020). Remdesivir: review of pharmacology, pre-clinical data, and emerging clinical experience for COVID-19. *Pharmacotherapy: The Journal of Human Pharmacology and Drug Therapy*, 40(7), 659-671.
- Järhult, J. D., Muradrasoli, S., Wahlgren, J., Söderström, H., Orozovic, G., Gunnarsson, G., Bröjer, C., Latorre-Margalef, N., Fick, J., Grabic, R. (2011). Environmental levels of the antiviral oseltamivir induce development of resistance mutation H274Y in influenza A/H1N1 virus in mallards. *PLoS One*, 6(9), e24742.
- K'oreje, K., Vergeynst, L., Ombaka, D., De Wispelaere, P., Okoth, M., Van Langenhove, H., & Demeestere, K. (2016). Occurrence patterns of pharmaceutical residues in wastewater, surface water and groundwater of Nairobi and Kisumu city, Kenya. *Chemosphere*, 149, 238-244.

- Kanaujiya, D. K., Paul, T., Sinharoy, A., & Pakshirajan, K. (2019). Biological treatment processes for the removal of organic micropollutants from wastewater: a review. *Current Pollution Reports*, 5(3), 112-128.
- Katz, L., Fraser, A., Gafter-Gvili, A., Leibovici, L., & Tur-Kaspa, R. (2008). Lamivudine prevents reactivation of hepatitis B and reduces mortality in immunosuppressed patients: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Viral Hepatitis*, *15*(2), 89-102.
- Kovalova, L., Knappe, D. R., Lehnberg, K., Kazner, C., & Hollender, J. (2013). Removal of highly polar micropollutants from wastewater by powdered activated carbon. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 20(6), 3607-3615.
- Kovalova, L., Siegrist, H., Singer, H., Wittmer, A., & McArdell, C. S. (2012). Hospital wastewater treatment by membrane bioreactor: performance and efficiency for organic micropollutant elimination. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 46(3), 1536-1545.
- Kumar, M., Kuroda, K., Dhangar, K., Mazumder, P., Sonne, C., Rinklebe, J. r., & Kitajima, M. (2020). Potential emergence of antiviral-resistant pandemic viruses via environmental drug exposure of animal reservoirs. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 54(14), 8503-8505.
- Lehnert, R., Pletz, M., Reuss, A., & Schaberg, T. (2016). Antiviral Medications in Seasonal and Pandemic Influenza: A Systematic Review. *Deutsches Ärzteblatt International*, 113(47), 799.
- Loomba, R., Rowley, A., Wesley, R., Liang, T. J., Hoofnagle, J. H., Pucino, F., & Csako, G. (2008). Systematic review: the effect of preventive lamivudine on hepatitis B reactivation during chemotherapy. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *148*(7), 519-528.
- Luo, Y., Guo, W., Ngo, H. H., Nghiem, L. D., Hai, F. I., Zhang, J., Liang, S., Wang, X. C. (2014). A review on the occurrence of micropollutants in the aquatic environment and their fate and removal during wastewater treatment. *Science of the Total Environment*, 473, 619-641.
- Margot, J., Kienle, C., Magnet, A., Weil, M., Rossi, L., De Alencastro, L. F., Luiz, F., Abegglen, C., Thonney, D., Chèvre, N., Schärer, M. (2013). Treatment of micropollutants in municipal wastewater: ozone or powdered activated carbon? *Science* of the Total Environment, 461, 480-498.
- Mascolo, G., Balest, L., Cassano, D., Laera, G., Lopez, A., Pollice, A., & Salerno, C. (2010). Biodegradability of pharmaceutical industrial wastewater and formation of recalcitrant organic compounds during aerobic biological treatment. *Bioresource Technology*, 101(8), 2585-2591.

McClellan, K., & Perry, C. M. (2001). Oseltamivir. Drugs, 61(2), 263-283.

- McCurry, D. L., Bear, S. E., Bae, J., Sedlak, D. L., McCarty, P. L., & Mitch, W. A. (2014). Superior removal of disinfection byproduct precursors and pharmaceuticals from wastewater in a staged anaerobic fluidized membrane bioreactor compared to activated sludge. *Environmental Science & Technology Letters*, 1(11), 459-464.
- Mestankova, H., Schirmer, K., Escher, B. I., von Gunten, U., & Canonica, S. (2012). Removal of the antiviral agent oseltamivir and its biological activity by oxidative processes. *Environmental Pollution*, *161*, 30-35.
- Mhuka, V., Dube, S., & Nindi, M. M. (2020). Occurrence of pharmaceutical and personal care products (PPCPs) in wastewater and receiving waters in South Africa using LC-Orbitrap[™] MS. *Emerging Contaminants*, 6, 250-258.
- Miklos, D. B., Remy, C., Jekel, M., Linden, K. G., Drewes, J. E., & Hübner, U. (2018). Evaluation of advanced oxidation processes for water and wastewater treatment–A critical review. *Water Research*, *139*, 118-131.
- Mirochnick, M., Clarke, D. F., & Dorenbaum, A. (2000). Nevirapine. *Clinical Pharmacokinetics*, 39(4), 281-293.
- Mistry, N., Shapero, J., & Crawford, R. I. (2009). A review of adverse cutaneous drug reactions resulting from the use of interferon and ribavirin. *Canadian Journal of Gastroenterology*, 23(10), 677-683.
- Mlunguza, N. Y., Ncube, S., Mahlambi, P. N., Chimuka, L., & Madikizela, L. M. (2020). Determination of selected antiretroviral drugs in wastewater, surface water and aquatic plants using hollow fibre liquid phase microextraction and liquid chromatographytandem mass spectrometry. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 382, 121067.
- Moscona, A. (2005). Neuraminidase inhibitors for influenza. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *353*(13), 1363-1373.
- Mosekiemang, T. T., Stander, M. A., & de Villiers, A. (2019). Simultaneous quantification of commonly prescribed antiretroviral drugs and their selected metabolites in aqueous environmental samples by direct injection and solid phase extraction liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. *Chemosphere*, *220*, 983-992.
- Murphy, R. L., & Montaner, J. (1996). Drug Evaluations Anti-infectives: Nevirapine: A review of its development, pharmacological profile and potential for clinical use. *Expert Opinion on Investigational Drugs*, 5(9), 1183-1199.
- Nannou, C., Ofrydopoulou, A., Evgenidou, E., Heath, D., Heath, E., & Lambropoulou, D. (2020). Antiviral drugs in aquatic environment and wastewater treatment plants: A review on occurrence, fate, removal and ecotoxicity. *Science of The Total Environment*, 699, 134322.

- National Center for Biotechnology Information (2021). PubChem Compound Summary for CID 3652, Hydroxychloroquine. Retrieved July 30, 2021 from https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/Hydroxychloroquine.
- Neff, J. M. (1984). Bioaccumulation of organic micropollutants from sediments and suspended particulates by aquatic animals. *Fresenius' Zeitschrift für Analytische Chemie*, 319(2), 132-136.
- Ngumba, E., Gachanja, A., Nyirenda, J., Maldonado, J., & Tuhkanen, T. (2020). Occurrence of antibiotics and antiretroviral drugs in source-separated urine, groundwater, surface water and wastewater in the peri-urban area of Chunga in Lusaka, Zambia. *Water SA*, 46(2), 278-284.
- Oliveira, M., Mesplede, T., Quashie, P. K., Moïsi, D., & Wainberg, M. A. (2014). Resistance mutations against dolutegravir in HIV integrase impair the emergence of resistance against reverse transcriptase inhibitors. *Aids*, 28(6), 813-819.
- Organization, W. H. (2020). Latest HIV estimates and updates on HIV policies uptake, November 2020. In.
- Osunmakinde, C. S., Tshabalala, O. S., Dube, S., & Nindi, M. M. (2013). Verification and validation of analytical methods for testing the levels of PPHCPs (pharmaceutical & personal health care products) in treated drinking water and sewage: report to the Water Research Commission. Water Research Commission Pretoria.
- Parienti, J.-J., Massari, V., Descamps, D., Vabret, A., Bouvet, E., Larouzé, B., & Verdon, R. (2004). Predictors of virologic failure and resistance in HIV-infected patients treated with nevirapine-or efavirenz-based antiretroviral therapy. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 38(9), 1311-1316.
- Plantone, D., & Koudriavtseva, T. (2018). Current and future use of chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine in infectious, immune, neoplastic, and neurological diseases: a mini-review. *Clinical Drug Investigation*, 38(8), 653-671.
- Prasse, C., Schlüsener, M. P., Schulz, R., & Ternes, T. A. (2010). Antiviral drugs in wastewater and surface waters: a new pharmaceutical class of environmental relevance? *Environmental Science & Technology*, 44(5), 1728-1735.
- Prasse, C., Wagner, M., Schulz, R., & Ternes, T. A. (2011). Biotransformation of the antiviral drugs acyclovir and penciclovir in activated sludge treatment. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *45*(7), 2761-2769.
- Prasse, C., Wagner, M., Schulz, R., & Ternes, T. A. (2012). Oxidation of the antiviral drug acyclovir and its biodegradation product carboxy-acyclovir with ozone: kinetics and identification of oxidation products. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 46(4), 2169-2178.

- Ranjit, P., Jhansi, V., & Reddy, K. V. (2021). Conventional Wastewater Treatment Processes. In Advances in the Domain of Environmental Biotechnology (pp. 455-479). Springer.
- Rao, G. S., & Nageswararao, G. (2010). Study of groundwater quality in Greater Visakhapatnam City, Andhra Pradesh (India). *Journal of environmental science & engineering*, 52(2), 137-146.
- Rice, R. G. (1996). Applications of ozone for industrial wastewater treatment—a review. *Ozone: Science & Engineering*, 18(6), 477-515.
- Robson, L., Barnhoorn, I., & Wagenaar, G. (2017). The potential effects of efavirenz on Oreochromis mossambicus after acute exposure. *Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology*, *56*, 225-232.
- Russo, D., Siciliano, A., Guida, M., Galdiero, E., Amoresano, A., Andreozzi, R., Reis, N. M., Puma, G. L., Marotta, R. (2017). Photodegradation and ecotoxicology of acyclovir in water under UV254 and UV254/H₂O₂ processes. *Water Research*, *122*, 591-602.
- Samaras, V. G., Stasinakis, A. S., Thomaidis, N. S., Mamais, D., & Lekkas, T. D. (2014). Fate of selected emerging micropollutants during mesophilic, thermophilic and temperature co-phased anaerobic digestion of sewage sludge. *Bioresource Technology*, *162*, 365-372.
- Schlüter-Vorberg, L., Prasse, C., Ternes, T. A., Mückter, H., & Coors, A. (2015). Toxification by transformation in conventional and advanced wastewater treatment: the antiviral drug acyclovir. *Environmental Science & Technology Letters*, *2*(12), 342-346.
- Schoeman, J. C., Moutloatse, G. P., Harms, A. C., Vreeken, R. J., Scherpbier, H. J., Van Leeuwen, L., Kujipers, T. W., Reinecke, C. J., Berger, R., Hankemeier, T. (2017). Fetal Metabolic Stress Disrupts Immune Homeostasis and Induces Proinflammatory Responses in Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1–and Combination Antiretroviral Therapy–Exposed Infants. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*.
- Schwarzenbach, R. P., Escher, B. I., Fenner, K., Hofstetter, T. B., Johnson, C. A., Von Gunten, U., & Wehrli, B. (2006). The challenge of micropollutants in aquatic systems. *Science*, 313(5790), 1072-1077.
- Seow, T. W., Lim, C. K., Nor, M. H. M., Mubarak, M., Lam, C. Y., Yahya, A., & Ibrahim, Z. (2016). Review on wastewater treatment technologies. *International Journal of Applied Environmenatl Sciences*, 11(1), 111-126.
- Sheng, Y.-J., Liu, J.-Y., Tong, S.-W., Hu, H.-D., Zhang, D.-Z., Hu, P., & Ren, H. (2011). Lamivudine plus adefovir combination therapy versus entecavir monotherapy for lamivudine-resistant chronic hepatitis B: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Virology Journal*, 8(1), 1-10.
- Shubber, Z., Calmy, A., Andrieux-Meyer, I., Vitoria, M., Renaud-Thery, F., Shaffer, N., Hargreaves, S., Mills, E. J., Ford, N. (2013). Adverse events associated with nevirapine and efavirenz-based first-line antiretroviral therapy: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Aids*, 27(9), 1403-1412.
- Singer, H. P., Wössner, A. E., McArdell, C. S., & Fenner, K. (2016). Rapid screening for exposure to "non-target" pharmaceuticals from wastewater effluents by combining HRMS-based suspect screening and exposure modeling. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 50(13), 6698-6707.
- Stasinakis, A. (2008). Use of selected advanced oxidation processes (AOPs) for wastewater treatment–a mini review. *Global NEST Journal*, *10*(3), 376-385.
- Straub, J. O. (2009). An environmental risk assessment for oseltamivir (Tamiflu®) for sewage works and surface waters under seasonal-influenza-and pandemic-use conditions. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 72(6), 1625-1634.
- Söderström, H., Järhult, J. D., Olsen, B., Lindberg, R. H., Tanaka, H., & Fick, J. (2009). Detection of the antiviral drug oseltamivir in aquatic environments. *PloS One*, 4(6), e6064.
- Takanami, R., Ozaki, H., Giri, R. R., Taniguchi, S., & Hayashi, S. (2012). Antiviral drugs zanamivir and oseltamivir found in wastewater and surface water in Osaka, Japan. Journal of Water and Environment Technology, 10(1), 57-68.
- Ternes, T. A., Prasse, C., Eversloh, C. L. t., Knopp, G., Cornel, P., Schulte-Oehlmann, U., Schwartz, S., Alexander, J., Seitz, W., Coors, A. (2017). Integrated evaluation concept to assess the efficacy of advanced wastewater treatment processes for the elimination of micropollutants and pathogens. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 51(1), 308-319.
- Tong, H.-J., Reid, J. P., Bones, D. L., Luo, B. P., & Krieger, U. (2011). Measurements of the timescales for the mass transfer of water in glassy aerosol at low relative humidity and ambient temperature. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, 11(10), 4739-4754.
- Tullu, M. (2009). Oseltamivir. Journal of Postgraduate Medicine, 55(3), 225.
- Vafaei, S., Razmi, M., Mansoori, M., Asadi-Lari, M., & Madjd, Z. (2019). Spotlight of Remdesivir in comparison with ribavirin, Favipiravir, Oseltamivir and Umifenovir in coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic. *Favipiravir, Oseltamivir and Umifenovir in Coronavirus Disease*.
- van Loosdregt, J., Spreafico, R., Rossetti, M., Prakken, B. J., Lotz, M., & Albani, S. (2013). Hydroxychloroquine preferentially induces apoptosis of CD45RO+ effector T cells by inhibiting autophagy: a possible mechanism for therapeutic modulation of T cells. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 131(5), 1443-1446. e1441.

- Vanková, M. (2010). Biodegradability analysis of pharmaceuticals used in developing countries; screening with OxiTop C-110.
- Vukkum, P., Deshpande, G. R., Babu, J. M., Muralikrishna, R., & Jagu, P. (2012). Stress degradation behavior of abacavir sulfate and development of a suitable stabilityindicating UHPLC method for the determination of abacavir, its related substances, and degradation products. *Scientia Pharmaceutica*, 80(4), 903-922.
- Wang, M., Cao, R., Zhang, L., Yang, X., Liu, J., Xu, M., Shi, Z., Zhihong, H., Zhong, W., Xiao, G. (2020). Remdesivir and chloroquine effectively inhibit the recently emerged novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) in vitro. *Cell Research*, 30(3), 269-271.
- Wang, Y., Zhou, C., Chen, J., Fu, Z., & Niu, J. (2019). Bicarbonate enhancing electrochemical degradation of antiviral drug lamivudine in aqueous solution. *Journal of Electroanalytical Chemistry*, 848, 113314.
- Whitley, R. J., & Gnann Jr, J. W. (1992). Acyclovir: a decade later. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 327(11), 782-789.
- Wood, T. P., Basson, A. E., Duvenage, C., & Rohwer, E. R. (2016). The chlorination behaviour and environmental fate of the antiretroviral drug nevirapine in South African surface water. *Water Research*, *104*, 349-360.
- Wood, T. P., Du Preez, C., Steenkamp, A., Duvenage, C., & Rohwer, E. R. (2017). Databasedriven screening of South African surface water and the targeted detection of pharmaceuticals using liquid chromatography-High resolution mass spectrometry. *Environmental Pollution*, 230, 453-462.
- Wood, T. P., Duvenage, C. S., & Rohwer, E. (2015). The occurrence of anti-retroviral compounds used for HIV treatment in South African surface water. *Environmental Pollution*, 199, 235-243.
- Wooding, M., Rohwer, E. R., & Naudé, Y. (2017). Determination of endocrine disrupting chemicals and antiretroviral compounds in surface water: a disposable sorptive sampler with comprehensive gas chromatography–time-of-flight mass spectrometry and large volume injection with ultra-high performance liquid chromatography–tandem mass spectrometry. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 1496, 122-132.
- World Health Organization. (2019). *Progress report on HIV, viral hepatitis and sexually transmitted infections, 2019: annex 1: key data at a glance* (No. WHO/CDS/HIV/19.22). World Health Organization.
- Yoo, R., Kim, J., McCarty, P. L., & Bae, J. (2012). Anaerobic treatment of municipal wastewater with a staged anaerobic fluidized membrane bioreactor (SAF-MBR) system. *Bioresource Technology*, 120, 133-139.

- Zeng, X., Twardowska, I., Wei, S., Sun, L., Wang, J., Zhu, J., & Cai, J. (2015). Removal of trace metals and improvement of dredged sediment dewaterability by bioleaching combined with Fenton-like reaction. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 288, 51-59.
- Zeng, Y.-M., Xu, X.-L., He, X.-Q., Tang, S.-Q., Li, Y., Huang, Y.-Q., Harypursat, V., Chen, Y.-K. (2020). Comparative effectiveness and safety of ribavirin plus interferon-alpha, lopinavir/ritonavir plus interferon-alpha, and ribavirin plus lopinavir/ritonavir plus interferon-alpha in patients with mild to moderate novel coronavirus disease 2019: study protocol. *Chinese Medical Journal*, 133(9), 1132.
- Zhou, C., Wang, Y., Chen, J., Xu, L., Huang, H., & Niu, J. (2019). High-efficiency electrochemical degradation of antiviral drug abacavir using a penetration flux porous Ti/SnO2–Sb anode. *Chemosphere*, 225, 304-310.

Chapter 3: Removal of the Antiviral Drug Oseltamivir by Ozonation and Analysis of Contributing Factors

3.1 Introduction

Nearly a third of people on Earth do not have access to safely managed drinking water and only two fifths have access to safely managed sanitation services, resulting in billions of people who are left without their right to enjoy clean water, sanitation, and other relating benefits (WWAP, 2019). The lack of clean water access is being exaggerated by drastic population growth causing greater demand and thus greater competition in densely populated areas (Teklehaimanot et al., 2015; Vatankhah et al., 2019). The long-term effects of chemical pollution are largely unknown with respect to aquatic life or human health (Schwarzenbach et al., 2006). It should therefore come as no surprise that properly managed water treatment facilities are vital for successful society. Micropollutants are compounds which are found in the μ g L⁻¹ or ng L⁻¹ concentration range in water, soil, and wastewater; over time they have become a growing concern in the scientific community due to steadily increasing concentrations (Virkutyte et al., 2010). Types of micropollutants entering aquatic environments include pharmaceuticals, personal care products, steroids, hormones, industrial chemicals, and pesticides (Luo et al., 2014). Wastewater treatment plants are also not specifically designed to remove micropollutants, allowing them to pass through treatment processes unchanged (Luo et al., 2014). Antiviral drugs are a subclass within the micropollutants category that are used specifically for treating viral infections such as HIV, herpes virus, hepatitis B and C, and influenza (He, 2013)

Oseltamivir or Tamiflu[®] (ethyl (3R,4R,5S)-5-amino-4-acetamido-3-(pentan-3yloxy)cyclohex-1-ene-1-carboxylate) is a neuraminidase inhibitor which works to prevent replication of influenza A and B viruses (McCellan, 2001). The persistence of oseltamivir in the environment is not well known, studies suggest that oseltamivir shows relatively high persistence towards biodegradation (Accinelli et al., 2010; Prasse et al., 2010); however, others suggest that direct monochromatic UV-C irradiation can remove OSP (oseltamivir phosphate) (Tong et al., 2011). The photodegradation of oseltamivir is relatively slow and it is suggested that the resulting transformation products are more persistent than the parent compounds (Goncalves et al., 2011).

Studies have detected the presence of oseltamivir and transition products in natural waters at relatively high levels. The presence of oseltamivir and oseltamivir carboxylate (OC) has been monitored at WWTP locations with concentrations ranging from 16 - 482 ng L⁻¹ for OC and 7 - 159 ng L⁻¹ for oseltamivir phosphate (OSP) (Ghosh et al., 2010; Prasse et al., 2010; Simazaki et al., 2015; Takanami et al., 2012). River water sampling has also detected the

presence of oseltamivir at elevated levels in Spain and Japan, with concentrations ranging from 50 - 482 ng L⁻¹ for OC and 100 - 159 ng L⁻¹ for OSP (Goncalves et al., 2011; Soderstrom et al., 2009; Takanami et al., 2012). Elevated levels in riverways may be due to the phenomenon reported in multiple papers suggesting the accumulation of OSP through WWTP processes (Prasse et al., 2010; Kovalova et al., 2012).

The effects of oseltamivir release in the environment are largely unknown, however studies already suggest there may be serious outcomes related to OSP release in environmentally relevant concentrations. Pandemic scenarios result in increased usage of antiviral drugs such as oseltamivir which may lead to increased concentration in natural waters (Singer et al., 2007). Some suggest that this high concentration may lead to the development of resistant viral genes due to waterfowl coming in close contact (Singer et al., 2007) while others state that there is no significant risk in either surface waters or sewage works (Straub, 2009). Studies suggest that exposure to OSP and OC results in a neuraminidase I222T substitution in all viruses sampled from oseltamivir-introduced mallard ducks, and that this resistant variant has the potential to circulate within various wild birds (Gillman, 2016; Gillman et al., 2015; Järhult, 2012). It is suggested that this amino acid substitution leads to changed antiviral sensitivity in an influenza A subtype that can be highly pathogenic in humans (Gillman et al., 2016).

3.2 Materials & Methods

3.2.1 Chemicals and Reagents

Oseltamivir phosphate (OSP) (MW = 410.4 g mol⁻¹) pharmaceutical secondary standard was supplied by Sigma-Aldrich, Canada. A stock solution for OSP was prepared at 50 μ M using ozone demand-free water (ODFW) as the solvent kept in a borosilicate dark glass bottle and stored at 4 °C in the dark. Other chemicals utilized were sodium chloride, potassium chloride,

sodium nitrate, sodium sulfate anhydrous, calcium chloride dihydrate, magnesium chloride hexahydrate, sodium hydroxide, potassium phosphate dibasic anhydrous, potassium phosphate monobasic, sodium phosphate monobasic anhydrous, and o-phosphoric acid that were obtained from Fisher Scientific Canada. Sodium bromide, sodium thiosulfate, and potassium indigo trisulfonate were supplied by Sigma-Aldrich Canada; tert-butyl alcohol supplied by Acros Organics, and ammonium chloride supplied by Caledon Laboratories Canada. ODFW was prepared by bubbling ozone through MilliQ water for 60 minutes followed by allowing minimum 2 days to allow gassing off any residual ozone. Phosphate buffer was prepared in a stock solution at a concentration of 50 mM with a mixture of mono- and di-basic potassium phosphate to produce a neutral pH 7 buffer and stored at 4 °C in the dark. Sodium thiosulfate quencher at a concentration of 50 mM was prepared in ODFW and stored in the dark at 4 °C until used. Glassware was stored in ODFW to minimize any ozone-demand introduced into experiments.

3.2.2 Experimental Setup

3.2.2.1 Photodegradation Experiments

Photodegradation of Oseltamivir was conducted using a 1000 W medium pressure collimated UV lamp with an irradiance of 2.62 mW cm⁻². Solutions were irradiated in circular 80 mL reaction vessels with magnetic stirrers used to agitate the sample. Samples were exposed for 5 minutes under direct radiation with aliquots taken at pre-determined time intervals and kept in the dark at 4 °C until analysis. Tests were carried out in MilliQ water with 0.01 mM OSP and 0.02 mM pH 7 phosphate buffer. The absorbance spectrum of 0.01 mM OSP solution in MilliQ water was obtained using an Ultraspec 2100 Pro UV/Visible Spectrophotometer.

3.2.2.2 Ozonation Experiments

Ozonation experiments were carried out in 20 mL brown borosilicate glass vials with airtight septum caps. Prior to the addition of O₃ the required volumes of ODFW, buffer, OSP stock solution, and matrix solution were added to the reaction vials. Ozone stock solution was prepared, and the concentration was determined via the indigo method described in the article by Bader (1981). The ozone stock solution was kept covered in an ice water bath to ensure minimal concentration losses during experimental procedures. The required volume of ozone stock solution was added to the reaction vial via air-tight syringe through the septum cap, the moment when all the ozone left the syringe was considered time-zero. Samples were allowed to stir for the pre-determined time period on a multi-position magnetic stirrer before the addition of Na₂S₂O₃ quencher via air-tight syringe. Vials were left to stir for an additional 60 seconds after the addition of quencher to ensure complete mixing of the quencher. Samples were transferred into dark glass HPLC vials for analysis. Temperature and pH measurements of samples were taken at the beginning and end of each experiment to ensure no significant changes occurred and provide averaged values.

The second order rate constant was determined using two different methods to provide reinforcement of data. The first method used is known as the Ct method and is described in the study by Broséus et al. (2009). This method involves monitoring the concentration of both the target compound and the ozone residual over time. The second method of determination for the second order rate constant involves the determination of pseudo-first order rate constants at multiple ozone to OSP ratios while keeping one species in excess. The study by Benitez et al. (2000) describes this method in detail. The concentrations of ions for matrix effects were chosen based on both data from local, publicly available treatment plant reports as well as scientific articles. Chloride concentration was chosen to be 250 mg L⁻¹ and nitrate concentration of 0.5 mg-N L⁻¹ based on the 2019 Edmonton Wastewater Annual Performance Report. Bromide concentration was set to 2 mg L⁻¹ based off the ranges reported in studies in China and Switzerland (Soltermann et al., 2016; Wu et al., 2010). The concentration of sulfate used in our study was chosen to be 100 mg L⁻¹ based off a study by Zhang et al. (2013) from The United States.

The O₃:DOC ratios for secondary effluent experiments were chosen based off the study by Antoniou et al. (2013) stating that active pharmaceutical ingredients that are easily degradable if DDO₃/DOC ≤ 0.7 (DDO₃ is the ozone dose required to achieve a 1 log reduction in concentration). Oseltamivir is believed to be easily degradable based on the rate constant found in section 3.3.2. Prior to experimentation, the secondary effluent used was subjected to ion chromatography via a Dionex ICS-5000 Ion Chromatography analyzed via a TOC-L Shimadza Total Organic Carbon Analyzer to determine the DOC. Samples were then analyzed for O₃ concentration via Indigo Method, DOC via total organic carbon analyzer, and OSP via UPLC-TOF-MS.

3.2.2.3 Toxicity Experiments

The acute toxicity tests of both ozonated and non-ozonated samples of OSP in ODFW and secondary effluent were assessed via Microtox[®] assays with the bacterial reagent *Vibrio fischeri*. The bioluminescence inhibition screening tests were performed in triplicate in 96-well plates where osmotic adjustment solution was added to adjust the salinity to an adequate level. In another 96-well plate bacterial solutions were transferred into each well and bioluminescence was measured using a Synergy Microplate reader. Samples were then added to the 96-well plate

containing bacteria and incubated at 15 °C for 5 minutes before the luminescence was measured again and light inhibition was calculated.

The genotoxicity of OSP samples was tested via the SOS-ChromoTest which is a colorimetric method used to determine the relative genotoxic potential of a compound. The method measures the expression of genes caused by genotoxic compounds in *Escherichia coli* via fusion with the structural gene for β-galactosidase (Quillardet et al., 1993). In 96-well plates, triplicate samples were prepared for each sample and *E. Coli* was added to each of the well plates followed by an incubation period of 2 hours at 37 °C. The absorbance of the samples was measured at 420 nm and 600 nm using a Synergy Microplate Reader. Following the initial incubation, blue Chromogen and alkaline phosphatase mixture was added to each well followed by another 90-minute incubation at 37 °C. The cytotoxic effect of the samples was calculated via equation 1 using the bacterial survival rate. The genotoxicity was calculated through the growth factor (G) in Equation 2, the β-galactosidase activity in β-gal in Equation 3, and the induction factor (IF) in equation 4 (SOS-ChromoTest, 2019).

% Survival Rate =
$$100 \times \frac{OD_{420}}{OD_{420c}}$$
 Equation 1

$$G = \frac{A_{420} - A_{420b}}{A_{420c} - A_{420b}}$$
Equation 2

$$\beta - gal = \frac{A_{600} - A_{600b}}{A_{600c} - A_{600b}}$$
Equation 3

$$IF = \frac{\beta - gal}{G}$$
Equation 4

Where: OD_{420} represents the optical density at 420 nm of the sample and $OD_{420 c}$ represents the optical density at 420 nm of the control; A_{420} , $A_{420 b}$, and $A_{420 c}$ represent the absorbance at 420

nm for the sample, blank, and control, respectively; A_{600} , A_{600} b, and A_{600} c represent the absorbance at 600 nm for the sample, blank, and control, respectively.

3.2.3 Analytical Method

OSP samples were analyzed using ultra-performance liquid chromatography – quadrupole time-of-flight mass spectrometry (Xevo G2-S, Waters), operated in positive mode. Chromatographic separation was achieved using ACQUITY UPLC BEH C18, 50×2.1 mm column, at 40 °C with an injection volume of 10 µL. The mobile phase consisted of water with 0.1 % formic acid (solvent A) and acetonitrile with 0.1 % formic acid (solvent B).

3.3 Results & Discussion

3.3.1 Photodegradation

The photodegradation of OSP was examined using 1000 W medium pressure colllimated UV lamps to determine potential methods of removal for wastewater treatment systems as well as potential environmental removal methods. Based on the plot shown in Figure 3.1, the removal of oseltamivir follows a first order kinetic regime, with relatively slow removal rates. The first order photodegradation rate constant equates to 1.81×10^{-3} ($\pm 0.06 \times 10^{-3}$) s⁻¹ and the fluence-based rate constant was 6.93×10^{-4} ($\pm 0.25 \times 10^{-4}$) cm² mJ⁻¹ with a removal of just 53% $\pm 9\%$ (n=2). The values reported here are similar to those reported by Goncalves et al. (2011) who examined the removal of oseltamivir ester in DI water using a solar simulator transmitting wavelengths below 290 nm. The study found a rate constant of $4.53 - 4.75 \times 10^{-6}$ s⁻¹ first order rate constant which is lower than this research likely due to the lower irradiance of 0.5 mW cm⁻² compared to the 2.62 mW cm⁻² from our experimentation as well as the use of a wider spectrum of wavelengths.



Figure 3. 1 Pseudo-first order photodegradation of OSP via collimated medium pressure radiation as a function of UV fluence (Source: 100W medium pressure columnated UV lamp, pH = 7.50, Irradiance = 3.41 mW cm^{-2} , OSP concentration = $4.1 \text{ mg } \text{L}^{-1}$, PO₄ buffer concentration = $3.0 \text{ mg } \text{L}^{-1}$).

From the rate constant, we can calculate the half-life ($t_{1/2}$) in seconds of OSP in collimated UV radiation exposure using the following Equation 5 where k is the first order rate constant in s⁻¹. The half-life calculated here is found to be 383 ± 13 seconds suggesting a long residence time is required to efficiently remove OSP in medium pressure UV treatment methods. Therefore, it is unlikely that UV treatment alone is a viable option for removal of OSP from wastewater systems, as well as unlikely that OSP is removed via direct sunlight once entered into natural water systems (Bartels and von Tümpling, 2008).

$$t_{1/2} = \frac{0.693}{k}$$
 Equation 5

3.3.2 Ozone Kinetics

3.3.2.1 Overall Rate Constant Determination

Ozone degradation follows a pseudo-first order rate constant when ozone is applied to the reaction in excess. The overall second order rate constant was determined using two different methods. The first method of determining the second order rate constant was via curve fitting of pseudo-first order rate constants at the five O_3 :OSP ratios; as shown in Figure 3.2, the rate constant was found to be 6.79×10^3 M⁻¹ s⁻¹ from the slope shown in Figure A.3. The Ct method was used at two differing OSP:O₃ ratios; the 5:1 OSP ratio resulted in a second order rate constant of 8.97×10^3 M⁻¹ s⁻¹ and the 10:1 OSP ratio resulted in 9.10×10^3 M⁻¹ s⁻¹ as shown in Figure 3.3. The rate constants found here are within a similar range $(10^3 - 10^5 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1})$ of other olefins with ozone, which is predicted to be the primary site of attack for oseltamivir (Dowideit and Von Sonntag, 1998). The rate constants are also discussed by Mestankova et al. (2012) who examined the degradation rate constant of oseltamivir carboxylate with both molecular ozone and hydroxyl radicals who discovered rate constants of 1.7 (± 0.1) \times 10⁵ M⁻¹ s⁻¹ with molecular ozone and 4.7 (\pm 0.2) × 10⁹ M⁻¹ s⁻¹ with hydroxyl radicals at a pH of 7 - 8. The rate constants discussed by in the Mestankova study most likely differ from the values reported here due to the different rate constants with oseltamivir carboxylate versus oseltamivir phosphate.



Figure 3. 2 Degradation of OSP via O₃ batch treatment at varying O₃:OSP ratios (OSP = 1.0 μ M, O₃ = 1.0 - 20.0 μ M, PO₄ buffer = 0.1 mM, Na₂S₂O₃ = 0.015 - 0.30 mM, pH = 6.9 - 7.1, Temp. = 20.9 - 21.9°C).



Figure 3. 3 Ct method of second-order rate constant determination for [A] 10:1 O₃:OSP molar ratio and [B] 5:1 O₃:OSP molar ratio ([A] OSP = $1.0 \ \mu$ M, O₃ = $10.0 \ \mu$ M, PO₄ buffer = $0.1 \ m$ M, Na₂S₂O₃ = $0.15 \ m$ M, pH = 7.1, Temp. = $21.1 - 21.4^{\circ}$ C; [B] OSP = $1.0 \ \mu$ M, O₃ = $5.0 \ \mu$ M, PO₄ buffer = $0.1 \ m$ M, Na₂S₂O₃ = $0.075 \ m$ M, pH = 7.1, Temp. = $21.5 - 21.7^{\circ}$ C).

3.3.2.2 Effect of pH on Oseltamivir Degradation

The degradation of OSP via O₃ was monitored at pH levels of 4.0, 5.5, 7.0, 8.5, 10.0, and 11.0 in order to provide a better description of the mechanism and factors that greatly impact the reaction. The results shown in Figure 3.4 show that the first-order rate constant changes very little between pH 4.0 – 7.0 and increases between pH 7.0 – 8.5. Similar results were shown in the study by Mestankova et al. (2012) with a significant increase in apparent rate constant from 2.5×10^4 to 1.7×10^5 when comparing the value at pH 3 and pH 7 – 8, respectively. Studies also showed significant increases in observed rate constant for the organic acids cinnamic acid and para-chlorobenzoic acid which both share carboxylate functional groups in close parameter with an alkene bond (Park et al., 2004; Letizke et al., 2001). This increase in rate constant may be due to the increase in hydroxyl radicals that results from increased ozone decomposition and longer hydroxyl radical lifetimes at elevated pH levels. In some cases where there is an absence of ozone fast-reacting compounds, hydroxyl radicals may result in an increase in reaction kinetics (Beltran & Fernando, 2003). At pH 8.5, the combined degradation effects of molecular ozone as well as the increased impact from hydroxyl radicals causes the larger degradation rate constant.



Figure 3. 4 Effect of pH on the pseudo-first order degradation of OSP via O₃ batch treatment (OSP = $1.0 \ \mu$ M, O₃ = $10.0 \ \mu$ M, PO₄ buffer = $0.1 \ m$ M, Na₂S₂O₃ = $0.15 \ m$ M, Temp. = $21.8 - 22.6^{\circ}$ C, NaOH & H₂SO₄ as pH adjustment).

At pH levels 10.0 and 11.0, an overall decrease in apparent rate constant is observed the OSP concentration rapidly decreases during the first 5 second time interval followed by a plateau with little to no changes in concentration following the initial period. This plateau is likely due to the exhaustion of O₃ presence in the reactor due to the significantly decreased stability of O₃ at high pH values (Beltran & Fernando, 2003). The data suggests that while the degradation rate constant is rapid initially, likely due to the presence of hydroxyl radicals, there is insufficient oxidant present to fully degrade the available OSP.

3.3.2.3 Matrix Effects on Oseltamivir Degradation

The effects of numerous cations and anions were monitored for their effects on the degradation capabilities of O₃ on OSP. The ions tested are found commonly in salts present in natural settings and monitored for in treatment plants allowing for testing concentrations to be generated via historical records. The anions tested were Cl⁻ (250 mg L⁻¹), NO₃⁻ (0.5 mg N L⁻¹), Br⁻ (2 mg L⁻¹) and SO₄²⁻ (100 mg L⁻¹) with concentrations chosen based on concentrations reports in wastewater treatment plants (Soltermann et al., 2016; Wu et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2013). Among the anions tested, the apparent largest impactors were Cl⁻ and SO₄²⁻, with Br⁻ and NO₃⁻ having relatively lower impact as can be seen in Figure 3.5. The cations tested were Na⁺ (162.08 mg L⁻¹), K⁺ (275.64 mg L⁻¹), Ca²⁺ (141.27 mg L⁻¹), Mg²⁺ (85.68 mg L⁻¹), and NH₄⁺ (120.07 mg L⁻¹), with concentrations chosen to keep Cl⁻ concentration constant. All of the cations tested had similar effects on the degradation kinetics as seen in Figure 3.5. The data suggests that none of the ions have a statistically different effect on OSP degradation from a no matrix sample from an unpaired t-test shown in Table A.1; an ANOVA analysis shown in Table A.2 does

however state that there are statistically different differences within the population. The ionic strength of the solution does appears to have an impact on the apparent rate constant. This finding was tested by comparing the rate constants of two NaCl solutions of differing concentrations, which resulted in the 0.125 M NaCl solution with a rate constant (k') of 8.53 \times 10⁻² s⁻¹ and the 0.250M NaCl with a k' = 7.47 \times 10⁻² s⁻¹. The impact of the ionic strength comes from its effect on the Henry's law constant (K_h) which has an effect on the solubility of ozone in water as described in Equation 6,

$$\ln K_h = aT^{-1} + b\mu + c\mu T^{-1} + d$$
 Equation 6

where a - d are experimentally determined coefficients, *T* is the absolute temperature, and μ is the ionic strength (Kosak-Channing & Helz, 1983; Sotelo et al., 1989; Mekic et al., 2018). The ionic strength for each species can be found in Table A.2 where the ionic strength was calculated using Equation 7 where *c* is the molar concentration of the solution and *z* is the charge number of that ion. The decreased solubility of ozone in water may result in less available ozone for degradation, resulting in a decreased rate constant.

$$\mu = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^n c_i z_i^2$$

Equation 7



Figure 3. 5 Matrix effects of various anions and cations via ionic salts on the pseudo-first order degradation of OSP via O₃ batch treatment ([NaCl] = 7.05 mM, [KCl] = 7.05 mM, [CaCl₂] = 3.53 mM, [MgCl₂] = 3.53 mM, [NH₄Cl] = 7.05 mM, [NaNO₃] = 36.0μ M, [NaBr] = 25.0μ M, [Na₂SO₄] = 1.04 mM, [O₃] = 10μ M, reaction time = 30 s, Temp. = 21.7 - 22.4 °C, pH = 6.9 - 7.1).

3.3.2.4 Oseltamivir Degradation in Wastewater

The effects of real wastewater matrixes on O_3 degradation of OSP were determined using UV-treated secondary effluent. The secondary effluent was characterized and found to contain a DOC of 7.249 mg L⁻¹, an ozone demand of 4.04 mg O_3 L⁻¹, Cl⁻ concentration of 232 mg L⁻¹, NO₃⁻ concentration of 9.81 mg L⁻¹, SO₄²⁻ concentration of 16.5 mg L⁻¹, and a Br⁻ concentration of <1 mg L⁻¹. By monitoring the concentrations of OSP, O₃, and the DOC levels, we are able to determine how the ozone is utilized in a real water system. Experimentally examining the removal oseltamivir with respect to the ratio of ozone to DOC (g O₃ / g DOC) allows us to determine how the system responds to varying conditions as well as determine the required

concentration to fully degrade the target compound. The ratios of g O₃ / g DOC ranged from 0.0 to 1.0 based on suggestions that pharmaceuticals that are either easily or moderately degradable by ozone require a ratio < 1.20 for a one-decade removal of pollutant (Antoniou et al., 2013). Figure 3.6 shows that oseltamivir degradation follows a linear relationship with increasing g O_3 / g DOC ratio, suggesting oseltamivir is broken down efficiently and early in the reaction simultaneously or before other organics from the DOC. The data shows that an ozone dose of 0.544 g O_3 / g DOC sufficiently removes >98% of residual OSP from the wastewater sample. The degradability of OSP via O₃ in wastewater is reinforced in the study by Ghosh et al. (2010) who found ozone effectively removed >90% of the oseltamivir metabolite oseltamivir carboxylate in a full-scale tertiary ozonation process. The monitoring of the ozone concentration shows that the available ozone is fully consumed during this process. As shown in Figure 3.6, there is an increase in DOC concentration as the ozone dose increases, this has been reported in other studies such as Papageorgiou et al. (2017) and Tregeur et al., (2010) who suggest this phenomenon results from ozone's ability to dissolve particulate organic carbon (POC), reducing its hydrophobicity and resulting in a DOC increase of the water.



Figure 3. 6 Ozonation of OSP in secondary effluent showing changing concentrations of OSP, O₃, and DOC over time (OSP = $1.0 \ \mu$ M, O₃ = $0.0 - 5.0 \ \mu$ M, PO₄ buffer = $0.1 \ m$ M, Na₂S₂O₃ = $0.15 \ m$ M, Temp. = 22.0° C, pH = 7.4 - 8.0, time = $60 \ seconds$).

3.3.2.5 Molecular Ozone and Hydroxyl Radical Kinetics

Ozone degradation occurs via both direct and indirect reactions; direct reactions involve oxidation via the ozone molecule itself, and indirect reactions involve reaction with the hydroxyl radical, formed during the decomposition of ozone or from other direct ozone reactions (Beltran & Fernando, 2003). By monitoring the degradation via a singular reaction, it provides information on the most efficient mechanism for OSP degradation. Our studies examining the degradation of OSP via O_3 with the hydroxyl radical scavenger tert-butyl alcohol (TBA) are shown in Figure 3.7. At pH 7 found that the apparent rate constant only differed slightly, adjusting from 0.0807 s⁻¹ without scavenger to 0.0721 s⁻¹ with one. This experimental design repeated at pH 8.5 found similar results, with little difference between the scavenger-free rate constant of 0.113 s⁻¹ and 0.119 s⁻¹ with scavenger, suggesting that at neutral pH, direct oxidation

has the largest impact. When tested at a more basic pH of 10.0, the variation from the TBA increased, suggesting that hydroxyl radicals play a larger role in basic systems. This finding was expected due to ozone's lowered stability in basic environments leading to an increased formation of hydroxyl radical as outlined in section 3.2.2. While it is likely that hydroxyl radicals may serve to degrade OSP quicker due to their higher oxidation potential (E°) of 2.72 V compared to ozone's potential of 1.89 V (Schwarz & Dodson, 1984), in our experiments the micropollutant is removed to a greater extent via molecular ozone. Based on the data shown in Figure 3.7, subtracting the molecular ozonation first-order rate constant (0.0721 s⁻¹) from the overall ozonation first-order rate constant (0.0835 s⁻¹) provides an estimated rate constant of 0.0114 s⁻¹ with \cdot OH, note that a more accurate value can be obtained via a competitive experiment.



Figure 3. 7 Pseudo-first order rate constant values for OSP degradation with and without TBA scavenger at pH 7.0, 8.5 and 10.0 (OSP = 1.0μ M, O₃ = 10.0μ M, PO₄ buffer = 0.1μ M, Na₂S₂O₃ = 0.15μ M, TBA = 100μ M, Temp. = $22.7 - 23.9^{\circ}$ C, NaOH as pH adjustment).

3.3.3 Byproducts of Oseltamivir Degradation

The byproducts of the ozonation of OSP were determined in order to examine the significance of various compounds being produced during an ozone oxidation process. Studies have shown that the oxidation products produced from ozonation processes can result in increased toxicity with potential danger to aquatic organisms (Slater et al., 2010; Wu et al., 2019). Byproduct analysis performed here involved the use of HPLC-TOF-MS, making the elucidation of structures difficult without further testing, therefore structures suggested here are assumptions based on data suggested in other studies and predictions based on the structure and molecular formula of the parent compound (Gonçalves et al., 2011; Junwal et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2015). Proposed pathways for byproduct formation are shown in Figure 3.9.

Of the byproducts analyzed, some showed decreasing abundance with increased ozone exposure shown in figure 3.8. The products m/z 225, m/z 208, m/z 180, m/z 162, and m/z 166 all showed decreasing concentration over a longer ozone exposure period ranging from 0 - 30 seconds. The suggested structures and formulas of these products are shown in Figure 3.8. The decreasing concentration over time of these products suggest that they are further transformed or broken down into smaller constituents as ozone dose increases. Based on these findings, it would be less likely to find these transition products at high concentrations in natural water settings compared to more ozone resilient products.

Some of the degradation products showed increasing concentration correlating with increased ozone exposure as shown in Figure 3.8. The degradation products that followed this trend are m/z 327, m/z 345, m/z 361, and m/z 377, with structures and formulas shown in Figure 3.9. Byproducts m/z 345, m/z 361, and m/z 377 showed relatively low concentrations, with very small responses in the chromatograms, suggesting they are very minor products at most, the

exact conformation of these products is also not known. The byproduct with m/z 327 on the other hand had a very high relative response, with the largest integration value of all byproducts that were analyzed. The structure of m/z 327 is very similar to that of oseltamivir with Wang et al. (2015) suggesting that it is produced by a keto-derivatization. The relatively high abundance of this byproduct suggests that while oseltamivir itself is removed efficiently by ozonation, byproducts may be formed in significant quantities that have very similar structures to the parent compound.



Figure 3. 8 Changing byproducts concentrations from ozonation of OSP with ozone exposure times ranging from 0 - 30 seconds. (OSP = 1.0 μ M, O₃ = 10.0 μ M, PO₄ buffer = 0.1 mM, Na₂S₂O₃ = 0.15 mM).



Figure 3. 9 Mass spectrum of ozonated OSP solution outlining byproducts of ozonation with structures and formulas of byproducts (byproduct structures suggested by Goncalves et al. (2011), Junwal et al. (2012), and Wang et al. (2015)). Byproducts with structures and formulas not reported are m/z 349, m/z 367, m/z 309, and m/z 245.



Figure 3. 10 Proposed pathway for the degradation of oseltamivir and production of degradation products via ozonation.

Other byproducts maintained a relatively high abundance with no clear change in concentration over ozonation period shown in figure 3.8. The products that fit into this category are m/z 285, m/z 268, m/z 198, and m/z 197 whose structures are shown in Figure 3.9. Byproducts represented in this section all follow the trend of having both relatively high concentrations and time of ozonation having no noticeable trend on their concentration, this suggests that these products are both produced in high concentrations and potentially resistant to ozonation processes. These findings suggest that the byproducts represented in this section have a higher likelihood of being discovered in natural water settings due to their abundance and resistance to degradation, two important factors related to environmental persistence (Webster, 1998).

Figure 3.10 outlines the proposed pathways of OSP degradation via ozonation. The proposed pathways were reported based on branching areas which can be more easily removed from the base structure and nucleophilic centres more susceptible to bond formation. The byproducts on the left pathway (m/z 225, 208, and 166) show decreasing concentrations over ozone exposure suggesting they likely have low energy barriers for degradation and further breakdown into constituents. Products shown on the right pathway (m/z 197, 198, 268, and 285) are present in larger concentrations and appear to be more persistent to ozone degradation, suggesting they have greater energy barriers of degradation.

3.3.4 Toxicity Analysis

3.3.4.1 Acute Toxicity Analysis via Bioluminescence Inhibition Test (V. fischeri)

The acute toxicity of oseltamivir and byproducts was monitored for acute toxicity against *V. fischeri* to determine the potential negative effects of oseltamivir and ozonation of oseltamivir.

Samples were set up to provide information on oseltamivir toxicity in both pure water and real wastewater matrices for both the parent compound and any potential oxidation byproducts produced during ozonation. The oseltamivir concentration examined in these experiments was set to 1.0 μ M (0.41 mg L⁻¹) with the goal of being near to the strongest reported concentration in surface waters of 556.9 ng L⁻¹ which was reported in Japan (Takanami et al., 2012; Soderstrom et al., 2009; Jarhult et al., 2011) Results in Figure 3.11 show that oseltamivir produces no positive acute toxicity towards *V. fischeri* in either water or wastewater.

Toxicity experiments also examined the post-ozonation solutions in order to determine the possibility of production of toxic intermediates or disinfection byproducts. Reasoning for this analysis comes from a study of the oxidation of the antiviral drug acyclovir which produced N-(4-carbamoyl-2-imino-5-oxoimidazolidin)-formamido-N-methoxyacetic acid (COFA) which was found to have acute bacterial toxicity (Prasse et al., 2012). As shown in Figure 3.11, no increase in acute toxicity was observed from ozonation of oseltamivir in ODFW or secondary effluent matrices, suggesting the products do not increase bacterial toxicity.



Figure 3. 11 Percent inhibition of acute toxicity samples A) Pure ODFW, B) Buffered ODFW with sodium thiosulfate, C) OSP control, D) ozonated OSP sample, E) Secondary effluent, F) Ozonated secondary effluent, G) OSP spiked ozonated secondary effluent (negative effect indicates no acute toxicity).



3.3.4.2 Genotoxicity in Escherichia Coli (Mutagenicity)



Genotoxicity analysis was performed very similarly to the acute bacterial toxicity tests in section 3.4.1 with emphasis examining OSP in ODFW and secondary effluent matrices both before and after ozone treatment. The SOS-ChromoTest used here is a replacement for the Ames test for genotoxicity measurement, it is a colorimetric assay which measures expression of genes caused by genotoxic agents via a fusion with the structural gene for β -galactosidase (Quillardet & Hofnung, 1993). Results from the genotoxicity test are shown in Figure 3.12. The survival rate for all samples utilized was >80%, according to the manufacturers specifications, this indicates the samples are valid and not cytotoxic to the test bacteria. All reported IFs were less than a value of 1.1, significantly lower than the manufacturers genotoxic threshold of 1.5. This suggests that all samples tested were not genotoxic and did not contain genotoxic substances.

Interestingly, sample G which included ozonated secondary effluent spiked with OSP had a lower IF than other samples, suggesting the addition of OSP and oxidation byproducts may have decreased the genotoxicity of the effluent. These findings are in line with those discussed by Ila & Ilhan (2012) who found no evidence of genotoxic dose-dependency in sister chromatid exchange, chromosomal aberration, and cytokinesis-blocked micronucleus assays.

3.4 Conclusion

This study showed that ozonation as a tertiary treatment for the removal of oseltamivir is a strong option for removal where traditional treatment methods have failed. The effect of matrix pH on the degradation process was found to have some strongly negative effects on the extreme high-end of the spectrum, but in all other regions remains an effective option for the removal of oseltamivir. Matrix effects from various ions were also shown to have minimal effect on ozone degradation, with the largest effect likely coming from the ionic strength of the matrix. The degradation of OSP in wastewater proved to be effective, with a 0.544 g O_3 /g DOC ratio capable of removing >95% of present OSP. Many of the most abundant byproducts of OSP ozonation were identified and pathways of formation were suggested, these byproducts were also shown to produce no acute toxicity towards *V. fischeri* and were not found to cause any increase in potential genotoxicity.

References

- Accinelli, C., Saccà, M. L., Fick, J., Mencarelli, M., Lindberg, R., & Olsen, B. (2010). Dissipation and removal of oseltamivir (Tamiflu) in different aquatic environments. *Chemosphere*, 79(8), 891-897.
- Antoniou, M. G., Hey, G., Vega, S. R., Spiliotopoulou, A., Fick, J., Tysklind, M., la Cour Jansen, J., Andersen, H. R. (2013). Required ozone doses for removing pharmaceuticals from wastewater effluents. *Science of the Total Environment*, 456, 42-49.
- Bader, H., & Hoigné, J. (1981). Determination of ozone in water by the indigo method. *Water Research*, 15(4), 449-456.

- Behind, L. N. O. (2019). The United Nations World Water Development Report 2019. In: Paris: UNESCO.
- Beltran, F. J. (2003). Ozone reaction kinetics for water and wastewater systems. crc Press.
- Benitez, F. J., Beltrán-Heredia, J., Acero, J. L., & Rubio, F. J. (2000). Rate constants for the reactions of ozone with chlorophenols in aqueous solutions. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 79(3), 271-285.
- Broséus, R., Vincent, S., Aboulfadl, K., Daneshvar, A., Sauvé, S., Barbeau, B., & Prévost, M. (2009). Ozone oxidation of pharmaceuticals, endocrine disruptors and pesticides during drinking water treatment. *Water Research*, 43(18), 4707-4717.
- Dowideit, P., & von Sonntag, C. (1998). Reaction of ozone with ethene and its methyl-and chlorine-substituted derivatives in aqueous solution. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *32*(8), 1112-1119.
- Ghosh, G. C., Nakada, N., Yamashita, N., & Tanaka, H. (2010). Occurrence and fate of oseltamivir carboxylate (Tamiflu) and amantadine in sewage treatment plants. *Chemosphere*, 81(1), 13-17.
- Gillman, A. (2016). Risk of resistant avian influenza A virus in wild waterfowl as a result of environmental release of oseltamivir. *Infection Ecology & Epidemiology*, 6(1), 32870.
- Gillman, A., Nykvist, M., Muradrasoli, S., Söderström, H., Wille, M., Daggfeldt, A., Bröjer, C., Waldenström, J., Olsen, B., Järhult, J. D. (2015). Influenza A (H7N9) virus acquires resistance-related neuraminidase I222T substitution when infected mallards are exposed to low levels of oseltamivir in water. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 59(9), 5196-5202.
- Gonçalves, C., Perez, S., Osorio, V., Petrovic, M., Alpendurada, M., & Barcelo, D. (2011). Photofate of oseltamivir (Tamiflu) and oseltamivir carboxylate under natural and simulated solar irradiation: kinetics, identification of the transformation products, and environmental occurrence. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 45(10), 4307-4314.
- He, H. (2013). Vaccines and antiviral agents. *Current Issues in Molecular Virology: Viral Genetics and Biotechnological Applications*, 2013, 239-250.
- Ila, H. B., & Ilhan, A. (2012). In vitro genotoxic perspective of Tamiflu. *Cytotechnology*, 64(4), 443-449.
- Junwal, M., Sahu, A., Handa, T., Shah, R. P., & Singh, S. (2012). ICH guidance in practice: degradation behaviour of oseltamivir phosphate under stress conditions. *Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis*, 62, 48-60.

- Järhult, J. D. (2012). Oseltamivir (Tamiflu®) in the environment, resistance development in influenza A viruses of dabbling ducks and the risk of transmission of an oseltamivirresistant virus to humans–a review. *Infection Ecology & Epidemiology*, 2(1), 18385.
- Järhult, J. D., Muradrasoli, S., Wahlgren, J., Söderström, H., Orozovic, G., Gunnarsson, G., Bröjer, C., Latorre-Margalef, N., Fick, J., Grabic, R. (2011). Environmental levels of the antiviral oseltamivir induce development of resistance mutation H274Y in influenza A/H1N1 virus in mallards. *PLoS One*, 6(9), e24742.
- Kosak-Channing, L. F., & Helz, G. R. (1983). Solubility of ozone in aqueous solutions of 0-0.6 M ionic strength at 5-30. degree. C. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 17(3), 145-149.
- Leitzke, A., Reisz, E., Flyunt, R., & von Sonntag, C. (2001). The reactions of ozone with cinnamic acids: formation and decay of 2-hydroperoxy-2-hydroxyacetic acid. *Journal of the Chemical Society, Perkin Transactions* 2(5), 793-797.
- Luo, Y., Guo, W., Ngo, H. H., Nghiem, L. D., Hai, F. I., Zhang, J., Liang, S., Wang, X. C. (2014). A review on the occurrence of micropollutants in the aquatic environment and their fate and removal during wastewater treatment. *Science of the Total Environment*, 473, 619-641.
- McClellan, K., & Perry, C. M. (2001). Oseltamivir. Drugs, 61(2), 263-283.
- Mekic, M., Loisel, G., Zhou, W., Jiang, B., Vione, D., & Gligorovski, S. (2018a). Ionic-strength effects on the reactive uptake of ozone on aqueous pyruvic acid: Implications for air-sea ozone deposition. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *52*(21), 12306-12315.
- Mekic, M., Loisel, G., Zhou, W., Jiang, B., Vione, D., & Gligorovski, S. (2018b). Ionic-strength effects on the reactive uptake of ozone on aqueous pyruvic acid: Implications for air-sea ozone deposition. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *52*(21), 12306-12315.
- Mestankova, H., Schirmer, K., Escher, B. I., von Gunten, U., & Canonica, S. (2012). Removal of the antiviral agent oseltamivir and its biological activity by oxidative processes. *Environmental Pollution*, *161*, 30-35.
- Papageorgiou, A., Stylianou, S. K., Kaffes, P., Zouboulis, A. I., & Voutsa, D. (2017). Effects of ozonation pretreatment on natural organic matter and wastewater derived organic matter–Possible implications on the formation of ozonation byproducts. *Chemosphere*, 170, 33-40.
- Park, J.-S., Choi, H., & Cho, J. (2004). Kinetic decomposition of ozone and para-chlorobenzoic acid (pCBA) during catalytic ozonation. *Water Research*, 38(9), 2285-2292.

- Prasse, C., Schlüsener, M. P., Schulz, R., & Ternes, T. A. (2010). Antiviral drugs in wastewater and surface waters: a new pharmaceutical class of environmental relevance? *Environmental Science & Technology*, 44(5), 1728-1735.
- Prasse, C., Wagner, M., Schulz, R., & Ternes, T. A. (2012). Oxidation of the antiviral drug acyclovir and its biodegradation product carboxy-acyclovir with ozone: kinetics and identification of oxidation products. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 46(4), 2169-2178.
- Quillardet, P., & Hofnung, M. (1993). The SOS chromotest: a review. *Mutation Research/Reviews in Genetic Toxicology*, 297(3), 235-279.
- Schwarz, H., & Dodson, R. (1984). Equilibrium between hydroxyl radicals and thallium (II) and the oxidation potential of hydroxyl (aq). *The Journal of Physical Chemistry*, 88(16), 3643-3647.
- Schwarzenbach, R. P., Escher, B. I., Fenner, K., Hofstetter, T. B., Johnson, C. A., Von Gunten, U., & Wehrli, B. (2006). The challenge of micropollutants in aquatic systems. *Science*, 313(5790), 1072-1077.
- Simazaki, D., Kubota, R., Suzuki, T., Akiba, M., Nishimura, T., & Kunikane, S. (2015). Occurrence of selected pharmaceuticals at drinking water purification plants in Japan and implications for human health. *Water Research*, *76*, 187-200.
- Singer, A. C., Nunn, M. A., Gould, E. A., & Johnson, A. C. (2007). Potential risks associated with the proposed widespread use of Tamiflu. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *115*(1), 102-106.
- Soltermann, F., Abegglen, C., Gotz, C., & Von Gunten, U. (2016). Bromide sources and loads in Swiss surface waters and their relevance for bromate formation during wastewater ozonation. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *50*(18), 9825-9834.
- SOS-ChromoTest. (2019). SOS Chromotest Procedure S9 Activation and Express Strains Version 6.6. In E. B.-D. P. Inc. (Ed.). Ontario, Canada: ebpi Inc.
- Sotelo, J. L., Beltrán, F. J., González, M., & Domínguez, J. (1989). Effect of high salt concentrations on ozone decomposition in water. *Journal of Environmental Science & Health Part A*, 24(7), 823-842.
- Stalter, D., Magdeburg, A., Weil, M., Knacker, T., & Oehlmann, J. (2010). Toxication or detoxication? In vivo toxicity assessment of ozonation as advanced wastewater treatment with the rainbow trout. *Water Research*, 44(2), 439-448.
- Straub, J. O. (2009). An environmental risk assessment for oseltamivir (Tamiflu®) for sewage works and surface waters under seasonal-influenza-and pandemic-use conditions. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 72(6), 1625-1634.

- Söderström, H., Järhult, J. D., Olsen, B., Lindberg, R. H., Tanaka, H., & Fick, J. (2009). Detection of the antiviral drug oseltamivir in aquatic environments. *PloS One*, 4(6), e6064.
- Takanami, R., Ozaki, H., Giri, R. R., Taniguchi, S., & Hayashi, S. (2012). Antiviral drugs zanamivir and oseltamivir found in wastewater and surface water in Osaka, Japan. Journal of Water and Environment Technology, 10(1), 57-68.
- Teklehaimanot, G. Z., Kamika, I., Coetzee, M. A., & Momba, M. (2015). Population growth and its impact on the design capacity and performance of the wastewater treatment plants in Sedibeng and Soshanguve, South Africa. *Environmental Management*, 56(4), 984-997.
- Tong, S. Y., Dakh, F., Hurt, A. C., Deng, Y.-M., Freeman, K., Fagan, P. K., Barr, I. J., Giffard, P. M. (2011). Rapid detection of the H275Y oseltamivir resistance mutation in influenza A/H1N1 2009 by single base pair RT-PCR and high-resolution melting. *PLoS One*, 6(6), e21446.
- Treguer, R., Tatin, R., Couvert, A., Wolbert, D., & Tazi-Pain, A. (2010). Ozonation effect on natural organic matter adsorption and biodegradation–application to a membrane bioreactor containing activated carbon for drinking water production. *Water Research*, 44(3), 781-788.
- Vatankhah, H., Riley, S. M., Murray, C., Quiñones, O., Steirer, K. X., Dickenson, E. R., & Bellona, C. (2019). Simultaneous ozone and granular activated carbon for advanced treatment of micropollutants in municipal wastewater effluent. *Chemosphere*, 234, 845-854.
- Virkutyte, J., & Varma, R. (2010). *Treatment of micropollutants in water and wastewater*. IWA Publishing.
- Wang, W.-L., Wu, Q.-Y., Wang, Z.-M., Hu, H.-Y., Negishi, N., & Torimura, M. (2015). Photocatalytic degradation of the antiviral drug Tamiflu by UV-A/TiO₂: Kinetics and mechanisms. *Chemosphere*, 131, 41-47.
- Webster, E., Mackay, D., & Wania, F. (1998). Evaluating environmental persistence. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry: An International Journal*, 17(11), 2148-2158.
- Wu, Q.-Y., Li, Y., Hu, H.-Y., Sun, Y.-X., & Zhao, F.-Y. (2010). Reduced effect of bromide on the genotoxicity in secondary effluent of a municipal wastewater treatment plant during chlorination. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 44(13), 4924-4929.
- Wu, Q.-Y., Zhou, Y.-T., Li, W., Zhang, X., Du, Y., & Hu, H.-Y. (2019). Underestimated risk from ozonation of wastewater containing bromide: Both organic byproducts and bromate contributed to the toxicity increase. *Water Research*, 162, 43-52.

Zhang, F., Ge, Z., Grimaud, J., Hurst, J., & He, Z. (2013). Long-term performance of liter-scale microbial fuel cells treating primary effluent installed in a municipal wastewater treatment facility. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 47(9), 4941-4948.

Chapter 4: Conclusions and Recommendations

4.1 Thesis Overview

Antiviral drugs can be characterized by their diversity in structure, toxicological effects, environmental fate, and their ability to be removed in conventional treatment methods. The release of antiviral drugs is a threat to the stability and health of ecosystems; while the removal of these drugs can prove to be difficult, it is vital that we work towards a situation where we minimize our impact on local environs. Primary and secondary wastewater treatment processes such as screening, sedimentation and biological processes remain a valuable resource for removing suspended and dissolved matter. Despite the significant benefits of primary and secondary treatments, they fail to effectively remove many organic compounds, thus creates the requirement for oxidative processes designed for the disinfection and removal of organic compounds. Among those disinfection techniques is ozone which has shown promise in the removal of many traditionally persistent compounds due to its strong oxidative properties. Significant research has gone into the application and use of ozone as a wastewater treatment technique, however the byproducts generated after treatment remain unknown.

The second chapter of this thesis discusses research conducted in the realm of wastewater treatment in relation to antiviral drugs. The types of antiviral drugs and what health risks are associated is a vital piece of information to understand the big picture and provide suggestions on how unknown antiviral drugs may affect local ecosystems. The detection methods many for antiviral drugs in both natural water and wastewater settings has been determined, allowing for examination of the removal efficiencies of various forms of treatment processes and full-scale treatment plants. Despite the research that has occurred looking at treatment processes, there are many antivirals for which information is severely lacking. The environmental fate of antivirals is
a complex process that involves numerous factors including photodegradation, biodegradation, and adsorption which is largely unknown for many compounds. Due to the lack of information around the environmental fate of antiviral drugs, a resulting gap in the knowledge surrounding the potential toxicological effects presents itself. Very few studies have been conducted examining the long- or short-term effects of antiviral drugs on aquatic organisms, leading to misunderstandings around the severity and importance of their removal.

The third chapter discusses the treatment of oseltamivir phosphate via ozone oxidation and the factors that affect that process. It was found that ozonation was a capable method for the degradation of ozone, in pure water, the degradation was discovered to follow second order kinetic rules and ozone was able to >95% of oseltamivir present within 30 seconds. The factors that affect degradation can include pH, which can change throughout the year in wastewater; moving pH away from the neutral range was found to decrease degradation rate when approaching both acidic and basic extremes. The effect of the water matrix and ions present within was also investigated and was found to have minimal effect the ozone capabilities. An important area related to water oxidation is the production of byproducts due to their unknown and potentially dangerous nature; for oseltamivir, byproducts of ozonation were identified and tested for acute toxicity towards *V. fischeri* and genotoxicity which both came back negative.

4.2 Conclusions

In summary, the research presented in this thesis focussed on the use of advanced oxidation in the form of ozone with the purpose of removing oseltamivir from wastewater. The literature review presented within outlined the gaps in current knowledge related to the wastewater treatment of antiviral drugs, these gaps in knowledge provided the direction for the research project discussed within. The emphasis on this research was ozonation as a treatment

96

process through understanding the underlying mechanisms and outcomes related to this promising technique.

The removal of oseltamivir phosphate using ozonation was shown to be a very promising technique. The removal of oseltamivir from wastewater showed that a removal rate of >98% could be achieved with an ozone dosage of 0.544 g O₃/g DOC in 60 seconds. The kinetics of the reaction between oseltamivir and ozone follow the second order rate law and were found to be between 6787 – 9206 M⁻¹s⁻¹ using two different methods of calculation. The effects of various ions including Cl⁻, Br⁻ SO₄²⁻, NO₃⁻, Na⁺, Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺, K⁺, and NH₄⁺ on the rate of degradation were measured and found that none of which had a significant impact, but the ionic strength of the water likely has some negative effect. At neutral pH, the primary mechanism of oxidation via ozone was through molecular ozone at neutral pH with a shift towards hydroxyl radicals as the pH increased and molecular ozone lifespan decreased. The acute toxicity towards *V. fischeri* and genotoxic effects of oseltamivir and its DBPs were measured, and it was found that none of which caused any increase in toxicity.

4.3 Recommendations

The research presented herewith may lay groundwork for future research endeavours. The following are propositions for work to be conducted in future research based on gaps found in current and previous studies.

• Bench- or full-scale studies examining the removal of antiviral drugs via aerobic and anerobic digestion processes. Throughout my examination of literature, there were few studies found that specifically examined these processes, and instead examined wastewater treatment operations including the entire process train. Further examination into the conditions that allow these processes to thrive and information

on which antivirals are susceptible to this treatment method will provide more thorough understanding on the mechanisms, kinetics, and contributing factors that affect the process.

- Research examining the toxicity of degradation products resulting from advanced oxidation processes applied to the antiviral drugs. Few studies have focussed on the degradation products resulting from wastewater treatment, the possibility of generating potentially more toxic compounds than the parent compound exists and has been shown in studies related to the antiviral acyclovir. By looking at antiviral drugs individually, researchers will be able to screen for increases in various types of toxicity that may result from the degradation of the parent compounds.
- Photocatalytic advanced oxidation processes for the treatment of antiviral drugs. Studies have shown photocatalytic processes to be significantly more effective against antivirals than UV treatment alone. Further research into the types of catalysts may allow to produce cost effective and efficient tools for wastewater disinfection.
- Studies examining the environmental fate of antiviral drugs once they are released from treatment plants. Investigating how antiviral drugs behave once they are introduced into natural waters will provide information on how and where they accumulate. Pollutants can accumulate in wildlife, plants, lakes, rivers, and soil; understanding the endpoint of pollution will provide knowledge on which antivirals pose the most significant risk.
- Examination of the effects of wastewater conditions on the production of degradation products from oseltamivir ozonation. The generation of byproducts has the potential to change based on the conditions of the degradation, studying this process in real

water and wastewater matrixes may result in different, potentially dangerous products that should be identified.

• Examination of the use of catalytic ozonation and its effectiveness on oseltamivir and other antiviral drugs. Various catalysts made from carbon, metals, or other materials can improve upon some problems such as mineralization and toxic byproduct production. Studies examining the use of iron, manganese, or carbon nanoparticle-based catalysts may prove to improve upon techniques.

Bibliography

- Abafe, O. A., Späth, J., Fick, J., Jansson, S., Buckley, C., Stark, A., Pietruschka, B., Martincigh, B. S. (2018). LC-MS/MS determination of antiretroviral drugs in influents and effluents from wastewater treatment plants in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. *Chemosphere*, 200, 660-670.
- Accinelli, C., Saccà, M. L., Fick, J., Mencarelli, M., Lindberg, R., & Olsen, B. (2010). Dissipation and removal of oseltamivir (Tamiflu) in different aquatic environments. *Chemosphere*, 79(8), 891-897.
- Adkins, J. C., & Noble, S. (1998). Efavirenz. Drugs, 56(6), 1055-1064.
- Agrawal, U., Raju, R., & Udwadia, Z. F. (2020). Favipiravir: A new and emerging antiviral option in COVID-19. *Medical Journal Armed Forces India*.
- Akhtar, M. F., Ashraf, M., Javeed, A., Anjum, A. A., Sharif, A., Saleem, A., Akhtar, B., Khan, A. M., Altaf, I. (2016). Toxicity appraisal of untreated dyeing industry wastewater based on chemical characterization and short term bioassays. *Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, 96(4), 502-507.
- Aminot, Y., Litrico, X., Chambolle, M., Arnaud, C., Pardon, P., & Budzindki, H. (2015). Development and application of a multi-residue method for the determination of 53 pharmaceuticals in water, sediment, and suspended solids using liquid chromatographytandem mass spectrometry. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, 407(28), 8585-8604.
- An, J., Li, G., An, T., Song, W., Feng, H., & Lu, Y. (2015). Photocatalytic degradation of three amantadine antiviral drugs as well as their eco-toxicity evolution. *Catalysis Today*, 258, 602-609.
- An, T., An, J., Yang, H., Li, G., Feng, H., & Nie, X. (2011). Photocatalytic degradation kinetics and mechanism of antivirus drug-lamivudine in TiO₂ dispersion. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 197, 229-236.
- Anglada, A., Urtiaga, A., & Ortiz, I. (2009). Contributions of electrochemical oxidation to waste-water treatment: fundamentals and review of applications. *Journal of Chemical Technology & Biotechnology*, 84(12), 1747-1755.
- Antoniou, M. G., Hey, G., Vega, S. R., Spiliotopoulou, A., Fick, J., Tysklind, M., la Cour Jansen, J., Andersen, H. R. (2013). Required ozone doses for removing pharmaceuticals from wastewater effluents. *Science of the Total Environment*, 456, 42-49.

- Apostolova, N., Blas-Garcia, A., Galindo, M. J., & Esplugues, J. V. (2017). Efavirenz: what is known about the cellular mechanisms responsible for its adverse effects. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 812, 163-173.
- Arabi, Y. M., Fowler, R., & Hayden, F. G. (2020). Critical care management of adults with community-acquired severe respiratory viral infection. *Intensive Care Medicine*, 46(2), 315-328.
- Avataneo, V., De Nicolò, A., Cusato, J., Antonucci, M., Manca, A., Palermiti, A., Waitt, C., Walimbwa, S., Lamorde, M., Di Perri, G. (2020). Development and validation of a UHPLC-MS/MS method for quantification of the prodrug remdesivir and its metabolite GS-441524: a tool for clinical pharmacokinetics of SARS-CoV-2/COVID-19 and Ebola virus disease. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 75(7), 1772-1777.
- Azuma, T., Ishida, M., Hisamatsu, K., Yunoki, A., Otomo, K., Kunitou, M., Shimizu, M., Hosomaru, K., Mikata, S., Mino, Y. (2017). Fate of new three anti-influenza drugs and one prodrug in the water environment. *Chemosphere*, 169, 550-557.
- Bader, H., & Hoigné, J. (1981). Determination of ozone in water by the indigo method. *Water Research*, 15(4), 449-456.
- Bartels, P., & von Tümpling Jr, W. (2008). The environmental fate of the antiviral drug oseltamivir carboxylate in different waters. *Science of the Total Environment*, 405(1-3), 215-225.
- Beaucourt, S., & Vignuzzi, M. (2014). Ribavirin: a drug active against many viruses with multiple effects on virus replication and propagation. Molecular basis of ribavirin resistance. *Current Opinion in Virology*, 8, 10-15.
- Behind, L. N. O. (2019). The United Nations World Water Development Report 2019. In: Paris: UNESCO.
- Beltran, F. J. (2003). Ozone reaction kinetics for water and wastewater systems. crc Press.
- Benitez, F. J., Beltrán-Heredia, J., Acero, J. L., & Rubio, F. J. (2000). Rate constants for the reactions of ozone with chlorophenols in aqueous solutions. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 79(3), 271-285.
- Bensalah, N., Midassi, S., Ahmad, M. I., & Bedoui, A. (2020). Degradation of hydroxychloroquine by electrochemical advanced oxidation processes. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 402, 126279.
- Bentué-Ferrer, D., Arvieux, C., Tribut, O., Ruffault, A., & Bellissant, E. (2009). Clinical pharmacology, efficacy and safety of atazanavir: a review. *Expert Opinion on Drug Metabolism & Toxicology*, 5(11), 1455-1468.

- Bhembe, Y. A., Lukhele, L. P., Hlekelele, L., Ray, S. S., Sharma, A., Vo, D.-V. N., & Dlamini, L. N. (2020). Photocatalytic degradation of nevirapine with a heterostructure of fewlayer black phosphorus coupled with niobium (V) oxide nanoflowers (FL-BP@ Nb2O5). *Chemosphere*, 261, 128159.
- Bolton, J. R., Bircher, K. G., Tumas, W., & Tolman, C. A. (2001). Figures-of-merit for the technical development and application of advanced oxidation technologies for both electric-and solar-driven systems (IUPAC Technical Report). *Pure and Applied Chemistry*, 73(4), 627-637.
- Broséus, R., Vincent, S., Aboulfadl, K., Daneshvar, A., Sauvé, S., Barbeau, B., & Prévost, M. (2009). Ozone oxidation of pharmaceuticals, endocrine disruptors and pesticides during drinking water treatment. *Water Research*, 43(18), 4707-4717.
- Chandwani, A., & Shuter, J. (2008). Lopinavir/ritonavir in the treatment of HIV-1 infection: a review. *Therapeutics and Clinical Risk Management*, 4(5), 1023.
- Chiou, H.-E., Liu, C.-L., Buttrey, M. J., Kuo, H.-P., Liu, H.-W., Kuo, H.-T., & Lu, Y.-T. (2005). Adverse effects of ribavirin and outcome in severe acute respiratory syndrome: experience in two medical centers. *Chest*, 128(1), 263-272.
- Chowdhury, M. A., Derar, N., Hasan, S., Hinch, B., Ratnam, S., & Assaly, R. (2016). Acyclovir-induced neurotoxicity: a case report and review of literature. *American Journal of Therapeutics*, 23(3), e941-e943.
- Clercq, E. D. (2013). Highlights in antiviral drug research: antivirals at the horizon. *Medicinal Research Reviews*, *33*(6), 1215-1248.
- Congilosi, J. L., & Aga, D. S. (2021). Review on the fate of antimicrobials, antimicrobial resistance genes, and other micropollutants in manure during enhanced anaerobic digestion and composting. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 405, 123634.
- Croom, K. F., Dhillon, S., & Keam, S. J. (2009). Atazanavir. Drugs, 69(8), 1107-1140.
- Croxtall, J. D., & Perry, C. M. (2010). Lopinavir/ritonavir. Drugs, 70(14), 1885-1915.
- De Clercq, E. (2004). Antiviral drugs in current clinical use. *Journal of Clinical Virology*, 30(2), 115-133.
- De Clercq, E., & Li, G. (2016). Approved antiviral drugs over the past 50 years. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 29(3), 695-747.
- de Oliveira, H. M., Damiani, A. P., de Oliveira Dias, R., Romão, P. R., & Andrade, V. M. (2014). Effect of antiretroviral drugs on the DNA damage in mice. *Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 37(1), 390-395.

- Dong, L., Hu, S., & Gao, J. (2020). Discovering drugs to treat coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). Drug Discoveries & Therapeutics, 14(1), 58-60.
- Dowideit, P., & von Sonntag, C. (1998). Reaction of ozone with ethene and its methyl-and chlorine-substituted derivatives in aqueous solution. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *32*(8), 1112-1119.
- Durjava, M. K., Kolar, B., Arnus, L., Papa, E., Kovarich, S., Sahlin, U., & Peijnenburg, W. (2013). Experimental assessment of the environmental fate and effects of triazoles and benzotriazole. *Alternatives to Laboratory Animals*, 41(1), 65-75.
- Ehrhardt, S., Xie, C., Guo, N., Nelson, K., & Thio, C. L. (2015). Breastfeeding while taking lamivudine or tenofovir disoproxil fumarate: a review of the evidence. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, *60*(2), 275-278.
- Falås, P., Wick, A., Castronovo, S., Habermacher, J., Ternes, T. A., & Joss, A. (2016). Tracing the limits of organic micropollutant removal in biological wastewater treatment. *Water Research*, 95, 240-249.
- Feliciano, A. R. S., Andrade de Lucena, A. L., da Rocha Santana, R. M., Zaidan, L. E. M. C., Michelle da Silva, P., Napoleão, T. H., Duarte, M. M. M. B., Napoleão, D. C. (2020). Advanced oxidation processes employment for the degradation of lamivudine: kinetic assessment, toxicity study and mathematical modeling. *Water Quality Research Journal*, 55(3), 249-260.
- Funke, J., Prasse, C., & Ternes, T. A. (2016). Identification of transformation products of antiviral drugs formed during biological wastewater treatment and their occurrence in the urban water cycle. *Water Research*, 98, 75-83.
- Furuta, Y., Gowen, B. B., Takahashi, K., Shiraki, K., Smee, D. F., & Barnard, D. L. (2013). Favipiravir (T-705), a novel viral RNA polymerase inhibitor. *Antiviral Research*, 100(2), 446-454.
- Gago-Ferrero, P., Bletsou, A. A., Damalas, D. E., Aalizadeh, R., Alygizakis, N. A., Singer, H. P., Hollender, J., Thomaidis, N. S. (2020). Wide-scope target screening of> 2000 emerging contaminants in wastewater samples with UPLC-Q-ToF-HRMS/MS and smart evaluation of its performance through the validation of 195 selected representative analytes. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 387, 121712.
- Gao, J., & Hu, S. (2020). Update on use of chloroquine/hydroxychloroquine to treat coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). *Bioscience Trends*.
- Garcia-Segura, S., Ocon, J. D., & Chong, M. N. (2018). Electrochemical oxidation remediation of real wastewater effluents—a review. *Process Safety and Environmental Protection*, 113, 48-67.

- Ghosh, G. C., Nakada, N., Yamashita, N., & Tanaka, H. (2010). Occurrence and fate of oseltamivir carboxylate (Tamiflu) and amantadine in sewage treatment plants. *Chemosphere*, 81(1), 13-17.
- Ghosh, P., Samanta, A., & Ray, S. (2010). COD reduction of petrochemical industry wastewater using Fenton's oxidation. *The Canadian Journal of Chemical Engineering*, 88(6), 1021-1026.
- Gilbert, B. E., & Knight, V. (1986). Biochemistry and clinical applications of ribavirin. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, *30*(2), 201-205.
- Gillman, A. (2016). Risk of resistant avian influenza A virus in wild waterfowl as a result of environmental release of oseltamivir. *Infection Ecology & Epidemiology*, 6(1), 32870.
- Gillman, A., Nykvist, M., Muradrasoli, S., Söderström, H., Wille, M., Daggfeldt, A., Bröjer, C., Waldenström, J., Olsen, B., Järhult, J. D. (2015). Influenza A (H7N9) virus acquires resistance-related neuraminidase I222T substitution when infected mallards are exposed to low levels of oseltamivir in water. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 59(9), 5196-5202.
- Gnann Jr, J. W., Barton, N. H., & Whitley, R. J. (1983). Acyclovir: mechanism of action, pharmacokinetics, safety and clinical applications. *Pharmacotherapy: The Journal of Human Pharmacology and Drug Therapy*, *3*(5), 275-283.

Goldsmith, D. R., & Perry, C. M. (2003). Atazanavir. Drugs, 63(16), 1679-1693.

- Gonzalez-Gil, L., Papa, M., Feretti, D., Ceretti, E., Mazzoleni, G., Steimberg, N., Pedrazzani, R., Bertanza, G., Lema, J. M., Carballa, M. (2016). Is anaerobic digestion effective for the removal of organic micropollutants and biological activities from sewage sludge? *Water Research*, 102, 211-220.
- Gonçalves, C., Perez, S., Osorio, V., Petrovic, M., Alpendurada, M., & Barcelo, D. (2011). Photofate of oseltamivir (Tamiflu) and oseltamivir carboxylate under natural and simulated solar irradiation: kinetics, identification of the transformation products, and environmental occurrence. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 45(10), 4307-4314.
- Hamarapurkar, P., & Parate, A. N. (2013). HPLC method for the determination of emtricitabine and related degradation substances. *Journal of Chromatographic Science*, *51*(5), 419-424.
- He, H. (2013). Vaccines and antiviral agents. *Current Issues in Molecular Virology: Viral Genetics and Biotechnological Applications*, 2013, 239-250.
- Helbling, D. E., Hollender, J., Kohler, H.-p. E., Singer, H., & Fenner, K. (2010). Highthroughput identification of microbial transformation products of organic micropollutants. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 44(17), 6621-6627.

- Hosenbocus, S., & Chahal, R. (2013). Amantadine: a review of use in child and adolescent psychiatry. *Journal of the Canadian Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 22(1), 55.
- Hsu, A., Granneman, G. R., & Bertz, R. J. (1998). Ritonavir. *Clinical pharmacokinetics*, 35(4), 275-291.
- I Litter, M., & Quici, N. (2010). Photochemical advanced oxidation processes for water and wastewater treatment. *Recent Patents on Engineering*, 4(3), 217-241.
- Ibáñez, M., Borova, V., Boix, C., Aalizadeh, R., Bade, R., Thomaidis, N., & Hernandez, F. (2017). UHPLC-QTOF MS screening of pharmaceuticals and their metabolites in treated wastewater samples from Athens. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 323, 26-35.
- Ikehata, K., & Gamal El-Din, M. (2005). Aqueous pesticide degradation by ozonation and ozone-based advanced oxidation processes: a review (Part I). Ozone: Science and Engineering, 27(2), 83-114.
- Ila, H. B., & Ilhan, A. (2012). In vitro genotoxic perspective of Tamiflu. *Cytotechnology*, 64(4), 443-449.
- Jain, S., Kumar, P., Vyas, R. K., Pandit, P., & Dalai, A. K. (2013). Occurrence and removal of antiviral drugs in environment: a review. *Water, Air, & Soil Pollution, 224*(2), 1-19.
- Jarvis, B., & Faulds, D. (1999). Lamivudine. Drugs, 58(1), 101-141.
- Jefferson, T., Demicheli, V., Rivetti, D., Jones, M., Di Pietrantonj, C., & Rivetti, A. (2006). Antivirals for influenza in healthy adults: systematic review. *The Lancet*, *367*(9507), 303-313.
- Jefferson, T., Jones, M., Doshi, P., Spencer, E. A., Onakpoya, I., & Heneghan, C. J. (2014). Oseltamivir for influenza in adults and children: systematic review of clinical study reports and summary of regulatory comments. *BMJ*, *348*.
- Jordaan, M. A., & Shapi, M. (2017). Investigation of the solvent-dependent photolysis of a nonnucleoside reverse-transcriptase inhibitor, antiviral agent efavirenz. *Antiviral Chemistry and Chemotherapy*, 25(3), 94-104.
- Jorgensen, S. C., Kebriaei, R., & Dresser, L. D. (2020). Remdesivir: review of pharmacology, pre-clinical data, and emerging clinical experience for COVID-19. *Pharmacotherapy: The Journal of Human Pharmacology and Drug Therapy*, 40(7), 659-671.
- Junwal, M., Sahu, A., Handa, T., Shah, R. P., & Singh, S. (2012). ICH guidance in practice: degradation behaviour of oseltamivir phosphate under stress conditions. *Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis*, 62, 48-60.

- Järhult, J. D. (2012). Oseltamivir (Tamiflu®) in the environment, resistance development in influenza A viruses of dabbling ducks and the risk of transmission of an oseltamivirresistant virus to humans–a review. *Infection Ecology & Epidemiology*, 2(1), 18385.
- Järhult, J. D., Muradrasoli, S., Wahlgren, J., Söderström, H., Orozovic, G., Gunnarsson, G., Bröjer, C., Latorre-Margalef, N., Fick, J., Grabic, R. (2011). Environmental levels of the antiviral oseltamivir induce development of resistance mutation H274Y in influenza A/H1N1 virus in mallards. *PLoS One*, 6(9), e24742.
- K'oreje, K., Vergeynst, L., Ombaka, D., De Wispelaere, P., Okoth, M., Van Langenhove, H., & Demeestere, K. (2016). Occurrence patterns of pharmaceutical residues in wastewater, surface water and groundwater of Nairobi and Kisumu city, Kenya. *Chemosphere*, 149, 238-244.
- Kanaujiya, D. K., Paul, T., Sinharoy, A., & Pakshirajan, K. (2019). Biological treatment processes for the removal of organic micropollutants from wastewater: a review. *Current Pollution Reports*, 5(3), 112-128.
- Katz, L., Fraser, A., Gafter-Gvili, A., Leibovici, L., & Tur-Kaspa, R. (2008). Lamivudine prevents reactivation of hepatitis B and reduces mortality in immunosuppressed patients: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Viral Hepatitis*, *15*(2), 89-102.
- Kosak-Channing, L. F., & Helz, G. R. (1983). Solubility of ozone in aqueous solutions of 0-0.6 M ionic strength at 5-30. degree. C. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 17(3), 145-149.
- Kovalova, L., Knappe, D. R., Lehnberg, K., Kazner, C., & Hollender, J. (2013). Removal of highly polar micropollutants from wastewater by powdered activated carbon. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 20(6), 3607-3615.
- Kovalova, L., Siegrist, H., Singer, H., Wittmer, A., & McArdell, C. S. (2012). Hospital wastewater treatment by membrane bioreactor: performance and efficiency for organic micropollutant elimination. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 46(3), 1536-1545.
- Kumar, M., Kuroda, K., Dhangar, K., Mazumder, P., Sonne, C., Rinklebe, J. r., & Kitajima, M. (2020). Potential emergence of antiviral-resistant pandemic viruses via environmental drug exposure of animal reservoirs. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 54(14), 8503-8505.
- Lehnert, R., Pletz, M., Reuss, A., & Schaberg, T. (2016). Antiviral Medications in Seasonal and Pandemic Influenza: A Systematic Review. *Deutsches Ärzteblatt International*, 113(47), 799.
- Leitzke, A., Reisz, E., Flyunt, R., & von Sonntag, C. (2001). The reactions of ozone with cinnamic acids: formation and decay of 2-hydroperoxy-2-hydroxyacetic acid. *Journal of the Chemical Society, Perkin Transactions* 2(5), 793-797.

- Loomba, R., Rowley, A., Wesley, R., Liang, T. J., Hoofnagle, J. H., Pucino, F., & Csako, G. (2008). Systematic review: the effect of preventive lamivudine on hepatitis B reactivation during chemotherapy. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *148*(7), 519-528.
- Luo, Y., Guo, W., Ngo, H. H., Nghiem, L. D., Hai, F. I., Zhang, J., Liang, S., Wang, X. C. (2014). A review on the occurrence of micropollutants in the aquatic environment and their fate and removal during wastewater treatment. *Science of the Total Environment*, 473, 619-641.
- Margot, J., Kienle, C., Magnet, A., Weil, M., Rossi, L., De Alencastro, L. F., Abegglen, C., Thonney, D., Chèvre, N., Schärer, M. (2013). Treatment of micropollutants in municipal wastewater: ozone or powdered activated carbon? *Science of the Total Environment*, 461, 480-498.
- Margot, J., Rossi, L., Barry, D. A., & Holliger, C. (2015). A review of the fate of micropollutants in wastewater treatment plants. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Water*, 2(5), 457-487.
- Mascolo, G., Balest, L., Cassano, D., Laera, G., Lopez, A., Pollice, A., & Salerno, C. (2010). Biodegradability of pharmaceutical industrial wastewater and formation of recalcitrant organic compounds during aerobic biological treatment. *Bioresource Technology*, 101(8), 2585-2591.

McClellan, K., & Perry, C. M. (2001). Oseltamivir. Drugs, 61(2), 263-283.

- McCurry, D. L., Bear, S. E., Bae, J., Sedlak, D. L., McCarty, P. L., & Mitch, W. A. (2014). Superior removal of disinfection byproduct precursors and pharmaceuticals from wastewater in a staged anaerobic fluidized membrane bioreactor compared to activated sludge. *Environmental Science & Technology Letters*, 1(11), 459-464.
- Mekic, M., Loisel, G., Zhou, W., Jiang, B., Vione, D., & Gligorovski, S. (2018). Ionic-strength effects on the reactive uptake of ozone on aqueous pyruvic acid: Implications for air–sea ozone deposition. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *52*(21), 12306-12315.
- Mestankova, H., Schirmer, K., Escher, B. I., von Gunten, U., & Canonica, S. (2012). Removal of the antiviral agent oseltamivir and its biological activity by oxidative processes. *Environmental Pollution*, *161*, 30-35.
- Mhuka, V., Dube, S., & Nindi, M. M. (2020). Occurrence of pharmaceutical and personal care products (PPCPs) in wastewater and receiving waters in South Africa using LC-Orbitrap[™] MS. *Emerging Contaminants*, 6, 250-258.
- Miklos, D. B., Remy, C., Jekel, M., Linden, K. G., Drewes, J. E., & Hübner, U. (2018). Evaluation of advanced oxidation processes for water and wastewater treatment–A critical review. *Water Research*, *139*, 118-131.

- Mirochnick, M., Clarke, D. F., & Dorenbaum, A. (2000). Nevirapine. *Clinical Pharmacokinetics*, *39*(4), 281-293.
- Mistry, N., Shapero, J., & Crawford, R. I. (2009). A review of adverse cutaneous drug reactions resulting from the use of interferon and ribavirin. *Canadian Journal of Gastroenterology*, 23(10), 677-683.
- Mlunguza, N. Y., Ncube, S., Mahlambi, P. N., Chimuka, L., & Madikizela, L. M. (2020). Determination of selected antiretroviral drugs in wastewater, surface water and aquatic plants using hollow fibre liquid phase microextraction and liquid chromatographytandem mass spectrometry. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 382, 121067.
- Moscona, A. (2005). Neuraminidase inhibitors for influenza. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *353*(13), 1363-1373.
- Mosekiemang, T. T., Stander, M. A., & de Villiers, A. (2019). Simultaneous quantification of commonly prescribed antiretroviral drugs and their selected metabolites in aqueous environmental samples by direct injection and solid phase extraction liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. *Chemosphere*, *220*, 983-992.
- Murphy, R. L., & Montaner, J. (1996). Drug Evaluations Anti-infectives: Nevirapine: A review of its development, pharmacological profile and potential for clinical use. *Expert Opinion on Investigational Drugs*, 5(9), 1183-1199.
- Nannou, C., Ofrydopoulou, A., Evgenidou, E., Heath, D., Heath, E., & Lambropoulou, D. (2020). Antiviral drugs in aquatic environment and wastewater treatment plants: A review on occurrence, fate, removal and ecotoxicity. *Science of The Total Environment*, 699, 134322.
- National Center for Biotechnology Information (2021). PubChem Compound Summary for CID 3652, Hydroxychloroquine. Retrieved July 30, 2021 from <u>https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/Hydroxychloroquine</u>.
- Neff, J. M. (1984). Bioaccumulation of organic micropollutants from sediments and suspended particulates by aquatic animals. *Fresenius' Zeitschrift für Analytische Chemie*, 319(2), 132-136.
- Ngumba, E., Gachanja, A., Nyirenda, J., Maldonado, J., & Tuhkanen, T. (2020). Occurrence of antibiotics and antiretroviral drugs in source-separated urine, groundwater, surface water and wastewater in the peri-urban area of Chunga in Lusaka, Zambia. *Water SA*, 46(2), 278-284.
- Oliveira, M., Mesplede, T., Quashie, P. K., Moïsi, D., & Wainberg, M. A. (2014). Resistance mutations against dolutegravir in HIV integrase impair the emergence of resistance against reverse transcriptase inhibitors. *Aids*, *28*(6), 813-819.

- Organization, W. H. (2020). Latest HIV estimates and updates on HIV policies uptake, November 2020. In.
- Osunmakinde, C. S., Tshabalala, O. S., Dube, S., & Nindi, M. M. (2013). Verification and validation of analytical methods for testing the levels of PPHCPs (pharmaceutical & personal health care products) in treated drinking water and sewage: Report to the Water Research Commission. Water Research Commission Pretoria.
- Papageorgiou, A., Stylianou, S. K., Kaffes, P., Zouboulis, A. I., & Voutsa, D. (2017). Effects of ozonation pretreatment on natural organic matter and wastewater derived organic matter–Possible implications on the formation of ozonation byproducts. *Chemosphere*, 170, 33-40.
- Parienti, J.-J., Massari, V., Descamps, D., Vabret, A., Bouvet, E., Larouzé, B., & Verdon, R. (2004). Predictors of virologic failure and resistance in HIV-infected patients treated with nevirapine-or efavirenz-based antiretroviral therapy. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 38(9), 1311-1316.
- Park, J.-S., Choi, H., & Cho, J. (2004). Kinetic decomposition of ozone and para-chlorobenzoic acid (pCBA) during catalytic ozonation. *Water Research*, *38*(9), 2285-2292.
- Plantone, D., & Koudriavtseva, T. (2018). Current and future use of chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine in infectious, immune, neoplastic, and neurological diseases: a mini-review. *Clinical Drug Investigation*, 38(8), 653-671.
- Prasse, C., Schlüsener, M. P., Schulz, R., & Ternes, T. A. (2010). Antiviral drugs in wastewater and surface waters: a new pharmaceutical class of environmental relevance? *Environmental Science & Technology*, 44(5), 1728-1735.
- Prasse, C., Wagner, M., Schulz, R., & Ternes, T. A. (2011). Biotransformation of the antiviral drugs acyclovir and penciclovir in activated sludge treatment. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *45*(7), 2761-2769.
- Prasse, C., Wagner, M., Schulz, R., & Ternes, T. A. (2012). Oxidation of the antiviral drug acyclovir and its biodegradation product carboxy-acyclovir with ozone: kinetics and identification of oxidation products. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 46(4), 2169-2178.
- Quillardet, P., & Hofnung, M. (1993). The SOS chromotest: a review. *Mutation Research/Reviews in Genetic Toxicology*, 297(3), 235-279.
- Ranjit, P., Jhansi, V., & Reddy, K. V. (2021). Conventional Wastewater Treatment Processes. In Advances in the Domain of Environmental Biotechnology (pp. 455-479). Springer.

- Rao, G. S., & Nageswararao, G. (2010). Study of groundwater quality in Greater Visakhapatnam City, Andhra Pradesh (India). *Journal of Environmental Science & Engineering*, 52(2), 137-146.
- Rekhate, C. V., & Srivastava, J. (2020). Recent advances in ozone-based advanced oxidation processes for treatment of wastewater-A review. *Chemical Engineering Journal Advances*, 100031.
- Rice, R. G. (1996). Applications of ozone for industrial wastewater treatment—a review. *Ozone: Science & Engineering*, 18(6), 477-515.
- Robson, L., Barnhoorn, I., & Wagenaar, G. (2017). The potential effects of efavirenz on Oreochromis mossambicus after acute exposure. *Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology*, *56*, 225-232.
- Rubin, B. S. (2011). Bisphenol A: an endocrine disruptor with widespread exposure and multiple effects. *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, 127(1-2), 27-34.
- Russo, D., Siciliano, A., Guida, M., Galdiero, E., Amoresano, A., Andreozzi, R., Reis, N. M., Puma, G. L., Marotta, R. (2017). Photodegradation and ecotoxicology of acyclovir in water under UV254 and UV254/H2O2 processes. *Water Research*, 122, 591-602.
- Sackaria, M., & Elango, L. (2020). Organic micropollutants in groundwater of India—A review. *Water Environment Research*, 92(4), 504-523.
- Samaras, V. G., Stasinakis, A. S., Thomaidis, N. S., Mamais, D., & Lekkas, T. D. (2014). Fate of selected emerging micropollutants during mesophilic, thermophilic and temperature co-phased anaerobic digestion of sewage sludge. *Bioresource Technology*, 162, 365-372.
- Schlüter-Vorberg, L., Prasse, C., Ternes, T. A., Mückter, H., & Coors, A. (2015). Toxification by transformation in conventional and advanced wastewater treatment: the antiviral drug acyclovir. *Environmental Science & Technology Letters*, 2(12), 342-346.
- Schoeman, J. C., Moutloatse, G. P., Harms, A. C., Vreeken, R. J., Scherpbier, H. J., Van Leeuwen, L., Kuijpers, T. W., Reinecke, C. J., Berger, R., Hankemeier, T. (2017). Fetal Metabolic Stress Disrupts Immune Homeostasis and Induces Proinflammatory Responses in Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1–and Combination Antiretroviral Therapy–Exposed Infants. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*.
- Schwarz, H., & Dodson, R. (1984). Equilibrium between hydroxyl radicals and thallium (II) and the oxidation potential of hydroxyl (aq). *The Journal of Physical Chemistry*, 88(16), 3643-3647.

- Schwarzenbach, R. P., Escher, B. I., Fenner, K., Hofstetter, T. B., Johnson, C. A., Von Gunten, U., & Wehrli, B. (2006). The challenge of micropollutants in aquatic systems. *Science*, 313(5790), 1072-1077.
- Seow, T. W., Lim, C. K., Nor, M. H. M., Mubarak, M., Lam, C. Y., Yahya, A., & Ibrahim, Z. (2016). Review on wastewater treatment technologies. *Internation Journal of Applied Environmental Sciences*, 11(1), 111-126.
- Sheng, Y.-J., Liu, J.-Y., Tong, S.-W., Hu, H.-D., Zhang, D.-Z., Hu, P., & Ren, H. (2011). Lamivudine plus adefovir combination therapy versus entecavir monotherapy for lamivudine-resistant chronic hepatitis B: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Virology Journal*, 8(1), 1-10.
- Shubber, Z., Calmy, A., Andrieux-Meyer, I., Vitoria, M., Renaud-Thery, F., Shaffer, N., Hargreaves, S., Mills, E. J., Ford, N. (2013). Adverse events associated with nevirapine and efavirenz-based first-line antiretroviral therapy: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Aids*, 27(9), 1403-1412.
- Simazaki, D., Kubota, R., Suzuki, T., Akiba, M., Nishimura, T., & Kunikane, S. (2015). Occurrence of selected pharmaceuticals at drinking water purification plants in Japan and implications for human health. *Water Research*, *76*, 187-200.
- Singer, A. C., Nunn, M. A., Gould, E. A., & Johnson, A. C. (2007). Potential risks associated with the proposed widespread use of Tamiflu. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *115*(1), 102-106.
- Singer, H. P., Wössner, A. E., McArdell, C. S., & Fenner, K. (2016). Rapid screening for exposure to "non-target" pharmaceuticals from wastewater effluents by combining HRMS-based suspect screening and exposure modeling. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 50(13), 6698-6707.
- Soltermann, F., Abegglen, C., Gotz, C., & Von Gunten, U. (2016). Bromide sources and loads in Swiss surface waters and their relevance for bromate formation during wastewater ozonation. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *50*(18), 9825-9834.
- Sotelo, J. L., Beltrán, F. J., González, M., & Domínguez, J. (1989). Effect of high salt concentrations on ozone decomposition in water. *Journal of Environmental Science & Health Part A*, 24(7), 823-842.
- Stalter, D., Magdeburg, A., Weil, M., Knacker, T., & Oehlmann, J. (2010). Toxication or detoxication? In vivo toxicity assessment of ozonation as advanced wastewater treatment with the rainbow trout. *Water Research*, 44(2), 439-448.
- Stasinakis, A. (2008). Use of selected advanced oxidation processes (AOPs) for wastewater treatment–a mini review. *Global NEST Journal*, 10(3), 376-385.

- Straub, J. O. (2009). An environmental risk assessment for oseltamivir (Tamiflu®) for sewage works and surface waters under seasonal-influenza-and pandemic-use conditions. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 72(6), 1625-1634.
- Söderström, H., Järhult, J. D., Olsen, B., Lindberg, R. H., Tanaka, H., & Fick, J. (2009). Detection of the antiviral drug oseltamivir in aquatic environments. *PloS One*, 4(6), e6064.
- Takamami, R., Ozaki, H., Giri, R. R., Taniguchi, S., & Hayashi, S. (2012). Antiviral drugs zanamivir and oseltamivir found in wastewater and surface water in Osaka, Japan. Journal of Water and Environment Technology, 10(1), 57-68.
- Teklehaimanot, G. Z., Kamika, I., Coetzee, M. A., & Momba, M. (2015). Population growth and its impact on the design capacity and performance of the wastewater treatment plants in Sedibeng and Soshanguve, South Africa. *Environmental Management*, 56(4), 984-997.
- Ternes, T. A., Prasse, C., Eversloh, C. L. t., Knopp, G., Cornel, P., Schulte-Oehlmann, U., Schwartz, T., Alexander, J., Seitz, W., Coors, A. (2017). Integrated evaluation concept to assess the efficacy of advanced wastewater treatment processes for the elimination of micropollutants and pathogens. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 51(1), 308-319.
- Tong, H.-J., Reid, J. P., Bones, D. L., Luo, B. P., & Krieger, U. (2011). Measurements of the timescales for the mass transfer of water in glassy aerosol at low relative humidity and ambient temperature. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, 11(10), 4739-4754.
- Tong, S. Y., Dakh, F., Hurt, A. C., Deng, Y.-M., Freeman, K., Fagan, P. K., Barr, I. J., Giffard, P. M. (2011). Rapid detection of the H275Y oseltamivir resistance mutation in influenza A/H1N1 2009 by single base pair RT-PCR and high-resolution melting. *PLoS One*, 6(6), e21446.
- Treguer, R., Tatin, R., Couvert, A., Wolbert, D., & Tazi-Pain, A. (2010). Ozonation effect on natural organic matter adsorption and biodegradation–application to a membrane bioreactor containing activated carbon for drinking water production. *Water Research*, 44(3), 781-788.
- Tullu, M. (2009). Oseltamivir. Journal of Postgraduate Medicine, 55(3), 225.
- Vafaei, S., Razmi, M., Mansoori, M., Asadi-Lari, M., & Madjd, Z. (2019). Spotlight of Remdesivir in comparison with ribavirin, Favipiravir, Oseltamivir and Umifenovir in coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic. *Favipiravir, Oseltamivir and Umifenovir in Coronavirus Disease*.
- van Loosdregt, J., Spreafico, R., Rossetti, M., Prakken, B. J., Lotz, M., & Albani, S. (2013). Hydroxychloroquine preferentially induces apoptosis of CD45RO+ effector T cells by

inhibiting autophagy: a possible mechanism for therapeutic modulation of T cells. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 131(5), 1443-1446. e1441.

- Vanková, M. (2010). Biodegradability analysis of pharmaceuticals used in developing countries; screening with OxiTop C-110.
- Vatankhah, H., Riley, S. M., Murray, C., Quiñones, O., Steirer, K. X., Dickenson, E. R., & Bellona, C. (2019). Simultaneous ozone and granular activated carbon for advanced treatment of micropollutants in municipal wastewater effluent. *Chemosphere*, 234, 845-854.
- Virkutyte, J., & Varma, R. (2010). *Treatment of micropollutants in water and wastewater*. IWA Publishing.
- Vukkum, P., Deshpande, G. R., Babu, J. M., Muralikrishna, R., & Jagu, P. (2012). Stress degradation behavior of abacavir sulfate and development of a suitable stabilityindicating UHPLC method for the determination of abacavir, its related substances, and degradation products. *Scientia Pharmaceutica*, 80(4), 903-922.
- Wang, M., Cao, R., Zhang, L., Yang, X., Liu, J., Xu, M., Shi, Z., Hu, Z., Zhong, W., Xiao, G. (2020). Remdesivir and chloroquine effectively inhibit the recently emerged novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) in vitro. *Cell Research*, 30(3), 269-271.
- Wang, W.-L., Wu, Q.-Y., Wang, Z.-M., Hu, H.-Y., Negishi, N., & Torimura, M. (2015). Photocatalytic degradation of the antiviral drug Tamiflu by UV-A/TiO2: Kinetics and mechanisms. *Chemosphere*, 131, 41-47.
- Wang, Y., Zhou, C., Chen, J., Fu, Z., & Niu, J. (2019). Bicarbonate enhancing electrochemical degradation of antiviral drug lamivudine in aqueous solution. *Journal of Electroanalytical Chemistry*, 848, 113314.
- WWAP (UNESCO World Water Assessment Programme). 2019. The United Nations World Water Development Report 2019: Leaving No One Behind. Paris, UNESCO
- Webster, E., Mackay, D., & Wania, F. (1998). Evaluating environmental persistence. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry: An International Journal*, 17(11), 2148-2158.
- Whitley, R. J., & Gnann Jr, J. W. (1992). Acyclovir: a decade later. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 327(11), 782-789.
- Wood, T. P., Basson, A. E., Duvenage, C., & Rohwer, E. R. (2016). The chlorination behaviour and environmental fate of the antiretroviral drug nevirapine in South African surface water. *Water Research*, *104*, 349-360.

- Wood, T. P., Du Preez, C., Steenkamp, A., Duvenage, C., & Rohwer, E. R. (2017). Databasedriven screening of South African surface water and the targeted detection of pharmaceuticals using liquid chromatography-High resolution mass spectrometry. *Environmental Pollution*, 230, 453-462.
- Wood, T. P., Duvenage, C. S., & Rohwer, E. (2015). The occurrence of anti-retroviral compounds used for HIV treatment in South African surface water. *Environmental Pollution*, 199, 235-243.
- Wooding, M., Rohwer, E. R., & Naudé, Y. (2017). Determination of endocrine disrupting chemicals and antiretroviral compounds in surface water: a disposable sorptive sampler with comprehensive gas chromatography–time-of-flight mass spectrometry and large volume injection with ultra-high performance liquid chromatography–tandem mass spectrometry. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 1496, 122-132.
- World Health Organization. (2019). *Progress report on HIV, viral hepatitis and sexually transmitted infections, 2019: annex 1: key data at a glance* (No. WHO/CDS/HIV/19.22). World Health Organization.
- Wu, Q.-Y., Li, Y., Hu, H.-Y., Sun, Y.-X., & Zhao, F.-Y. (2010). Reduced effect of bromide on the genotoxicity in secondary effluent of a municipal wastewater treatment plant during chlorination. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 44(13), 4924-4929.
- Wu, Q.-Y., Zhou, Y.-T., Li, W., Zhang, X., Du, Y., & Hu, H.-Y. (2019). Underestimated risk from ozonation of wastewater containing bromide: Both organic byproducts and bromate contributed to the toxicity increase. *Water Research*, 162, 43-52.
- Yoo, R., Kim, J., McCarty, P. L., & Bae, J. (2012). Anaerobic treatment of municipal wastewater with a staged anaerobic fluidized membrane bioreactor (SAF-MBR) system. *Bioresource Technology*, 120, 133-139.
- Zeng, X., Twardowska, I., Wei, S., Sun, L., Wang, J., Zhu, J., & Cai, J. (2015). Removal of trace metals and improvement of dredged sediment dewaterability by bioleaching combined with Fenton-like reaction. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 288, 51-59.
- Zeng, Y.-M., Xu, X.-L., He, X.-Q., Tang, S.-Q., Li, Y., Huang, Y.-Q., Harypursat, V., Chen, Y.-K. (2020). Comparative effectiveness and safety of ribavirin plus interferon-alpha, lopinavir/ritonavir plus interferon-alpha, and ribavirin plus lopinavir/ritonavir plus interferon-alpha in patients with mild to moderate novel coronavirus disease 2019: study protocol. *Chinese Medical Journal*, 133(9), 1132.
- Zhang, F., Ge, Z., Grimaud, J., Hurst, J., & He, Z. (2013). Long-term performance of liter-scale microbial fuel cells treating primary effluent installed in a municipal wastewater treatment facility. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 47(9), 4941-4948.

Zhou, C., Wang, Y., Chen, J., Xu, L., Huang, H., & Niu, J. (2019). High-efficiency electrochemical degradation of antiviral drug abacavir using a penetration flux porous Ti/SnO2–Sb anode. *Chemosphere*, 225, 304-310.

Appendix

Supplementary Figures



Figure A.1 Absorbance spectra of oseltamivir phosphate





Figure A.2 Mass spectrometry calibration curves for oseltamivir phosphate at multiple pH values.



Figure A.3 Plot of pseudo first-order rate constant against ozone concentration ti determine of second-order rate constant.

Table A.1 95% confidence unpaired t-test results of matrix effects for mean differences (Mean: average first order rate constant. S.D.: standard deviation of rate constant, N: number of samples run, P-Value: Probability the difference is by chance, C.I.: 95% confidence interval).

| | No Matrix | NaCl | KC1 | NaNO ₃ | NaBr | Na ₂ SO ₄ | CaCl ₂ | MgCl ₂ | NH ₄ Cl |
|---------|-----------|-------------------------|----------------------|------------------------|------------------------|---------------------------------|----------------------|------------------------|------------------------|
| Mean | 0.0835 | 0.0747 | 0.0686 | 0.0819 | 0.0853 | 0.0775 | 0.0655 | 0.0658 | 0.0672 |
| S.D. | 0.0093 | 0.00112 | 0.0059 | 0.00996 | 0.00653 | 0.00046 | 0.0086 | 0.00728 | 0.00442 |
| Ν | 3 | 3 | 3 | 3 | 3 | 3 | 3 | 3 | 3 |
| P-Value | N/A | 0.179 | 0.0791 | 0.849 | 0.797 | 0.327 | 0.0696 | 0.0603 | 0.0518 |
| C.I. | N/A | 0062154 to 0.0238154 | 002755 to .032555 | 0202436 to .0234436 | 0200156 to .0164156 | 0089260 to .020926 | 002305 to .038305 | 0012320 to .0366320 | 0002058 to .0328058 |

| Groups | Count | Sum | Average | Variance | | |
|---------------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|
| No Matrix | 3 | -0.2547172 | -0.08490573 | 1.35054E-05 | | |
| NaCl | 3 | -0.20498857 | -0.06832952 | 1.24123E-05 | | |
| KC1 | 3 | -0.20724636 | -0.06908212 | 2.76333E-05 | | |
| NaNO ₃ | 3 | -0.24749697 | -0.08249899 | 1.02104E-05 | | |
| NaBr | 3 | -0.25542897 | -0.08514299 | 2.77726E-05 | | |
| Na_2SO_4 | 3 | -0.23272093 | -0.07757364 | 3.21629E-06 | | |
| CaCl ₂ | 3 | -0.19982281 | -0.0666076 | 3.50209E-05 | | |
| MgCl ₂ | 3 | -0.20356575 | -0.06785525 | 4.51414E-05 | | |
| NH ₄ Cl | 3 | -0.19995886 | -0.06665295 | 1.52638E-05 | | |
| ANOVA | | | | | | |
| Source of Variation | SS | df | MS | F | P-value | F crit |
| Between Groups | 0.00159015 | 8 | 0.000198769 | 9.406619318 | 4.62253E-05 | 2.510157895 |
| Within Groups | 0.000380353 | 18 | 2.11307E-05 | | | |
| Total | 0.001970503 | 26 | | | | |

Table A.2 Single Factor ANOVA analysis of ion species effects on degradation of oseltamivir phosphate

SUMMARY

Table A.3 Ionic strength calculations for solutions used in experiments to determine matrix effects.

| | Conc. (mM) | Ion 1 Count | Ion 1 Charge | Ion 2 Count | Ion 2 Charge | Ionic Strength (mM) |
|---------------------------------|------------|-------------|-----------------|----------------|--------------|---------------------|
| Na ₂ SO ₄ | 1.04 | 2 | 1 | 1 | 2 | 6.24 |
| NaBr | 0.025 | 1 | 1 | 1 | 1 | 0.05 |
| NaNO ₃ | 0.036 | 1 | 1 | 1 | 1 | 0.072 |
| KCl | 7.05 | 1 | 1 | 1 | 1 | 14.1 |
| NaCl | 7.05 | 1 | 1 | 1 | 1 | 14.1 |
| $CaCl_2$ | 3.525 | 1 | 2 | 2 | 1 | 21.15 |
| MgCl ₂ | 3.525 | 1 | 2 | 2 | 1 | 21.15 |
| NH ₄ Cl | 7.05 | 1 | 1 | 1 | 1 | 14.1 |



Figure A.4 Mass chromatograms for timed ozonation samples of oseltamivir phosphate.